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Transforming delivery

We are in the business of transforming the
delivery of services for buildings and infrastructure.
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Underying profit before tax(" Undertying earnings per share® Total dividend
2010 £188 1m 2010 394p 2010 155p

+13%

Reported profit before tax

+9%

Reported earnings per share

+9%

Net (borrowing)/cash

£142.8m

32.0p

£(50.7)m

2010 £167 9m

2010 36 9p

2010 £120 2m

-15%

Total revenue

-13%

Order book plus probable orders

-142%

Pipeline of contract opportunities

£5.1bn

£19.1bn

£33.1bn

2010 £5 1bn

2010 £19 1bn

2010 £257bn

n/a

Strong financial performance

— Revenue unchanged, with the increase
due to the acquisitton of Canllion Energy
Services {CES) offset by the planned re-scaling
of UK construction

- Strong growth in underying profit before
taxation and underlying earnings per share
{eps) reflected a substantial increase in total
underlying operating margin® from 4 2%
10d47%

- Reported profit before taxation and basic eps
mncludes a total of £47 5m of one-off costs
relating to the acquisition and integration
of CES

- Proposed full-year dwvidend up 9%, reflecting
a strong performance and positive outlook

(1

non-recurring operating items and non-operaung ems

n/a

Strong balance sheet

~ Strong cash flow from operations of
£230 3m was equal to 107% of profrt
from operations

~Net debt of £50 7m was substantially
better than expectations

~ New revolving credit faclity of £737 5m
t0 2016 and £100 O0m 7 to 10 year private
placement financing

After loint Ventures taxation charge of £3 5 mullon (2010 £4 7 millon) and before mtangible amartisation

{2) Before intangible amortsaton non recurning operating items and nan-cperating items
(3) Before Joint Ventures net financial expense and taxaton tarigible amortisation and nen-recurning operatng items
{4) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable orders which exclude vaziable work and re-bids

+29%

Good revenue wvistbility and record
pipeline of contract opportunities
= 2012 revenue visibility*® of 77%
{2010 82% for 2011)
- Order book plus probable orders of
£19 1bn (2010 £19 1bn) remains very strong
- Pipeline of contract opportunities up 29%
to £33bn, includes major public sector
outsouraing opportunities
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Our capabilities

An integrated UK support services

and international business

Support
services

Group overview

20m 2010
fm £m

Revenue

- Group 4,153 2 4,2365

- Share of Joint Ventures 898 0 9025

50512 -2% 51350

Underlying operating profit

- Group 176 7 1579

— Share of Joint Ventures 710 646

2477 2225

Group eliminations and unallocated items (9 5) 90)
Profit from operations before Joint Ventures' net finanoal
expense and taxation 238 2 2135
Share of Joint Ventures' net financial expense {18 8) (13 9)
Share of Joint Ventures' taxation (3 5) a7
Underlying profit frorm operations 2159 +11% 1949
Group interest (3 9) {6 8)
Underlying profit before taxation™ 2120 +13% 1881
Intangible amortisation {31 0) (27 6)
Non-recurring operating items (42 8) (9 4)
Non-operating items 46 168
Reported profit before taxation 1428 -15% 1679

(1) After foint Ventures taxation of £3 5 millien (2010 £4 7 milhon)
and hefore iIntangible amortisation non recurnng operating
items and non-operating items

{2) Ansing from business combinations

In this segment we report the results of our
faclites management, facilities services
energy services rait services, utility services,
road mantenance and consultancy
businesses

Underlying operating profit

£120.8m

2010 £110 4m

Order book plus probable orders

£12.9bn

Revenue

Em 2011 2010
Group 21198 1,842 1
Share of

Joint Ventures 2254 266 5
Total 2,3452 +11% 2,1086

Underlying operating profit

£m 20m 2010
Group 1057 923
Share of

Joint Ventures 151 181
Total 1208 +9% 1104

Reported operating profit

£m 201 2010
Group 390 721
Share of

Joint Ventures 151 181
Total 541 -40% 902

Go to pages 06 and 26 for
more information



Public Private
Partnership projects

Middle East
construction services
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Construction services
(excluding the Middle East)

In this segment we report the resuits of

our investing activities in Public Private
Partnership projects in our chosen sectors of
defence, health, education, transport secure
and other Government accommodation

Underlyting operating profit

In this segment we report the results of our
building and civil engineening activities in the
Middle East

Underlying operating profit

In this segment we report the results of
our UK butlding, avit engineenng and
developments businesses and of our
construction actwibies in Canada

Underlying operating profit

£19.9m

£49.1m

£57.9m

2010 £23 4m

2010 £47 Sm

2010 £412m

Crder book plus probable orders

Order book plus probable orders

Order book plus probable orders

£2.8bn

£1.0bn

£2.4bn

Revenue Revenue Revenue

£m 201 2010 £m 201 2010 £m 201 2010

Group 12 12 Group 2189 1909 Group 1,813 3 22023

Share of Share of Share of

loint Ventures 3086 3107 Joint Ventures 3300 3021 Joint Ventures 340 232

Total 3098 1% 3119 Total 5489 +11% 4930 Total 1.8473 -17% 2,2255

Underlying operating profit Underlying operating profit Underlying operating profit

£m 2011 2010 £m 2011 2010 £m 2011 2010

Group 27 107 Group 139 140 Group 544 409

Share of Share of Share of

loint Ventures 17 2 127 Joint Ventures 352 335 Joint Ventures 35 03

Total 199 -15% 234 Total 491 +3% 475 Total 579 +41% 412

Reported operating profit Reported operating profit Reported operating profit

£m 2011 2010 £m 2011 2010 £m 2011 2010

Group 27 107 Group 139 140 Group 473 270

Share of Share of Share of

Joint Ventures 172 127 Joint Ventures 352 335 Joint Ventures 3.5 03

Total 199 -15% 234 Total 491 +3% 47 5 Total 50 8 +86% 273
Go to pages 12 and 29 for

Go 1o pages 08 and 27 for
maore information

Go 10 pages 10 and 28 for
more nfarmation

more infarmaton
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Our operations

Transforming delivery in
the UK and internationally

Carillion has an annual
revenue of over £5 billion,
employs around 45,000
people and operates across
the UK, in the Middle East

and North Africa and Canada.

{1} Includes £43 6 million {2010 £79 7 million) of revenue generated outside of the UK
Middle East and North Afnica and Canada

UK

Operations

Support services

Public Private Partnership projects

Construction services

Market sectors

— We prowvide al! the facilities management maintenance and
other services needed to keep buldings, in particutar large,
complex property estates, fully operational for public and
private sector customers

— Energy efficency services for domestic, commercial and public
sector custormers

— We provide asset management and matntenance services
for road and rallway infrastructure and for utilities, including
telecommunications, water, electncity and gas

— We deliver Public Private Partnership (PPP} projects for schools,
hospitals prisons defence and other Government accommodation,
and also for roads and railways

— We have a strong and selective canstruction services capability
which plays a key role in providing integrated solutions for PPP
projects and for our support services customers

Revenue®™

£3,707.6m

2010 £3,9250m

Percentage of revenue

73%

2010 76%
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Middle East and North Africa

Canada

Operations

Operations

Support services

Support services

Construction services

Public Private Partnership projects

Construction services

1 Egypt
2 Qatar
3 United Arab Emirates
4 Oman

1 Ontarnio
2 Alberta
3 British Columbia

Market sectors

Market sectors

— We have around 40 years’ experience of operating in this region,
where we have well-established Joint Venture businesses in the United
Arab Emirates Oman and Egypt, providing construction services for
buildings and infrastructure

— These businesses have market-leading reputations for delivenng
high-quality projects for a small number of fong-term, finangally
robust customers

—1In 2011 we extended our operations into Qatar where we are building
our first major project

— We also have a Joint Venture business that provides facilities
management services

— We have operated in Canada for around 50 years, delivering a wide
range of constructron services for public and private sector customers

— An increasing proportion of our construction work i Canada relates
to Public Private Partnership {PPP) projects, for which Cartlion has
built a market-leading reputation, especially in the heafth sector

— We have also established leading positions in the road maintenance
markets of Ontano and Alberta, where we have long-term
contracts to manage and mamtain substantial lengths of the
provincial highway network

— We provide facilities management and maintenance services for
our PPP hospitals

£561.3m £/782.3m

Percentage of revenue

1%

2010 10%

Percentage of revenue

16%

2010 14%

{2) Includes £71 millkon (2010 £23 3 mulhon}
of eg n the Canbb

ABOUT US
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Qur capabilities
Support services

Transforming delivery...

We are one of the UK's largest support
services companies providing all the
services needed to manage, maintain
and operate buildings and infrastructure,
notably for large property estates and for
transport and utility services networks

Having the ability to combine our extensive suppart services capabilities
to provide customers with fully integrated, nationwide solutions 1s a key
strength that helps to differentiate Canllion frem our competitors Itis
also fundamental to our success in defivering Public Private Partnership
(PPP) projects

Energy services

The acquisition of Carilhon Energy Services (CES ~ formerly Eaga plc) in
Apnl 2011, extended our support services offening to mdude energy
efficency services Rising energy costs and Government legslation to
reduce carbon ermissions have made energy services an increasingly
important part of the integrated solutions we provide The acquisition
of CES has also taken the Group into new growth markets for energy
services, namely for private housing and for Local Authonty and Social
Landlord housing

The long-term support services contracts we have — some of them for
rmore than 30 years — provide good wisibility of future revenues and
make a major contribution to the resilience of our business mix

Property

We prowvide an extensive range of support services for property, notably
integrated facliies management solutions for public and private sector
custamers with large, complex property estates We have strong posttions
in a nurmnber of market sectors, particularly for customers in the financial
services commeraal utlities, media and telecommunications sectors

Underlying operating profit"

£120.8m

2010 £1104m

Percentage of total underlying operating profit™

49%

2010 50%

{1} Before Group eliminations and unallocated items
ntangible amorusation non-recurring operating
tems and share of Joint Ventures net financial
expense and taxation

In the UK public sector, we are a major supplier of integrated facliies
management services to central and local government, notably in the
defence, heath, education and general office accommadation sectors

In Canada, we have a growing business, driven by our success in winning
PPP projects, especially in the health sector, for which we provide facilities
management services

Infrastructure

We have long-term asset management and maintenance contracts for
roads railways and public utility services networks In the UK, we provide
Integrated management and maintenance services for motorways and
trunk roads for the Highways Agency and also for local road networks on
behalt of Local Highway Authonties In Canada we have leading positions
in the Cntano and Alberta road maintenance markets In the raif sector
our main customers are Network Rail and Transport for London

We provide a wide range of asset management and maintenance services
1o the telecommunications, water, gas and electnicity supply industries

We also have in-house engineening and architectural design and project
management capabilities which play an important role in supporting the
delivery of integrated solutions for buildings and infrastructure, notably for
PPP projects




Canltion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2011

..through innovative, value for money solutions

07

1 In 2011, Canllion extended i1ts contract to provide faclities management
services for the Nationwide Building Society’'s administration estate to include
the Society's 800 retail branches in the UK As a result of acquiring CES, we were
also able to extend the scope of the services we provide to include energy
management and effictency, one feature of which 1s the installation of a 50kW
solar photovoltaic system to generate electricity to power the Society’s head
office This is just one of many examples where we are extending the scope

of our faalities management contracts to include energy management and
effictency services, in response to increasing demand from our commercial

and non-domestic customers

2 In 2011, Carnilbon renewed 1ts contract to provide faclities management
services for Virgin Media's UK national estate This reflected the successful
partnership between Canllion and Virgin Media through which service provision
has been transformed by focusing on improving both the efficiency of service
delivery as well as a high-quality customer expenence Reducing Virgin Media’s
energy consumption Is also an important element of the services being provided
by Canllion

ABOUT US
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Our capabilities

Public Private Partnerships projects

Transforming delivery...

We are a leader in Public Private
Partnership (PPP) projects, both in
the UK and in Canada PPP projects
use private sector finance to deliver
a wide range of asset-based services
for central and local Government

Our success 1s based on our ability to combine our expertise in private
finance with our support services and construction capabibties to win
and delver fully integrated solutions for PPP projects, in which we invest
equity and for which we secure construction contracts and long-term
support services contracts

Once the construction phase 1s complete and projects have moved
successfully into the operational phase, we have the option of selling
our eguity investments and reinvesting the proceeds in new projects

Health

In the UK, we are currently delivering our fifteenth PPP healthcare facility,
the new Southmead Hospital in Bristol We secured support services
contracts for 12 of these facilitres, making Canillton a leading suppher

of non-chinical services to the National Heath Service

Defence

Carillion has three major PPP defence projects for the UK Ministry of
Defence The largest of these 1s Allenby Connaught, a 35-year concession
contract that commenced in 2006 to rebuild Army accommodation across
the South of England and to provide support services for the estate over
the life of the concession

Underlying operating profiti"

£19.9m

2010 £23 4m

Percentage of total underlying operating profitt"

8%

2010 10%

{1) Before Group eliminatiens and unallocated items
intangible amartisation non-recurnng operating
1terns and share of Joint Ventures nat financial
expense and taxation

Secure accommodation

In the UK, we have delivered four prisons and secure training centres and
sold our equity investments in all of these projects Canllion also built the
landmark Government Communications Headquarters at Cheltenham,
one of the largest, technically complex and secure accommodation PPP
projects to be delivered in the UK to date

Education

We have built a strong track record in the education sector where we
have delivered, or are in the process of delivering, around 160 new
schools and academies Some 50 of these schools and academies
have been funded by private finance and include the provision of
support services

Roads

We have delivered a total of six PPP road projects, two of which included
long-term management and maintenance services that remain in our
support services portfolio

Canada

Canada also uses private finance to delver public buldings and
infrastructure This i1s known as the Alternative Finanang Procurement
{AFP) mode! and 1s similar to the PPP procurement mode! used in the UK

Carillion 1s a leader in the AFP market especially in the health sector,
having delivered two of the first hospitals in Canada - the Royal Ottawa
and the new Willam Osler Hospital in Brampton, Ontario, for which we
also have long-term facilites management contracts Currently we have
a further five AFP projects under construction in Ontano, induding four
major haspitals for which we will also prowide long-term support services
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1 In 2011, a Carillion joint venture — Hospital Infrastructure Partners — was
awarded a £1 7 billion, 30-year contract to finance, design, build and operate
the new Oakville Hospital in Ontario, Canada, using the Alternative Financing
Procurement (AFP) model, which is similar to the UK’s Public Private Partnership

mode] Oakwville Hospstal ts Canllion’s sixth AFP hospital in Canada We will invest

£28 million of equity in this project, as well as delivering construction, faclities
management and hife-cycle maintenance services over the 34-year life of the
contract The new hospital has been designed to meet high standards of
sustainability, a key strength that helps to differentiate Canllion from its
competitors

2 The new Southmead Hospital in Bristol 1s being delivered as a Public Private
Partnershtp project. In addition to finanang and building the new hospital, at
a capital cost of some £430 million, Canllion will invest £48 7 million of equity
n this project and provide faclities management and life-cycle maintenance
services over the 30-year life of the contract The new state-of-the-art 800-bed
hosprtal will also be the most sustainable major acute hosptal n the UK, with
low energy utiisation and a carbon footprint below the Government target

ABOUT US
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Our capabilities

Middle East construction services

Transforming delivery...

We have around 40 years’ experience

in the Middle East and delivered some
of the region’s most prestigious buildings
and infrastructure projects

In the Middle East, we have built strong relatienships with a small number
of high-guality, financially robust custorners wath long-term investrment
programmes for whom quality and value for money are paramount

This strategy has enabled us to deliver a consistently strong financial
performance In the region

Abu Dhabi

Since extending the operations of Al Futtaim Carillion to Abu Dhabi

in 2008, our business there has grown substantially and in 2011 1t
contributed 43 per cent of our total Middle East construction services
revenue Since completing our first project In Abu Dhabi in 2009, the
prestigious 500-bedroom Yas Hotel that forms the centrepiece of Abu
Dhabi’s Formula 1 Grand Prix arcuit, we have won a series of further
major projects These include Stage 3 of the UAE University which we
completed in 2011, a new headquarters for the Abu Dhabi Investment
Authority and the Al Muneera development, both of which are nearnng
completton, and New York University on which we continue to make
good progress

Oman

Qur business in Oman Carilhion Alaw, has a long history of delivering
high-profile projects to exacting standards induding the Guest Palace
Qas’r Al Alam the Grand Mosque and the Royal Opera House, which was
completed in 2011 Current projects include the Malis, a new parbament
bullding the National Museum and an extension to Muscat Awport, which
involves the construction of a new control tawer and ancillary facilibes

In 2011, Canllion Alawi continued to grow and contributed some 30 per
cent of our total construction services revenue in the Middle East

Underlying operating profit™®

£49.1m

2010 £47 5Sm

Percentage of total underlying operating profit"

20%

2010 21%

{1) Before Group eliminations and unallocated iterns
intangible amortisation non recurring operating
items and share of Joint Ventures net financiaf
expense and taxation

Dubai

In Dubas Al Futtaim Canllion has an outstanding track record for
delivering high-quality projects, including Dubai Festival City, Motor City,
infrastructure for the Downtown Dubai development and infrastructure
for Duba) Alurminium  Activity levels in Dubai fell signeficantly as a result of
the global economic downturn, but have recently begun to recover slowly,
with Dubai contributing some 11 per cent of our Middle East consiruction
revenue In 2011 We continue to target new work selectively in Dubar and
in 2011 Al Futtaim Canllion wen a number of new contracts, the largest of
which was a £112 million contract to build the Al Jalila Children s Speciality
Hospital

Egypt

Al Futtaim Carillion extended its operations to Egypt in 2008 specifically to
build the £2 bilion Cairo Festival City development for our Joint Venture
partner, Al Futtaim In 2011, this project contributed 16 per cent of our
Middle East construction services revenue as work on the Cairo Festival
City development increased

Qatar

In 2011, we conunued to diversify geographically, winning our first
contract in Qatar — a £395 mullion contract for the Heart of Doha
Development for Msheireb Properties This contract which was won in
joint venture with Qatar Bulding Company, will generate some £316
milion of revenue for Canlion Qatar has major investment programmes
in a number of sectors where Carillion has strong capabilities, including
heritage, health, education and infrastructure, which offer substantial
prospects for growth
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1 In 2011, Canllion Alawi completed the magnificent Royal Opera House in
Muscat (also pictured on the front cover of this report), Oman, for the Oman
Royal Court Affairs Built at a capital cost of some £120 million, this state-of-
the-art concert and theatre facility seats 1,000 people and can accommodate the
full-range of performing arts, including music and drama as well as opera This
1s the first facibity of its kind in the Middle East and the outstanding quality of
the external and internal finishes, together with beautiful landscaping, make
the Royal Opera House one of the finest butldings in the world

2 The prestighous £550 millron Al Muneera project, which forms part of the

£10 billion Al Raha Beach development in Abu Dhaby, 1s being built by Al Futtaim
Canthion Al Muneera comprnises a 14-storey office development, 16 apartment
buildings of between 11 and 14 floors, 148 town houses and 11 willas.

ABOUT US
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Our capabilities

Construction services (excluding the Middle East)

Transforming delivery...

We have a strong and selective
construction capability in the UK
and in Canada, focused on large,
higher added-value contracts for
long-term customers

Having a strong constructton capability, which, together with our
capabihties in prvate finance, design, support services and sustanabiity,
enables us to offer fully integrated solutions for buildings and
infrastructure

This gives us a competitive advantage in optimising the whole-life cost of
providing maintaiving and operating assets such as schools, hospitals,
military accommodation prisons, roads and rallways - an essential
requirement for Public Private Partnership {PPP) projects

In the UK, we began re-scaling our construction business in 2010 through
being even more selective In respect of the contracts for which we bid
Qur abjective 15 1o increasingly base cur capabilities around delivering
integrated solutions for PPP projects and support services customers and
high-qualty added-value contracts for long-term customers As a result,
we expect to reduce cur UK construction revenue from its 20089 level

of £1 8 billion to around £1 2 billion in 2012 compared 10 15 current

level of £1 3 billion, and to reinforce our position as a leader in delivering
integrated solutions

In Canada our ability to defiver integrated solutions has helped us 1o
establish a leading posiien in delivering public sector bulldings and
infrastructure using the Alternative Finanang Procurement (AFP) model,
which is similar to the UK s Public Pnivate Partnership procurement model
We expect the new 10-year AFP investment pregramme to be a key driver
of growth over the medium term, supporting our objective of doubling
our revenue in Canada to around £1 billlon per annum

- _________

Underlying operating profit™"

£57.9m

2010 £412m

Percentage of total underying operating profiti"

23%

2010 19%

(1) Before Group eliminations and unallocated stems
intangible amortisation non recurnng operating
items and share of Joint Ventures net financial
expense and taxation

UK construction

A significant proportion of our UK construction revenue already comes
from PPP projects For example, currently we are building two major PPP
projects for the Ministry of Defence — Allenby Connaught, which involves
building and refurbishing Army accommaodation across the South of
England, and the Royal School of Military Engineenng We also continue
to be a leading supplier to the schools bulding programme which
includes some PPP projects, and ta the health sector We also provide
construction services for other long-term customers where quality,
delivery and our sector-leading sustainability credentials differentiate
our offenng

Our largest sectors of the UK infrastructure market are roads and railways
Our construction capabilibes in these sectors are also key to our success in
winning and delivering PPP projects long-term maintenance contracts for
roads and rarilways and contracts for the Highways Agency's ‘'managed
motorways programme

Canada

In Canada, where our business was established some 50 years ago, we
have strong construction capabilities both for buildings and infrastructure
‘We delivered two of the first privately financed hospitals to be built in
Canada, both of which are fully operational and for which Canllion has
long-term support services contracts We have since won four more AFP
hospital projects, together with an AFP contract o provide a new Forensic
Services and Coroners’ Complex in Toronto Carillion 1s also delivering
other high-profile construction projects, induding the £360 million
refurbishment and extension of Toronta's Urion Station
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1 In 2011, Canllion completed the International Broadcast Centre and Mam Press
Centre for the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games Located in the
Northwest corner of the Olympic Park, close to the community of Hackney Wick
in East London, the Centre will provide accommodation for 20,000 journalists
during the Games Sustainable construction was also a major feature of this
project For example, through processing and recycling waste we made a net
saving of 4,177 tonnes of carbon on the project, which exceeded the 3,479
tonnes of carbon produced by the energy used n ts construction

2 As the main contractor for the £157 million Library of Birmingham project,
Canilion 1s providing design and construction services to deliver one of the
finest libraries in the world for Birmingham City Counal Carillion is alse buillding
a new Birmingham Repertory Theatre as an integral part of this prestigious
development, which 15 making a major contribution to the regeneration of
Birmingham City Centre's Westside and Centenary Square

ABOUT US
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Chairman’s statement

Strong growth in underlying

profit and earnings

Philip Rogerson
Chairman

Carillion’s integrated UK support
services and international
business mix has once again
enabled the Group to perform
strongly, despite challenging
market conditions.

{1

=

After Jont Ventures taxation of £3 5 mithon (2010 £4 7 milion) and before intangible
amortisation non recurnng operating items and non-operating items

{2) Before intangible amortisation non-recurring operaung items and non-operaung items
{3) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable orders which exclude vanable
work and re-bids

Finanaal performance

Total revenue, including joint ventures remamned unchanged at £5 1 bilion,
primarily because the contribution from Canllion Energy Services (CES —
formerly Eaga plc} was offset by a reduction in UK construction revenue,
as we continued to make progress with the planned re-scaling of our UK
construction activities

Underying profit before tax™ increased by 13 per cent to £212 0 million
(2010 £188 1 million), with the Group’s underlying operating margin
increasing to 4 7 per cent 2010 4 2 per cent) which reflects our ongoing
focus on margins through applying strict contract selectivity cnitena and
strong cost management Underlying earnings per share® increased by
nine per cent to 43 0 pence (2010 39 4 pence)

Profit continues to be cash-backed, with underlying cash flow from
operations of £230 3 million (2010 £230 2 million} ahead of undertying
profit from operations of £215 9 mitlion (2010 £194 9 million) Net
barrowing at 31 December 2011 was £50 7 milllon {2010 net cash of
£120 2 million), significantly better than the target we set at the half-year
of reducing net debt to below £125 mullion by the year end following the
acquisiion of CES for £298 4 milion in Apnl 2011

Strategy

The Group continued Its strategic development with the acquisition of
CES, the largest independent energy efficiency services company in the
UK Carillion now has the in-house capabilities to meet the increasing
demand for energy efficiency services from existing and prospective
customers The acquisition has also taken the Group Into new energy
services markets, in which there are significant opportunities for growth
Progress with the integration of CES remains ahead of expectations
with integratron cost savings expected to reach a run rate of £25 million
per annum by the end of 2013, at a one-off cost of £40 million

Sustainability

In 2011, we launched our * 2020 Sustainability Strategy” with the
objective of beng recogrised as a leader in sustainability and the [eading
sustainable support services company Our ability 1o deliver sustainable
soluttons for customers 1s already a key differenttator for Canllion, helping
us to win work in the UK and nternationally Our 2020 Strategy forms

an integral part of our business plan to support our growth over the

next decade

Order book

The value of the Group's order book and probable orders at 31 December
2011 remained strong at £191 bilion (2010 £19 1 bilon), with the value
of orders and probable orders acquired with CES broadly offset by the
reduction resulting from the planned re-scaling of our UK construction
acuviies The Group continues to have good revenue visibility which

at 31 December 2011 was 77 per cent® for 2012 {2010 82 per cent

for 2011) In addition, at the year end the Group's pipeline of contract
opportunities had increased by 29 per cent to a record level of

£33 1 billion {2010 £25 7 billion), which continues to support our
targets for growth in 2012 and over the madium term

Dividend

The Board 1s recornmending a final ordinary dwvidend for 2011 of

11 6 pence per share making the total dwdend for 2011 16 9 pence per
share (2010 15 5 pence) This represents an increase of nine per cent on
the total paid in respect of 2010 in hine with the Group's policy of
increasing the dwidend in ine with earrungs growth
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Dividend - five year compound annual growth rate

13%
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Underlying earnings per share® - five year compound
annual growth rate

12%
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People

A strong management team and the skills, professionalism and
commitment of all our people continue to drive the Group's success and
on behalf of the Board | should like to thank all our employees for the
contributions they have made to Carillion's achievements in 2011

Board changes

On 31 December 2011, John McDonough retired from the Board

and from the Company, having served as Group Chief Executive since
January 2001 John has been succeeded as Group Chief Executive

by Richard Howson Richard has worked for Canllion for 16 years and
during that time he has successfully led our UK construction, Middle East
and Rail businesses and for the last two years he has been our Chief
Operating Officer

John McDonough joined the Board as Group Chief Executive in January
2001 and has made a major contnbution to Canllion’s success Under his
leadership, Carillion’s earmings and dvidends per share have broadly
trebled as the company has been transformed from being largely focused
on UK construction info an international support services company with
a strong, selective construction capability John's contribution to the UK
construction Industry was recently recogrused by the award of a CBE in
her Majesty the Queen’s 2011 Birthday Honours list John leaves the
Board and the company with our grateful thanks and very best wishes
for hus retirement

Phillp Green joined the Board as our Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director in June 2011 Philip brings extensive expenence to the Board
having previously served as Chief Executive of United Utilities Group plc
and of Royal P&Q Nedlloyd Dawvid Garman stepped down from the Board
n May 2011 Having joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director in
2004, David served as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director from
2005 and made a valuable contnibution to Canllion’s progress and success
Andrew Dougal joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director in October
2011 Andrew also bnings considerable expenence to the Board having
held a number of senior executive positions, Including Chief Executive

of Hanson plc unti} his retirement in 2002 Andrew has succeeded Dawvid
Maloney as chairman of the Audit Comrmittee, as Dawid has stepped down
from the Board having served as a Non-Executive Directar for six years,
dunng which time he made a significant contribution to Canllion's
development and success

Outlook and prospects

Gven the wider economic outlcok, we expect trading conditions to
remamn challenging In 2012 However, with a strong and resitient business,
good revenue visibility and a record pipelne of contract opportunities, we
continue to target growth In support services together with the doubling
of our revenues i the Middie East and in Canada, 1n each case to around
£1 billion, by 2015 Consequently, Canllion remains well-positioned to
deliver further growth in 2012 and beyond

Philip Rogerson
Chairman
29 February 2012
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Group Chief Executive’s review

Strong and resilient business

In this, my first annual review since becoming Group Chief
Executive on 1 January 2012, | should like to begin by saying
that it 1s a privilege to take over the leadership of a company
with such a strong track record that s also well-positioned
to build on 1ts success and ts targets for growth

Canllion’s ability to deliver strong cash-backed earnings and dividend
growth reflects the continuing success of our strategy in creating

a resihent and weli-balanced UK support services and international
business mix, with good positions in markets offering opportunities
for growth Hawving worked for Canllion for 16 years, most recently
as Chief Operating Officer, | have been closely involved in the
development and implementation of the Group's strategy, which

| believe will continue to dehiver sustainable profitable growth

A consistent and successful strategy
tmplementing our strategy for sustainable, profitable growth has

> created a resfient and well-balanced UK support services and
international business mix, through a combination of strong organic
growth and wansformational acquisitions

> delivered nine successive years of significant cash-backed earnings

Richard Howson and dividend growth

Group Chief Executive > created a strong balance sheet to support our strategy for growth

» positioned the Group to make further progress in 2012 and beyond by
- targeting growth in support services

Underying operating profit by reporting segment" - doubling our revenues in the Middle East and in Canada, tn each
case to around £1 billion, by 2015

- re-scaling UK construction to reduce rts revenue from the 2009 level

£2 47 of some £1 8 billion to around £1 2 bithon

. 7 I I I Importantly, our strategy 15 supported by commitments to being a
2010 £222 5m recognised leader in Health & Safety and sustainability, to behaving

in accordance with our core values and to strong operational and
financial nsk management

Construction services

(excluding the Middle East) Support services
£57 9m £120 8m
2010 £41 2m 2010 £9104m
Middie East Public Private
construction services Partnership projects
£49 1m £19 9m
2010 £47 5m 2010 £23 4m

(1) Before Group elirminations and unallocated items tntangible amorusation
non-recurring operating itemns and share of Joint Ventures net financial expense
and taxation
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A consistent and successful strategy for sustainable, profitable growth
> growing support services, Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects and our international businesses
')
[
> developing and marketing integrated solutions tallored to the needs of customers, including project g
finance, design and construction, maintenance and lifetime support services and asset management iz
. I
=

> maintaning a high-quality and selective construction capability, focused on higher added-value
contracts for long-term customers, especially the delivery of integrated solutions for PPP projects
and support services customers

Creating value
Through our integrated business model

Support Services

Sector leading facifities
management and energy services

Long-term contracts & good
visibility

Resilient revenue platform

Growth underpinned by public
sector outsourang
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PPP projects ] MANAGEMENT ] Construction
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Specialist skills give competitive 2 4 Strong engtneering capabilities
advantage In winning projects % Selectively focused on quality
Valuable equrty investments, % and delivery
recyded to generate cash and profit Rigorous risk management

Secures long-term support services el
& o Strong track record of good =
contracts "anee,.,ng & const™ quality earnings g
Secures good quality Positive cash flow dynamics w
construction —
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We have specifically developed our capabilities in support services, construcuon and project finance to create a strong and resiient business model g
focused on providing integrated solutions tatlored to the needs of our customers — from the prowsion of project finance, design and construction =

of buildings and infrastructure, through to hfettme management of these assets With strong management teams in each of our business units,
we are implementing this model in all the ternitontes in which we operate
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Group Chief Executive’s review

continued

Health & Safety and sustainability

We are committed to being a recogrused leader in Health & Safety and
sustainability because prowiding a safe working environment for all our
people is our first priority and because we have a responsibility and the
opportunity to create positive impacts on the environment and on the
commumties in which we operate Our performance in these areas (s
measured annually thraugh Key Performance Indicators (KPI) and our
performance in respect of these KPIs in 2011 1s reported in the table
on page 19

In 2011, we launched a new “2020 strategy” for sustainability which
forms an integral part of our business plans to support our objectives
for growth over the next decade Our new 2020 sustainability
strategy” 1s described in more detail on page 34 of this report

Our values
Our commitment to behaving 1n accordance with our six core values
n everything we do determines the culture of our business

opennass

collaboration

mutual dependency
professional delery
sustainable profitable growth
Innovation

VVVVVY

The acquisition of Carillon Energy Services (CES)

The acquisition of CES (formerly Eaga plc) in Aprl 2011 was an
rmportant strategic development, driven pnmarily by the need to
extend our suppert services capabilities to include energy efficiency
services These services are becoming an increasingly important part
of the integrated facilities management and maintenance solutions
required by our commercial and non-domestic customers, due
primarily to the nsing cost of energy and Government legislation to
reduce carbon emissions The acguisition of CES has also taken the
Group Into other new growth markets for energy services, namely
private housing and Locai Authority and Secial Landlord housing

The prospects for growth in our energy services markets have been
further enhanced by UK Government announcements regarding the
implementation of the Energy Act 2011 and in particular The Green
Deal and the Energy Company Obligation The Green Deal, which 15 1o
recewe an additional £200 million of Government funding 15 expected
to kick-start some £14 bilhon of investment in energy efficlency
measures over the next decade The Energy Company Obligation
which the Government s commutted to introduce in October 2012,

is expected to create a market worth some £1 3 billion a year, inmally
up to 2015, but the present Government intends to extend this penod
to 2020

The UK Government s decision to reduce Feed-in-Tanffs (FITs} for

solar photovoltaic systems (Solar PV) sooner and by far more than
expected, will imit growth i the Solar PV market But to put this

nto perspective, befare the UK Government announced this decision,
the total value of the UK Solar PV market was expected to be worth
between £800 million and £900 milhon per annum This represents
around six per cent of the total UK energy services market, which we
currently estimate to be worth some £15 bilhon per annum As a result
of the decision to reduce FiTs, we estimate that the UK Solar PV market
will reduce to around £400 million per annum or some three per cent
of the total UK energy services market

Overall, the integration of CES 1s welt ahead of expectations and we
are on track to deliver the previously announced increase in synergy
and restructurning cost savings from a run rate of £15 million per
annum to £25 million per annum by the end of 2013 at 5 one-off cost
of £40 million

A resilient and well-balanced business

In 2011, 57 per cent of underlying operating profit came from
lang-term contracts for support services and PPP projects,
which provide considerable resilience in the current challenging
econamic cdimate

The remaining 43 per cent of underlying operatung profit came from
construction services, which also generate resilient good guality
earnings as a result of our strategy of

> applying strict contract selectivity and rgorous nsk management
processes

> growing our international construction revenue, while reducing
UK construction revenue to anticipate the effect of a one-thwd
cutin Government capital spending on infrastructure over its
current four-year spending plan

In 2011 we made further good progress with re-scaling UK
construction by tightening our selectity criteria to base our UK
construction activities around the delivery of integrated solutions for
PPP projects and support services customers Consequently, we remain
on track to achieve our objective of reducing UK construction revenue
to around £1 2 billien by 2013

Our deusion to re-scale UX construction not only anticipated the
impact of cuts in Government caprtal investment, but is also helping
us 10 Improve margins, because we can avoid bidding for low margin
work at a tme when the UK constructron market 1s becoming
increasingly competitive

Nine successive years of significant, cash-backed earnings

and dividend growth

Delivering a rune per cent increase in underlying earnings and dividend
per share in 2011 extended our strong track record to a ninth successive
year of significant earnings and dividend growth, backed by strong
cash flow from operations Over the last five years, underlying earnings
per share and our full-year dividend have increased at compound
annual growth rates of 12 per cent and 13 per cent, respectively

A strong balance sheet

A strong focus on cash management and financial discipline has
resulted In the consistent delivery of cash-backed profit This has
supported our growth and enabled us to transform Carilion inta a
leading support services company notably through a combination of
strong organic growth and three major acquisitions, namely Mowlem
plc in 2006, Alfred McAlpine plc in 2008 and CES in 2011 These
acquisitions were funded in part by £528 million of borrowing, but
through strang cash generation the Group’s net borrowing at 31
December 2011 was only £50 7 million, which was considerably better
than expectattons This together with a committed syndicated bank
facility of £737 5 milon matunng in March 2016 and a £100 million
private placement arranged in August 2011, comprising a seven-year
£49 million loan and a 10-year £51 mullion loan gwves the Group an
extremely strong balance sheet to support our strategy for growth
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Key performance indicators
In 2010 the Group set eight Key Performance Indicators (KPI) for 2011
These are described below together with our achievements

To attract, develop and retain excellent people

Aftracting, developing and retaining excellent people continues to be our
top prionty as thus underpins every aspect of our performance Our ability
to deler the high-quality services our customers expect, which 1s vital to
Canllion’s reputation and profitability, depends on having excellent pegple
with the appropnate skills and commitment at every level throughout

the Group We therefore continue to invest in the development and
implementation of bespcke leadership, personal development and employee
engagement programmes, which are designed to enable all our people

to achieve their full potential We also believe that good commumication
with all our pecple to create a culture of openness and trust, is essential to
engaging and empowering them to contribute to the development of our
business We do this through managers and supervisors holding regular
one-to-one meetings with all their people, monthly Team Talks, our
award-winning company newspaper ‘Spectrum’ and internal newsletters

We monrtor and measure our progress through employee surveys,
notably ‘The Great Debate’, an annual interactive survey of people
selected randomly from across all our businesses In 2011 12 480 people
took partin The Great Debate’, the results of which showed that overall
the satisfaction of our people and the extent to which they feel valued and
proud to work for Canlhion, continued to improve

Be arecognised leader in Health & Safety and sustainability in the
sectors in which we operate

Our absolute commitrment to the Health & Safety of our people and of
everyone who works with us or 1s affected by our operations remains
paramount, together with our objective known as 'Target Zero’, of
ehminating all reportable acadents To achieve this challenging objective,
we continue to use a wide range of measures induding trainng  audits
Safety Action Groups, strong wisible leadership such as Directors’ Safety
Tours and employee engagement tools Our hazard reporung programme
‘Don't Walk By’ encourages our people to report for immediate action
anything they beheve to be unsafe In 2011, our Acaident Frequency Rate
(AFR) reduced to O 07 reportable acadents per 100,000 employee hours
worked (2010 0 10), with four out of five projecis achieving zero reportable
accidents during the year An AFR of 0 07 represents a sector-leading
performance Despite this further improvement in our overall safety
performance, we deeply regret that three fatal acaidents occurred at
Canllion work sites during 2011 An employee of a sub-contractor fell from
awndow opening after dimbing onto the guard-rail An employee of a
sub-contractor was struck by a steel beam as it was being lifted A Canflion
employee was struck by a glass panel that toppled over while it was being
unloaded from a container These accidents are all personal tragedies and
our thoughts are with the families and fnends of those who died

Dunng 2011, two prosecutions of Canllion compantes were completed

by the Health & Safety Executive One arose as a result of an acadent in
2004 that occurred in the M25 Holmesdale Tunnel where an employee of
a sub-contractor was {atally injured during roadworks as a result of being
struck by a vehide unconnected to the roadworks The other related to
an acadent on a Canllion Energy Services worksite prior to its acquisition
by Canllron, due 10 & failure to protect an opening in a floor during the
installation of central heating

Canlhion continues to be a leader In sustainability We retained our ‘Platinum’
ranking in Business in the Community’s Corporate Responsibiiity Index, in

which we also topped the support services sector we came 10th In the
Sunday Times list of Best Green Companies and fourth in our category for
large and medum-sized companies with high environmental impact We
also maintained our membership of the FTSE4Good Index Being a leader
in detvenng sustainable sofutions for our customers differentiates Cariilion
from its peers and helps us to win work In 2011, we launched our 2020
Sustainability Strategy to support our business plans and targets for growth
over the next decade More details about this and how we are becoming a
more sustainable business can be found in the sustainability sectton of this
report on page 34

Continuously improve customer satisfaction and brand reputation

Our performance agamnst this KPl which was introduced for the first tme
in 2010, 1s being measured by an independent annual survey of customer
perception The results of the 2011 survey showed that, while our average
customer perception scores across our businesses and market sectors
remained unchanged in 2011, it was ahead of the average for peer group
companies and well above a commeroally acceptable level

Grow revenue In support services

Support services revenue increased by 11 per cent as a result of the
acquisiion of CES in Apnt 2011 The revenue acquired with CES was
partially offset by the effects of demobiising certain contracts in 2010 and
by our contnuing focus on contract selectivity and finanaal disapline to
support margins

Grow annual revenues in Canada and in the Middle East consistent
with our objective of doubling each of them to around £1 billion
by 2015

in 2011, revenue in the Middle East increased by 11 per cent to

£561 3 million and revenue in Canada increased by 10 per cent to
£782 3 milhon Gwven the strength of our pipelines of contract
opporturities in the Middle East and m Canada, we remain confident
of achieving our target of doubling thewr annual revenues to arcund
£1 bilion by 2015

Continue to re-scale our UK construction capability consistent
with our objective of reducing annual revenue by one third
to around £1 2 bilhon

We have made further good progress with re-scaling our UK construction
actvibies, reduang their revenue to £1 3 billion in 2011 1 line wath this
objective, which we set n 2010 Re-scaling s being achieved by being very
selective in terms of the contracts for which we bid which has resufted in
significant improvements in operating margin and profit for UK construction

Continue to reduce costs and improve efficiency to support
margins and earnings growth

We continue to focus on cost management and efficency savings
across our business Our ongomg success 15 evident in the substantual
improvemnent we achteved in the Group’s total undertying eperating
margin, which increased from 4 2 per cent in 2010 10 4 7 per centin
2011, wath underlying earnings per share increasing by nine per cant

Generate cash-backed profit after adjusting for the strategic
re-scaling of our UK construction business

In 2011, we mamntained our strong track record of consistently delivering
cash-backed profit. Underlying cash flow from operations of £230 3 million
was equal to 107 per cent of underlying profit from operatians, without
adjusting for the effects of re-scaling UK Construction
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Group Chief Executive's review

continued

Operational risk management

Carillion has rigorous
operational risk management
policies and processes to
identify, mitigate and manage
strategic Group-wide risks and
risks specific to our individual
business units and contracts,
including economic, social,
environmental and ethical risks.

The Group Head of Risk is responsible for

> advising on strategic risks affecting the Group
> conducting iIndependent nisk appraisals of all projects prior to
them being subrmtted to the Major Prajects Committee, which
1s a committee of the Board with delegated authonty to sanction
major commitments and transactions, including capital expenditure,
major contracts and business acquisitions and disposals, up to
speatied fevels of risk, beyond which they are referred to the Board
> overseemng nsk training across the Group

Cur risk management processes are applied to every aspect of our
aperations, frem choosing the geographies In which we operate, our
market sectors and the contracts for which we bid to the selection of
our customers partners and suppliers We also apply them to every
stage of a contract from its mnception to completion, in order to deliver
value-for-money services for our custormners and the cash-backed profit
we expect

Risk

Continuing to win contracts consistent with our
target margins In markets that are more competitive

Managing our penston schemes to ensure that
scheme habilities are within a range approprnate to
our capital base

Managing our major contracts to ensure that they
are delivered on time, to budget and to the
reguired standards

Business integration and re-scaling, notably
of Carillion Energy Services and UK constructicn

Attracting, developing and retaining excellent people

Maintaning high standards of performance in
respect of security, Health & Safety and other
statutory requirements
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Identifying and assessing significant risk

Canlhion plc Board

— 1
Major Projects Commuttee Perfarmance Review Meetings -
Strategic Group-Wide Risks ! =
Group Risk Forum 5
! 2
Business Uit Risk Managers <T
!
Contract Risk Managers
|
Tenders for Mew Contracts Contract Performance Montorng
o
Potential impact Mitigation UDJ
=
Fallure to achieve targets for growth in revenue, > Continually seeking to differentiate our offering e
cash-backed profits and earnings by reviewing our competitive strategy and §

target markets
> ‘Lving’ our values and listening to our customers
in order to develop services that meet therr needs
> Focusing on our efficiency and cost reduction
programmes to remain competitive

An increase n llabiities that would reduce Carillion’s > The Group's main defined benefit pension w
net assets and adversely affect the market’s valuation schemes have heen closed to future accrual Y
of Carillion and its share price > Regular reviews of our investment polces to <

ensure that employee and company contributions, g

together with scheme benefits, remain appropriate o
Fallure to achieve the margins, profits and cash > Applying selectvity critena to ensure we take %
flows we expect from contracts and also damage on contracts only where we understand, and O
to Canllion’s brand reputation can manage, the rnisks involved

> Applying ngorous policies and processes to
monitor and manage contract performance

> Ensuning we have high-guality people
delivering projects

Falure to deliver the Group's strategic objectives, > Experienced and dedicated teams are in place W
adversely affecting rts financial performance to deliver integration and re-scaling g
> Progress is closely monitored and measured by =t
the Executive Directors =
=
Fallure to deliver high-guality services to our customers, > Developing and implementing leadership, 3
with consequent effects on profit, reputation and personal development and employee engagement
our ability to win new contracts and achieve our programmes that encourage and support all our
targets for growth people to achieve therr full potential
Adverse effects on the confidence and morale of our > Applying ngorous rnsk management processes
employees leading to mcreased employee turnover supported by robust business continuity plans
rates, foss of customer, suppher and partner > Anongoing commitment to ‘Target Zero', our v
confidence, and damage to Canlhon's brand programme {o ehminate reporiable acadents, Z
reputation, with consequent iImpacts on our ability including iImplementing management systems =
to win new contracts that conform to Occupational Health & Safety E
Assessment Systemn 18001 w
> Implementing thorough, mandatory staff 2
training programmes 1o support the delivery =
of our objectives and to ensure comphance with %

our statutory obhgations and company policies
in respect of ethics and values
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Order book plus probable orders

£19.1bn

2010 £19 1bn

Construction services
(excluding the Middle East)

f£2 4bn

2010 £3 2bn

Middle East

Support services

£12 9bn
2010 £12 2bn

construction services

£1 0bn
2010 £10bn

Public Private
Partnership projects

£2 8bn

2010 £2 7bn

Pipehne of contract opportunities

£33.1bn

2010 E£25 7bn

Construction services
{excluding the Middle East)

£8 4bn

2010 £7 7bn

Middle East
construction services

£11 4bn

2010 £8 8bn

Support services

£12 3bn

2010 £8 3bn

Public Private
Partnership projects

£1 Obn

2010 £0 9bn

(1) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable orders which exclude vanable

work and re-buds

Order book and probable orders

The Group maintained a strong forward order book plus probable

new orders which at 31 December 2011 was worth some £19 1 billion
(2010 £19 1 billion), where a “probable order” 1s defined as an order
that we believe we have a greater than 90 per cent chance of securing
Within this total the order book was werth £17 9 billion at 31 December
2011 20 £18 2 bithon) and probable arders were worth £1 2 bidlion
(2010 £0 8 bilion) The value of orders and probable orders acquired
with Canlhon Energy Services was broadly offset by the reduction due
to the planned re-scaling of UK construction At 31 December 2011 the
Group's revenue visibility for 2012 was 77 per cent” (2010 82 per cent
for 2011)

Pipeline of contract opportunities

Our pipekine of contract opportunities, namely contracts for which
we are either currently bidding or which we expect to bid increased
significantly to a record fevel of £33 1 billion {2010 £25 7 bilhon) This
reflected increases within each of our business segments, notably in
support services which increased by 48 per cent, and in Middle East
construction services, which increased by 30 per cent

Well-positioned to achieve our targets for growth

Although trading conditions are expected to remain difficult, with
good revenue visibility and a recard pipeline of contract opportunities
we remain well-positioned to make further progress in 2012 and
beyond by

> targeting growth in support services

> doubling our revenues in the Middle East and in Canada, in each
case to around £1 bilkon, by 2015

> re-scaling UK construction to reduce its revenue from the 2009
level of some £1 8 bilion to around £1 2 bilhon

S —

Richard Howson
Group Chuef Executive
29 February 2012
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The Group has

set the following
key performance
indicators for 2012.

> To attract, develop and retain
excellent people

> Be a recognised leader in Health & Safety
and Sustainability

> Continuously improve customer satisfaction

> Deliver growth in support services

> Grow annual revenues in Canada and in the
Middle East, by doubling each of them to
around £1 bilhon by 2015

> Continue to re-scale our UK construction
activities consistent with our objective
of reducing their annual revenue to
around £1.2 billion

> Continue reducing costs and improving
efficiency to support margins and
earnings growth

> Generate cash-backed profit after adjusting
for the strategic re-scaling of our UK
construction activities
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Operating and financial review

Well-positioned for growth

Richard Adam
Group Finance Director

Carillion has continued to
perform well in challenging
market conditions to deliver

a 13 per cent increase in
underlying profit before tax?
and a nine per cent increase in
underlying earnings per share®

{1) After Joint Ventures net financial expense of £18 8 milion {2010 £13 @ million) and
taxation of £3 S million (2010 £4 7 milon) and before intangible amortisation
non-recurnng operating items and non-gperating items

After Joint Ventures taxation of £3 5 millon {2010 £4 7 million) and before intangthle
amoriisation non recuinng operating items and non-gperating items

Before intangible amortisation non-recurning operating tems and non-operating items.

(2.

-

{3

Group overview

Carilion 1s one of the UK's leading integrated support services companies
with a substantial portfolio of Public Private Partnership projects and
extensive construction capabtlities Hawing this wide range of skills and
resources enables the Group to deliver fully integrated solutions for
buildings and infrastructure, from project finance through design and
construction, to [ifetime asset management The Group has operations
in the UK, Middle East and North Afnca and Canada, as described on
pages 04 and 05

tnderlying cash flow from operations remained strong at £230 3 million
representing 107 per cent of underlying profit from operations'™, despite
the expected working capital outflow asseciated with downsizing our

UK construction operations At 31 December 20171, the Group had net
borrowing of £50 7 millon (31 December 2010 net cash of £120 2 milion),
which was substantially better than expected following the acquisition of
Canllion Energy Serwices in Apnl 2011

Total revenue of £5 1 billon (2010 £5 1 bilhon), iIncluding revenue from
Jont Ventures of £898 0 million (2010 £902 5 million) was unchanged,
with the revenue contribution acquired with Canllion Energy Services
offset by a reduction in UK construction revenue in line with the planned
re-scaling of our UK construction activities

Total underlying profit from operations® increased by 11 per cent to
£215 8 million (2010 £194 9 millien), induding prefit from Joint Ventures
of £48 7 milllon (2010 £46 0 millon) As a result, the total underlying
operating margin increased to 4 7 per cent (2010 4 2 per cent)

After a net financial expense of £3 9 milhion (2010 £6 8 million),
underlying profit before taxation was £212 0 miltion (2010

£188 1 mithion) an increase of 13 per cent Underlying earmings per
share™ on the same basis increased by nine per cent to 43 0 pence
(2010 39 4 pence)

Intangible amortisation was £31 0 milllon (2010 £27 6 million) and
non-recurning operating and non-operating items amounted to a charge
of £38 2 million (2010 £7 4 million income), leaving profit before taxation
of £142 8 millton {2010 £167 9 million) a reduction of 15 per cent The
mamn components of the £38 2 millon of non-recurring and nen-operating
items were costs associated with the acquisition and integration of CES
and income from the disposal of equity investments in Public Private
Partnership projects

The underlying Group taxation charge of £27 8 million when

combined with a taxation charge on Joint Ventures of £3 5 million

(2010 £4 7 milhon), represented an underlying effective tax rate of

15 per cent (31 December 2010 16 per cent) Profit after tax was

£138 0 million (2010 £152 8 millon) After non-controliing interests

of £3 4 million (2010 £5 & milhion), profit attnbutable to Carllion
shareholders was £134 6 million (2010 £147 2 million) and basic earnings
per share were 32 0 pence (2010 36 9 pence), a reduction of 13 per cent
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Operating profit by financial reporting segment

Change from

2011 2010 010
Financial reporting segments and analysis £m £m %
Support services 1208 104 +9
Pubhc Private Partnership projects 199 234 -15
Middle East construction services 491 475 +3
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 579 412 +41

2477 2225 +11
Group eliminations and unallocated items {9 5) [EX0)] -6
Profit from operations before Joint Ventures net financial expense and taxation 2382 2135 +12
Share of Joint Ventures net financal expense (18 8) (13 9) -35
Share of Joint Ventures taxation (3 5) 47 +26
Underlying profit from operations 2159 1949 +11
Intangrble amortisation® (310) (276) 12
Non-recurring operating items (42 8) (9 4) -355
Reported profit from operations 1421 1579 -10

(1) Ansing from business combinations

Underlying cash flow from operations of £230 3 mihon

(2010 £230 2 milhon) represented 107 per cent of underlymg profit

from operations After payments to pension funds of £36 2 million
(2010 £35 2 million), in ine with our pension defiat recovery plan,

net capital ncome of £4 6 million (2010 £15 3 million expenditure)
restructuring costs of £34 4 million (2010 £15 6 million), nterest tax and
dividend payments of £771 milion (2010 £65 9 mill:on) and net
payments in respect of acquisittons and disposals of £251 4 milhon
(2010 £2 7 milion income), the Group had net borrowing at

31 December 2011 of £50 7 milhon (2010 £120 2 million net cash)

Accounting policies

The Group’s annual consalidated finanaal statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union The following new accounting standards and
interpretations have been adopted in 2011 as they are mandatory for

the year ended 31 December 2011

> Amendments to International Finanaal Reporting Interpretations
Commuttee (IFRIC) 14 ‘Prepayment of a minimum funding requirement’

> International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC} 19
‘Extinguishing financial habilities with equity nstruments’

> International Accounting Standard (1AS) 24 ‘Related party disclosures
{revised 2009

> Amendment to International Accounting Standard (1AS) 32
"Classification of nghts issues’

> Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 7
‘Improving disdosures about financal instruments’

The new accounting standards and interpretations have had no

impact on profit earnings per share or net assets in the year ended

31 Decernber 2011 These new accounting standards and interpretations
are descrnibed in more detail on page 61 together with other amendments
to accounting standards, which also had no matenal impact on the
Group's financial statements The Group's other significant accounting
policies are described on pages 61 1o 64

Segmental reporting and analysis

Operating profit by financial reporting segment 1s summarised in the
table above and a detaled segmental analysis of the Group's businesses
15 provided in note 2 to the financial statements on page 65 Operating
performance in each of our financial reporting segments Is discussed n
more detail on pages 26 to 29

ABOUT US

WHAT WE DO

L
L
=
8
=
[as
o
(S
o
[N 8]
o
o
]
@)

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




26 Canllion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Operating and financial review

continued

Support services

Canlhon has provided facilities management services for
Centrica’s UK property portfolio, including environmental
management services, since 2005

Revenue

£2.3bn

2010 £2 1bn

Underlying operating profit

£120.8m

2010 £1104m

Change from
2011 2010 2010
£m £m %
Revenue
- Group 2,1198 1,8421
— Share of Joint Ventures 225 4 266 5
2,3452 21086 +11
Underlying operating profit®"
- Group 1057 923
— Share of Joint Ventures 151 181
1208 104 +9

(3} Before intangible amortrsation and non-recurning operating items
{2) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable orders which exclude vanable work
and re biuds

In this segment we report the results of our facilities
management, facilities services, energy services, rall services,
road maintenance, utility services and consultancy businesses

Revenue increased by 11 per cent to £2,345 2 million with the acquired
revenue contrnbution from CES partially offset by the previously reported
revenue reductions ansing from contract demobilisations dunng 2010,
notably contracts for Aviva and the Highways Agency, and the effect

of our continuing focus on margmns through contract selectvity This
focus enabled us to maintain our operating margin In this segrnent at

5 2 per cent, despite challenging market conditions wath underlying
operating profit increasing by nine per cent to £120 8 million, broadly
half of the Group s total underlying operating profit

The acquisition of CES in Apnl 201% was an important strategic
development, driven primarily by the need to extend our support services
offering to indude energy efficiency services, given that these services

are an increasingly important part of the integrated facilities management
and maintenance solutions required by our customers The acquisition has
also taken the Group intc new markets with good prospects for growth
While the UK Government's deasion to reduce Feed-in-Taniffs for solar
photovaltaic systems (Solar PV) 1s expected to limut growth in the Solar
PV market, CES continues to have good growth prospects in its other
markets These prospects have been boosted by the UK Gavernment’s
announcements regarding tmplementation of the provisions of the
Energy Act 2011 and m particular, the Green Deal and the Energy
Company Obligation (ECO) The Green Deal which 1s to receive an
addmional £200 million of Government funding 15 expected to kick-start
at least £14 billon of investment in energy effiaency measures over the
riext decade The ECO, which the Government i1s committed to introduce
in October 2012 15 expected to create a market worth some £1 3 billion

a year, imtially up to 2015, but the present Government intends to extend
this penod to 2020

Dunng 2011, we continued to win new orders by using our extensive
capabilities and nationwide resources to target large complex contracts
At 31 December 2011, our forward order book for support services was
worth £12 3 bilion (2010 £11 7 bilhon) and in addition we had probable
orders worth £0 6 billion (2010 £0 5 billion} The combined value of our
strong order book and probable orders continues to provide good
visibility, which at 31 December 2011 was 79 per cent'® of expected
revenue for 2012 (2010 75 per cent for 2011)

Cur top 10 support services contracts account for around 26 per cent
of our revenue in this segment and with none of these contracts due
for re-bid in 2012 or 2013 we have a solid revenue platform for the
medium term Furthermore, our pipeline of contract opportunities
continues to Increase and at the year end was worth £12 3 billion
(2010 £8 3 bilion) of which a major proportion relates to public sector
organisations seeking to outsource non-core services in order to reduce
operating costs

Consequently, we continue to target growth in support seevices
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Public Private Partnership projects

A Canllion Joint Venture 15 delivering the £157 million Centre
for Addiction and Mental Health in Toronto, Canada, using the
Alternative Financing Procurement model, which 1s similar to
the UK's Public Private Partnership model

Revenue

£0.3bn

2010 £03bn

Underlying operating profit

£19.9m

2010 £234m
Change fram
2011 2010 2010
£m £m %
Revenue
- Group 12 12
- Share of Joint Ventures 3086 307
3098 3119 -1
Underlying operating profit!
- Group 27 107
- Share of Joint Ventures 172 127
199 234 -15

(1} Before intangible amartisation and non-recurnng operating iterms

In this segment we report the equity returns on investments in
Public Private Partnership {PPP) projects in the UK and Canada

We combine our expertise in private finance with our support services
and construction capabilities to win and deliver fully integrated solutions
for PPP projects, in which we invest equity and for which we secure
construction contracts and long-term support services contracts, typically
for up to 35 years The results of our PPP construction and support
services contracts are reported n our "Construction services {excluding
the Middle East)” and “Support services” segments, respectively Once

a project 1s mature, having passed from construction into the operational
phase, we have the option of selling our equity and reinvesting the
proceeds In new projects

The one per cent reduction in revenue mn 2011 reflected the sale of our
equity mvestments in the Queen Alexandra Hospital project in June 2010
and in three further projects in 2011, parhally offset by growth in the
remainder of the portfolio The 15 per cent reduction in operating profit in
2011 reflected these equity sales and the fact that profit n 2010 benefited
fram the receipt of higher than narmal fees upon achievng fmancial dose
on four large projects

In 2011, a Canllion jont venture achieved financial close on a £1 7 billion,
30-year contract for the New Qakville Hosprtal PPP project in Ontarnio,
Canada, our sixth PPP hospital iIn Canada i which we expect to invest
some £28 millon of equity Dunng 2011, we also sold equity investments
in three mature projects, namely South Ayrshire Schools Three Shires
Hospitals and the A249 Sheppey Route These sales generated total
gross proceeds of £25 4 milhon, which represented an average discount
rate of seven per cent, and a non-operating profit of £11 5 mithon

At 31 December 2011, we had a portfolio of 25 financially dosed projects
n which we had invested some £96 million of equity The Directors’
valuation of this portfolio at 31 December 2011 increased to £164 mullion
(2010 £135 million), based on discounting the cash flows from our
Investments at nine per cent At 31 December 2011 we also had
commitrments to invest a further £125 million of equity in financially
closed projects that are stilf in the construction phase Qur forward

order book at 31 December 2011 was £2 7 billion (2010 £2 7 bilhon)
and we had probable orders worth £0 1 billion {2010 nil} In addition

wie are currently short-listed for two further projects in which we coutd
potentially invest up to £65 million namely the Rayal Liverpool Hospital
and Sheffield Highways

Going forward, we continue to expect opportunities to add projects to
our portfolio In Canada, Infrastructure Ontano has published details of
the first 20 projects that will form part of the C$35 billion of investrnent
planned over the first three years of its new 10-year PPP programme

We expect to bid a number of these projects in 2012 as the majonity

of these 20 projects are in the healthcare sector where Canllion 1s a
market [eader in the UK, the review of the Private Finance Initiative (PF)
announced by the Government in Novemnber 2011 clearly indicates that,
while the current PFI model may change, private finance will contnue to
play a significant role in delivering UK public infrastructure and services
We therefore continue to expect opportunities in the UX over the medium
term, for example from the £2 bilhon schools PFl programme and from
the National Infrastructure Plan 2011 which comprises over 500 projects
worth in excess of £250 bilon, some two thirds of which will be delivered
using private finance
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Operating and financial review

continued

Middle East construction services

Al Futtaim Carnillion 1s building the £570 milhon New York
University campus in Abu Dhab,, for Mubadala Infrastructure

Revenue

£0.5bn

2010 £05bn

Underlying operating profit

£49.Tm

2010 £47 5m
Change from
2011 2010 2010
£m £fm Yo
Revenue
- Group 2189 1509
- Share of Joint Ventures 3300 3021
548 9 4930 +11
Underlying operating profit"
- Group 139 140
— Share of Joint Ventures 352 335
491 475 +3

(1) Before intangible amorusauon and non-recuriing eperating items

(2} Based on expected revenue and secure and probable erders which exdude vanable work

and re bids

In this segment we report the results of our building and cvil
engineering activities in the Middle East and North Africa

We continued to make good progress in the Middle East with revenue
increasing by 11 per cent 1o £548 9 million Cperating profit increased
by three per cent to £49 1 mithon (2010 £47 5 mullion), despite the
operating margin reducing to 8 9 per cent (2010 9 6 per cent) n line
with the expectations we announced in 2010, namely that margins In
this segment would ease back to around six per cent by 2013, because
all our contracts are now competitively tendered rather than negotiated

Qur progress in 2011 continues to reflect the strength of our markets
together with the reputation we have built over the last 40 years for
high-quality and on-time delivery As well as continuing to win contracts
in the terntories where we have well-estabiished businesses, namely
Abu Dhaty Oman and Dubai we successfully extended our Middle East
cperatians to Qatar, where a Canllion joint venture won 1ts first contract
In 2011 — a £395 million contract to deliver a major phase of the Msheireb
Heart of Doha development for Msheireb Properties, a subsidiary of
Qatar Foundation for Education Science and Community Development
This high-profile and prestigious mixed-use development i1s worth

some £316 milhon to Canllion

AL 31 December 2011 Canllion's share of the forward order book of
our Middle East businesses was some £1 G billion {2010 £1 0 bilhon)
and our revenue visibility for 2012 was 70 per cent'? (2010 78 per cent
for 2011) In assessing our prospects in the Middle East our pipeline
of contract opportunities 1s especally important given that we are
focused on large projects that can move quickly from tender stage

to contract signature causing substantial movements in order book
value At 31 December 2011 our pipeline of contract opportunities
had increased substantially to a new record level of £11 4 bilion

(2010 £8 8 billion)

We are optimistic that during 2012 we can extend our Middle East
operations 1o Saud: Arabia, which has major investment programmes
in sectors where we have already estabhshed strong reputations n our
existing territories

Given our record pipeline of contract opportunities, which reflects the
strength of our current and prospective markets, we remain confident
that we can achieve our target of doubling our revenue In the Middle East
to around £1 biflion by 2015




Construction services
(excluding the Middle East)
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The £130 million NEO Bankside development is being built by
Canlhon on London’s South Bank for developers Native Land
and Grosvenor

Revenue

£1.8bn

2010 £2 2bn

Underlying operating profit

£57.9m

2010 £412m
Change from
2011 2010 2010
£m £fm %
Revenue
- Group 18133 22023
- Share of Jaint Ventures 340 232
1,8473 22255 -17
Underlying operating profit®
- Group 544 409
- Share of Joint Ventures 35 03
579 a2 +41

{1} Before nangible amorusation and ron-recurnng operating items
{2) Based on expecied revenue and secure and probable orders which exclude vanable work
and re buds

In this segment we report the results of our UK building,
cwvil engineering and developments businesses, together
with those of our construction activities in Canada

Revenue in this segment reduced by 17 per cent as we continued

to make progress with our objective of re-scaling UK construction

to reduce rts revenue by approximately one third, from the 2009 level
of £1 8 billion to £1 2 billion which we expect to acheive In 2012 In
2011, UK construction revenue reduced by 24 per cent to £1 3 tllion
(2010 £1 7 billion) Re-scaling 1s being achieved by tightening our contract
selectivity critena to base our UK activities progressively around the
delivery of integrated solutions for PPP projects and support services
customers, and high-quality, value-added contracts for long-term
customers As expected, construction revenue in Canada remained
broadly unchanged

Qur decision to re-scale UK construction anticipated the Government's
cuts i capital spending of some 30 per cent in real terms over the current
four-year spending plan It has also helped us to iImprove the operating
margin in this segment, as we have avorded bidding for lower margin
work at a time when the UK market 15 becoming increasingly competitive
This, together with the benefits of a number of cantracts completing

or moving towards completion wath favourable out-turns, has enabled

us to improve the operating margm to 3 1 per cent (2010 19 per cent)
with operating profit increasing by 41 per cent to £57 9 million

At 31 December 2011, we had a forward order book in this segment
worth some £2 0 billon (2010 £2 8 bilion) and probable orders of
£0 4 billon (2010 £0 4 billion) At the year end, revenue wisibility for
2012 was 72 per cent® (2010 89 per cent for 2011) (n addition, we
had a pipeline of contract opportunities at 31 December 2011 worth
approximately £8 4 billion (2010 £7 7 hillion)

In 2012, UK market conditions are expected to remain competitive as
Government cuts i capital spending continue to bite We will continue
to re-scale our UK business by maintaning a very selective approach

to the contracts for which we bid, which will also continue to support
margins Over the medium term, we remain well-placed 1o benefit from
new planned public sector investment in the UK such as the £2 bilkion
PFl schools programme and the National Infrastructure Plan 2011,
which comprises over 500 projects worth in excess of £250 bdlion

over a five-year penod

In Canada we continue to target growth in construction over the
medium term to support our target of doubling total revenue to around
£1 bilton by 2015 We expect the Alternative Financing Procurement (AFP)
market (similar to Public Private Partnerships in the UK) to be an important
drver of growth particularly n Ontanio The Ontano Government has
announced details of 20 projects that compnise the first phase of s

new 10-year AFP programme under which it plans to invest C$35 billion
over the first three years, and we expect to bid a number of these projects
in 2012
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Operating and financial review

continued

Intangible amortisation

Intangible amortisation ansing from business combinations of

£31 0 milion (2010 £27 6 million) included £10 O million in relation to
CES, with the balance relating to the amortisation of intangible assets
primarily ansing from the acquistions of Mowlem in 2006 and Alfred
McAlpine in 2008

Non-recurring operating items

The non-recurning operating charge of £42 8 million (2010 £9 4 million}
relates to the payment into the CES Employee Share Scheme in lieu of
the final Carllion dividend waived by the Eaga Partnership Trusts!" of

£2 8 million, along with the £40 O million restructuning and property exit
costs associated with the integration of CES

Rationalisation costs of £9 4 millon in 210 relate to non-recurring
redundancy and other associated costs associated with re-scaling the
Group's UK construction business to ensure its size reflects the reducuon
in capital nvestment indicated in the UK Government's Emergency
Budget on 22 June 2010 and confirmed in the Comprehensive Spending
Review in October 2010

Non-operating items
These costs are summansed i the tablte below

2011 2010
£m £m

Profit on disposal of jointly controlled enuty
and other investments 153 168
Acquisition costs (7 5) -
Closure of non-core businesses {(32) -
46 168

Non-operating income of £15 3 milhon from the disposal of investments
comprised a £11 5 milhon profit on the sale of equity investments in three
Public Pnivate Partnership projects and a £3 8 million profit on the disposal
of a small joint venture in the Netherlands

Acquisition costs in 2011 of £7 5 million relate to adwviser costs in respect
of the acquisiion of CES in Apnl 2011

Duning 2011 we closed three non-core businesses due 1o the re-scaling
of our UK construction actvities including redundancy and property costs
of £3 2 million

In 2010, the Group disposed of its equity interest in two Public Private
Partnership investments The disposals generated a non-operating
profit of £16 8 million

Net finanaal expense

The Group's net financal expense of £3 9 million (2010 £6 8 million)
comprised the following items a net expense of £14 0 millon

(2010 £76 million) in respect of borrowings and other habilities, with
the increase compared to 2010 largely due to higher net borrowings
following the acquisition of CES a net interest credit in respect of
defined benefit penston schemes of £3 2 million (2010 £3 & million
charge) due to favourable movermnents in market conditions and interest
received in respect of loans to PPP Joint Venture projects of £6 9 million
(2010 £4 4 milliony

Taxation

The underlying Group taxation charge of £27 8 milhon, when

combined with a taxation charge on Joint Ventures of £3 5 million

(2010 £4 7 mullion) represented an underlying effective tax rate of

15 per cent (2010 16 per cent) This s significantly below the UK standard
rate of corporation tax of 26 5 per cent for 2011 because our profits in
the Middle East are subgect to zero or low rates of tax and because we
utilise carned foward tax losses in the UK that were largely inhenited with
the acquisitions of Mowlem and Alfred McAlpine At 31 December 2017,
the Group had £348 milion (2010 £306 million) of corporate tax losses
that are available to reduce future tax payments

Earnings per share

Underlying earnings per share increased by nine per cent to 43 0 pence
(2010 39 4 pence), reflecting the acquisition of CES and the substantial
improvement in total operating margin Following the 1ssue of

30 6 rmilhon shares on the acquisition of CES on 21 Apnl 2011, the
weighted average number of shares in issue in 2011 increased to
4209 milhon (2010 399 0 million)

Dividend

Canlhon has a progressive dvidend policy which aims to increase the
dividend per share broadly i line with the growth m underlying earnings
per share, subject to the investment needs of the business Consistent
with this policy, the Board has recommended a final dwidend for the 2011
financial year of 11 6 pence per share, making the propased full-year
dividend 16 9 pence per share (2010 15 5 pence per share), an increase
of nine per cent on the total paid in respect of 2010 Dividend cover based
on the proposed full-year dividend of 16 9 pence per share and underlying
earnings per share 1s 2 5 umes (2010 2 5 times)

Cash flow
A summary of the Group's cash flow 1s shown below

200 2010

Cash flow £m £m
Underlying Group operating profit 1672 1489
Depreciation and other non-cash items 321 320
Working capital (8 6) 12
Dividends received from Jaint Ventures 396 481
Underlying cash inflow from operations 2303 2302
Defiat pension contributions {362) (352)
Rationalisation costs (344) (156)
Interest, tax and dividends {771) (659
Net capital income/({expenditure) 46 (153
Acquisitions and disposals (251 4) 27
Other ©67) (6
Change 1n net {(borrowing)/cash (1709) 953
Net cash at 1 January 1202 249
Net (borrowing)/cash at 31 December (507) 1202

Average net borrowing® {(2189) (418)

(1} The Eaga Partnership Trusts held a 5 9 per cent shareholding in Canllion pic immediately
followang the acqusition of CES
{2) Post the acquisiion of CES in April 2011
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Strong cash management 1s a prionty and this s reflected in the Group s
track record of consistently delivering cash-backed profit Underlying cash
flow from operations of £230 3 million represents 107 per cent of
underlying profit from operations, which 1s a significant achievement
given the re-scaling of UK construction 1s, as expected, resultng in an out
flow of working capital

Deficrt recovery payments to the Group's pension funds of £36 2 milhon
are in kne with the agreement reached in 2010 with the Trustees

of the Group’s main defined benefit schemes The £34 4 million of
rationalisation costs primanly related 1o the mtegration of CES and the
re-scaling of UK construction Interest tax and dividend payments of
£771 million included higher interest and dividends payable due to the
acquisition of CES Net income of £4 6 milion in respect of capital items
included proceeds of £17 2 million foliowing the sale of vehicles to Tarmac
following the unwind of an arrangement which had been in existence
since 1999 along with the disposal of surplus assets

Net payments in respect of acquisitions and disposals amounted to

£251 4 mitlion, induding £249 9 million relating to the cash element of
the consideration, acquisttion costs and net debt acquired in respect of
CES, net equity investments in joint ventures of £31 0 million, proceeds

of £25 2 million (net of expenses) from the sale of equity in three Public
Private Partnership projects and proceeds of £6 2 million {net of expenses)
from the sale of a small joint venture in the Netherlands

The above items together with other payments of £6 7 million,
resulted in a change in net borrowing of £170 9 million, leaving the
Group with net borrowtng of £50 7 millicn at 31 December 2011
(2010 £120 2 million net cash)

Balance sheet
A summary of the Group's balance sheet ts shown below

201 2010
Balance sheet £m £m
Property plant and equipment 1342 1572
Intangible assets 1,5476 1,2212
Investments 2109 1767

1,892 7 15551
(607 4) (613 8)
{229 3) (821

Inventories recewvables and payables
Net retirement benefit liability (het of tax)

Other (228) (142
Net operating assets 1,033.2 7450
Net (borrowing)/cash (507) 1202
Net assets 982 5 B652

Property, plant and equipment reduced from £157 2 milion to

£134 2 millon largely due to the sale of vehicles to Tarmac and

the disposal of surplus assets The increase in intangible assets to
£1,547 6 million was mainly due to the acquisiton of CES n Apri 2011
Investments increased to £210 9 million at the end of 2011 due
largely to equity investments in PPP projects of £29 0 million

Retirement benefits
Detailed information on the Group's pension arrangements can be found
In note 31 on pages 94 1o 101 of the conschdated financial statements

The Group operates pension arrangements for the benefit of eligible
employees There are 15 defined benefit schemes, which have a total
pension obligation amounting to £2 203 7 million {1 e the ‘habilities’)
The total pensicn assets relating to these liabihties are £1,897 9 million,
givng a defiat of £305 8 million before deferred tax and £229 3 rrullion
after deferred tax

The Board applies significant tme and resources to managing the pension
schernes and their inherent nsks In particular there 1s the following

> a Board sub-cormmittee 1s specifically tasked with the monitonng and
management of the defined benefit pension arrangements

> an executive committee reporting to the above sub-committee has
been established compnising the Group Finance Director, Group
Financial Controller and Group Head of Reward

> the executive committee meets monthly to consider pension 1ssues

The Group operates the following policies in respect of defined benefit
pension arrangements

> defined benefit pensions shauld not be offered to employees except
where required under legislation or to meet the requirements of
work-wanning

> where defined benefits need to be offered to meet legislative or
work-winning requirements, business proiocols are in place to
manage the risk involved and to ensure that the risk and costs are
fully factored inte pricing

> investment risks should be menitored and gradually reduced
commensurate with a balanced approach to nisk and cost

Reflecting the above policies three of the Group's prinaipat schemes,
the Canllion Staff Mowtem Staff and Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan
are all closed to new entranis and members no longer accrue benefits
for future service

As noted previously the total deficit induded in the Group’s balance sheet
at 31 December 2011 in relation to defined benefit schemes amounted to
£305 8 mdlion (2010 £249 4 mullion) The increase in the net deficit since
the end of 2010 1s due to a combination of a reduction in asset values
following the fall n global equity markets and a reduction to the discount
rate reflecting the movement in market bond yrelds

During 2010, valuations and rewised funding arrangements were agreed
with the Trustees of six of the principal defined benefit schemes The
Group has committed funding arrangements across all 1ts defined benefit
schemes which amount to around £36 milhon per annum, in the short
term Each scheme has 1ts own specfic funding arrangement and these
funding arrangements will be reviewed following subsequent valuations
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Operating and financial review

continued

The key assumptions used in the International Accounting Standards (JAS)
19 defiait position are summarnised below

20m 2070
% %
Discount rate 48 54
Inflation
RPI 30 34
CPl 19 28
Salary ncrease 35 44
Expected return on assets
Equities/Property 695 765
Gilts 295 39
Corporate Bonds 455 525
Cash 0S 05
Average allocation of assets
Equities/Property 48 51
Gilts 20 17
Corporate Bonds 31 31
Cash 1 1

The discount rate of 4 8 per cent 1s based on AA bond yields appropriate
to the liability duration The RPIinflation rate of 3 O per cent 1s based on
the duration derived market /mplied RPI

The pension liabilities of the Group are subject to fluctuations arising
from changes in the key assumptions above that are deterrmined by
general market conditions, which are cutside the control of the Group
In particular, a 0 1 per cent reduction in the discount rate would
increase the overall deficit by around £37 million, whilst a 0 1 per cent
Increase In the inflation rate would increase the overall deficit by around
£32 million

The Group s ongoing total pensions charge against profit in 2011
amounted to £29 3 million (2010 £299 million)

Acquisition of CES

The Group acquired the entire share capital of CES i 2011 for a total
consideration of £298 4 million, satisfied by the issue of 30 6 million
Canlhon plc shares and £181 2 milion in cash Following an assessment
of the farr value of assets and habilties at the acquisition date goodwill
ansing on this acquisition amounted to £329 1 milion

Committed bank facilities

In February 2011, the Group put in place new committed bank facilities

of £752 5 milhon, which compnise a £737 5 million syndicated five-year
facility maturing wn March 2016 and a £15 0 milhon 364-day facility In
August 2011, we also completed a £100 million private ptacement which
compnsed a £49 mihon seven-year loan at 4 38 per cent per annum and a
£51 milion 10-year loan at 5 1 per cent per annum Securing these
faciities reflects the Group's positive prospects and gives the

Group the financial strength to support its strategy for sustamable
profitable growth

Share price

Carillton's share price was 300 8 pence at the close of business an
31 December 2011, a decrease of 22 per cent on the ¢losing price
on 31 December 2010 of 384 4 pence

Canllion s total shareholder return decreased in 2011 by 18 per cent,
compared with a decrease in the return for the FTSE 350 of three
per cent

Operational and financal nisk management

The application of ngorous risk management policies and processes plays
an essential role in Canllion's success These policies and processes are
firmly embedded in our culture and designed to identify mitigate and
manage strategic nsks and those spectfic to indwidual businesses and
contracts, including economic socal, environmental and ethical risks
Our operational nisk management policies and processes are described in
more detail on page 20 of the Group Chief Executive’s review, together
with a summary of the Group's principal risks and the measures we have
taken to mitigate them

Treasury policy and financial nsk management

The Group has a centralised Treasury function whose primary role is to
manage funding, iquidity and financal nsks In addiion, Treasury sources
and admunusters contract bond and guarantee facilities for the Group
Treasury 15 not a profit centre and does not enter into speculatve
transactions The Board sets polices within which Treasury operates that
ensure the most effective financing of the Group's operations and imit
exposure to finanaal nsk The areas of significant finanaal nsk facing the
Group relate to funding and liquidity, counterparty nisk, foreign exchange
and interest rates

Funding and hiquidity

In addition to Carilhon plc’s principal borrowing facilities described above,
maney market and short-term overdraft facilities are available to Canllion
plc and certain subsidiaries Operating and finance leases are also
employed to fund longer-term assets The quantum of committed
borrowing facilities avalable to the Group is regularly reviewed by

the Canfion Board and 1s designed to satisfy the requirements of the
Group's business plan At 31 December 2011 the Group had undrawn
committed faaliies amounting to £356 1 million (2010 £456 5 mullion)
This excludes the Group's share of cash balances amounting to

£94 2 million {2010 £175 1 mullion) wathin jontly controlled operations,
which are outside of the Group's facilities

Counterparty risk

The Group undertakes significant financial transactions only with
counterparttes that have strong credit ratings The hrnits and requirements
n respect of such transactions are reviewed regularly by the Board of
Carilion plc
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Country risk

The Group has overseas activittes 1n Canada, the Middle East, where our
operations are centred upon Abu Dhaty, Dubai, Oman and Qatar, and in
Egypt where we have one project that accounted for less than two per
cent of the Group s total revenue in 2011

Through our strategy of creating a well-balanced and geographically
diversified business, we seek to minimise the political and soao-economic
nsks to our business We also seek to mitigate the nsks attendant on our
overseas activities by ensuning that we operate only where we can apply
high standards of corporate governance and corporate sociat responsibility
and by regularly repatriating profits and cash to the UK We have no
operations In mainland Europe and therefore no direct exposure to the
risks attendant on operating in euro zone countries The overseas
countres in which we operate have been largely unaffected by the global
banking crsis, with the exception of Bubal which has been supported by
Abu Dhabi Furthermore, our strategy in the Middle East and North Afrnca
of focusing on a small number of financially robust custormers has enabled
our businesses in the region to maintain strong operating cash flows and
rernain financially independent

The nisk of political instabihity in Canada ss judged to be minimal, as
Canada has a stable parhamentary democracy Having dekberately
centred our activities in the Middle East on countries that have a history
of social stability, we have been unaffected by the recent unrest seen
elsewhere in the Middle East Social unrest in Egypt has affected the one
project we have there, causing us to suspend construction work for a few
weeks early in 2011, but since then work on this project has continued
normally While the potential for political unrest and conflict in the
Middle East and North Africa to escalate or to spread to countries so

far unaffected remains a possibility we believe our policy of focusing on
countries with a history of stability, together with our rigorous corporate
governance and finanoal management pelicies and processes, provides
adequate mitigation against these risks

Foreign exchange

The Group hedges all significant currency transaction exposures using
foreign exchange nsk management techmques !n order to protect the
Group s balance sheet from the impact of exchange rate volatiity foreign
currency net assets are hedged using matching currency loans equivalent
to at least 60 per cent of the net asset value, where these assets exceed
the equivalent of £10 miflion Profits ansing wathin overseas subsidiaries
are not hedged unless it is planned to make a distnbutton Such
distributions are then treated as currency transactions and hedged
accordingly

The average and year-end exchange rates used to translate the Group’s
overseas operations were as follows

Average Year End
Esterkng 2011 2010 2014 2010
Middle East (US Dollan 161 155 155 157
Oman {Rial) 062 060 060 060
UAE (Dirhams) 590 569 5711 575
Canada (Dollar) 158 160 158 156
Tnnidad (Dollar) 10 29 984 997 1002

Interest rates

The Group's borrowing faalrtes are at floating rates of mterest inked to
the London InterBank Offered Rate, UK base rate or prevailing local
currency interest rates Short-term bank deposits and foreign currency
hedging transactions are executed only with highly credit-rated authonsed
counterparties and credit exposures to counterparties are monitored
regularly so that exposure to any one counterparty is either within Board
approved Iimits or approved by the Board The Group has not entered into
nterest rate denvatives to fix or hedge nterest rate sk and currently none
are outstanding Certain longer-term assets have been financed using
fixed rate leases

Canllion has invested equity In a number of Joint Venture Speaal
Purpose Companies (SPC) to deliver Public Private Partnership projects
SPCs obtain funding for these projects in the form of long-term bank
loans or corporate bonds without recourse to the lomt Venture partners
and secured on the assets of the SPC A number of SPCs have entered
into interest rate dervatives as a means of hedging interest rate risk
These dervatives are interest rate swaps that eHectively fix the rate of
interest payable

Credit nisk
An analysis of the Group's credit risk is provided in note 27 on pages
87 and 88

Going concern .

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect
its future development, performance and position, the financial position
of the Group, its cash flows liquidity position and borrowing facilities
are described on pages 14 to 33, entitied ‘Our Performance’ In addition
note 27 on pages 85 to 20 of the financial statements includes the
Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its
financial nsk management objectives, details of its financial instrurnents
and hedging activities and its exposures to credit and hquidity nisk

The Group has considerable financial resources together with long-term
contracts with a number of customers and suppliers across different
geographic areas and industries As a conseguence the Directors believe
that the Group 1s well-placed to manage its business risks successfully
despite the current uncertain economic outlock

The Directors confirm that after making enquines, they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources
10 continue (n operational existence for the foreseeable future For this
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the
financial statements

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
29 February 2012
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Sustainability review

Sector leading performance

Making tomorrow a better place

tn this section of our Annual Report we provide a summary
of what we are doing to make our business more sustainable
A more detailed account will be provided in our 2011
Sustamnability Report, which will be published on our
website www canilhonplc com/sustainability in Apnl 2012

Our sustainability strategy

Durmng 2011, we launched a new sustainability strategy After reviewing
our business we engaged with stakeholders and worked with Forum for
the Future to develop this strategy which we introduced to our people
during Canllion’s Sustainability Week, which comnades with World
Environment Day in June

Our 2020 strategy supports our business strategy and growth plans for
the remainder of this decade, by effectively managing the sustainability
nisks and opportunities for Carllion We want to be recognised as a
leading sustanable business and the leading sustainable support services
company

Our new strategy focuses on sharing knowledge and working closely
with customers and suppliers to deliver sustainable solutions that reach
beyond our immeadiate operations We will consciously drive this strategy
externally helping our customers to meet their sustainability objectives
while contributing to the creation of a low-carbon economy and
supporting vibrant, healthy communities We understand that to be
recogrused as a leader, we have 1o manage the impacts and opporturuties
of our projects, services and supply chains

We believe that championing sustainability 1s cnitical to the long-term
success of our business and this strategy will help us to maintain our
position as sector leader

We have devefoped six positive outcomes that define the key areas of focus
for our 2020 strategy and build on our sustainability achievernents to date

> Enable low-carbon economies Our services will help Canllion’s

customers work towards carbon neutrality, so together we become

the lowest carbon producers in our respective sectors

Protect the environment We will work with our customers and

suppliers to be best-in-class In reducing waste managing the use of

water and raw matenals and protecting biodversity wherever we

operate

> Suppaort sustainable communities We will make a positive

contribution to the development of our local communities enabling

them to thrive and prosper

Provide better prospects for our people We will improve the

prospects of our people by offering opportunities for learming and

development and create safe, healthy places to work

> Lead the way In our sector We wilt be recognised as the benchmark
in sustainability and innovation, n turn driving demand as the service
provider of choice for customers

> Buwilding a successful business Through our sector leadership and
role In creating 8 more sustainable economy, we will increase
shareholder value

v

v

Managing sustainability

Our commitment to sustainability 1s drven by our Board supported by

a Sustainability Advisory Committee This Commuttee 1s chaired by our
Group Chief Executive, Richard Howson, and includes our Group Finance
Director and a number of senior managers The Committee also benefits
from expert advice from two external members, Dame Julia Cleverdon,
Vice President of Business in the Community (BITC) and Special Advisor to
the Princes Charities and Jonathon Pornitt, Founder Director of Forum for
the Future

The Sustainability Advisory Committee 1s supported by a Group
Sustainability Forum of our senior business leaders and chaired by our Chief
Sustainability Officer Tom Robmson The Forum informs the development
of our sustainability strategy shares best practice and ensures the effective
dissemination of our sustainability strategy and policies to each business
unit All our businesses have a sustainability plan and objectives, which form
an integral part of their annual business plans Since 2003 we have
orgarused an annual Sustainabiity Week to coinaide with World
Emvironment Day in June In 2011 this event focused on launching our new
2020 sustainability strategy and on raising internal awareness of our new
targets and vision We produced seven videos to explain our strategy and
thousands of employees joined in, as well as some of their chents and
suppliers, and went the extra mile to make the {aunch of our Sustainability
Strategy a resounding success In total we receved over 300 reports of
activities supporting the launch from across the Group

Our performance

The Group’s sustainability targets for 2011 were based on 20 speafic and
measurable targets In order to drive continuous iImprovermnent we set
demanding targets and our performance against them i1s independently
verified A full report on what we have achteved will be in our 2011
Sustainability Report which will be published in Apnil 2012

In the 2011 UK Sunday Times Best Green Company awards, Carnllion was
ranked in the Top 10 Carillion 1s one of only 15 comparues to remain in
the Best Green Companies top 60 list since 1t started four years ago

We also achieved a 'Platinum'’ ranking in Business in the Community's
Corporate Responsibility Index for the third year running, with a score

of 97 per cent The Corporate Respensibility tndex involves a detailed,




As a member of the Business
Action on Homelessness
Board, we celebrated the 10th
birthday of the programme
with the orgamisation’s
president, the Prince of Wales

A member of
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Carillion staff gave the UK
Prime Minister, the Rt Hon
David Cameron MP and

the Netherlands Prime
Minister, Mark Rutte, a tour
of the Library of Brrmungham
project with commentary on
1its design and construction,
as well as the employment
and training benefits that the
project has brought to the
people of Birmingham

independent assessment of Carifion's sustainability strategy, management
processes and performance Such assessments enable us to benchmark
our performance aganst other companies, including those in different
market sectors

Carllion continues to be a member of the FTSE4Good Index and in 2011
we submitted a full response to the Carbon Disclosure Project and were
induded in the FTSE 350 Carbon Disclosure Leadership Index for the first
time with a disclosure of 82 out of 100 (Performance rating B) In 2011
we also achieved the Certified Ermissions Measurement and Reduction
Scheme (CEMARS) accreditation for the first trme

Carnifhon won the Arabia Corporate Social Responsibility Award in 2011,

in the large company category This represents a huge achievement as
over 100 entries were received from 12 countries across the Middle East
region in over 15 different sectors In addition, Carilion won the following
awards at the Construction Week Awards held in Dubat in 2011

> Corporate Social Responsibility of the Year Award for Sustainability
Week, which saw our people spending aver 4,000 hours involved in
community engagement activities in the Middle East

> Construction Sustainabiity Award for the practical rmplementation of
our new sustainabihity strategy through our Sustainability Actron Teams

Qur joinery workshop in Muscat Ornan was also highly commended for
achieving Forest Stewardship Councll (FSC) Chain of Custody certification

In 2011, as well as continuing 1o set specific sustainability targets for each
of our business units and for the Group as a whole, we focused on the
following important speafic areas namely

> We launched our new 2020 targets that start to be monitored dunng
2012

> We developed a Sustainability Leadership Plan (SLP) to help our

business units deliver therr targets and establish a baseline to measure

and report against our 2020 Sustainabiity KPIs

We developed a new Community Needs Plan and revised our

Biodiversity Toolkit, which will be mplemented in 2012

> We appointed Tom Robinsan as Chief Sustainability Officer This is
a new post and marks our commitment to the delivery of our 2020
Sustainability Strategy

> We set up a baseline against which to measure all of our water
consumption

> We enabled over 148 candidates (against our target of 100} 1o gan
valuable two-week work placements in our businesses and supported
their resintroduction to employment through the Business Acuon on
Homelessness programme

v

Supporting sustainable communities

Vibrant, thriving communities are the foundation on which our business
rehes We behieve that by supporting the sustainable development of the
communities i and around the areas in which we operate we are helping
to secure the long-term wellbeing of our current and future employees,
customers and supplers

Working with orgamisations such as Business Action on Homelessness and
The Prince’s Trust, Canllion has offered training placements to 174 pecple
over the past year including the long-term unemployed and ex-offenders

As we have every year since 2001, in 2011 we gave at least one per cent
of our pre-tax profits to chantable and commuruty causes through a
combination of cash and in-kind donations including time spent by
Canlion employees

‘We belteve that by engaging with community and chanty groups, we
increase the morale and motivation of our people while delwering tangible
benefits to the communities in which we work We are delighted to
support the diverse and enterprising volunteening efforts of our people
across many different sectors, which also add value to our business
through the development of skills and community engagement In ine
with this we have processes in place to allow employees the opportunity
to use therr working ttme to support external imitiatives

Providing better prospects for our people

Canlon 1s a business buiit on the talents and dynarmism of our people
We value therr diversity, encourage them to fulfil therr potenual, and
make the safeguarding of their health and safety our highest priority,
which we describe in more detail on pages 19, 40 and 41 of this report

Canlien recognises that one of 1ts greatest sustainabifity impacts is the
provision of employment both withen our business directly and also
through our sub-contractors and supphers Where feasible we are
commutted to souraing our employees tocally in the areas where we work
helping to mprove economic prospects, reduce the carbon footprint of
our activities, provide skills training for the local population and support
sustanable commurities

In 2011 we launched the “S” Factor competition across Canllion
Contestants have to submit infermation about therr sustamability
achievements They then go through a public vote within Canlion and
the final contestants make personal presentations to a panel of judges
who select category winners and an overalt winner The 2011 overall
winner was the Library of Birmrngham team who achieved over 100 local
employment places with local subcontractors with at least 50 per cent
gaming full-time roles on this project They were awarded £1,000 that
they donated to the Brmingham Children’s Hospital The competition
was a great success and the 240 entries receved showed the level of
engagement in sustainability across the Group

Protecting our environment

Across all our operations, protecting the environment 1s fundamental
to the way we work We seek to manage our enviranmental impacts
by using natural resources efficently, sourcing responsibly, protecting
biodiversity and reducing waste — and by helping our customers do
the same

All our UK and Middle East and North Africa (MENA) operations are
certified to the 1ISO 14001 international standard Canllion‘s jaint Yenture,
TWD Roads Management Inc. in Canada, is also certified to ISO 14001
Thus ISO standard requires formal environmental management systems,
incduding speafic policies, plans, registers, training and communication
programmes, objectives and targets

As part of the 2020 vision our biodversity risk assessments and plans
have been reviewed so that restoration activities are now considered
We waork not only to proteci the biodwversity of sites and neighbounng
land across the projects in which we are involved, but to enhance it
Cur people in MENA often get involved in beach dean-up campaigns
and the Cardlion Natural Habitats Fund has supported 54 Wildiife Trust
projects in the UK since 2001 wath donations totalling over £335,000

In 2011, we set a target for all permanent UK contracts and projects to
capture water consumption data and keep monitoring this every year in
order to have reduced our water consumption by 25 per cent by 2015
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Sustainability review

continued

UK Construction’s Simon
Dingle (Operations Director),
Sinead Mackenzie (Project
Manager for Employment

and Training) and Michael
Winhall (Sustainability &
Communications Manager)
were crowned overall winners
of the Canillion “$* Factor 2011

Adam Green, Managing
Director of Canllion UK
Construction, presenting
Crown House Technologies
with the 2011 Cartlhon
Supply Chamn Sustainability
Champion Award

The Al Futtaim Canllion team
at our New York University
project in Abu Dhabi pulled ocut
all the stops and organised 44
different activities to celebrate
Sustainability Week

in 2011, Canllion won two prestigious awards - the Arabia
Corporate Social Responsibility Award and the Construction Week
Sustainability Award — with both citing the pioneenng efforts of
our Joinery workshop in Oman We also received a Speaal
Commendation by the Oman Green Awards judging panel

Enabling low carbon economies

We are helping our customers work towards carbon neutrality, so that
together we become the lowest carbon producers in our respectve
sectors Enabling low-carbon economies is one of the six positive
outcomes of our 2020 sustanability strategy

We calculate and publish details of our carbon footprint annually In 2010,
Carillion registered with the UX Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)
Energy Efficiency Scheme, which applies mandatory emission cuts to
large commeraal and public sector organisations We installed smart
meters across our sites to provide instant accurate measurements of the
electricity, gas and ol used to power our offices, site accornmodation

and construction projects tn 2011, we were ranked in the top 10 per cent
of the CRC league table

We also submit data to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP} —

an independent, not-for-profit organisation that aims to increase
transparency and promote cimate change data as a factor in business,
policy and investment decisions Companies are scored on therr
chmate change disclosure and high scores indicate good internai data
management and understanding of the cimate change 1ssues affecting
the company We achieved an impressive score of 82 out of 100 and
featured in the 2011 FTSE 350 Carbon Disclosure Leadership Index

With the acquisiion of Eaga plc, now called Canllion Energy Services
(CES), we became the UK's largest independent energy services provider,
with major new opportunities in the energy services market With
sector-leading expertise n energy efficency solutions, we are in a position
to enhance the scope of our integrated services offering for existing and
new customers

Home energy improvements provided by CES are already helping
households to reduce their fuel costs and live mare comfortably The
Warm Front Scheme being delivered by CES, provides grants of up to
£3,500 to install a package of heating and insulation measures to help
people vulnerable to fue! poverty keep warm and manage their fuel
bills Installing loft or cawity wall insulation and energy-efficent heating
systems can cut household fuel bills by between £300 and £600 a year

CES was recognised for its low-carbon energy housing solutions at the
Microgeneration UK Awards in June 2011

Cur 2011 Sustainability Report will provide more information on our
carbon reduction programme when 1t 1s published on our website in
Apnl 2012

Leading the way customers and suppliers

Carilion develops strong relationships with customers and suppliers,
based on mutual respect and a focus on sustainable practices \We are a
customer-focused business prowviding innovative, sustainable solutians
that delver long-term added-value across a broad range of sectors

Throughout the lifecycle of a project, our business units ask for feedback
on the levels of service we provide and we conduct regular customer
satisfaction surveys to assess our performance We use an independent
specialist company to conduct these surveys to encourage honest
feedback Sustainabihity questions are included in these surveys so we
can monitor custorner perception of our sustainability performance
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Positive outcomes that define the key areas of focus

Vision

Objectives

Enable low-carbon economies

Our services will help Carillion’s customers work towards carbon
neutrality, so together we become the lowest carbon producers in
our respective sectors

Protect the environment

We will work with our customers and suppliers to be best-in-dlass in
reducng waste managing use of water and raw materials, and
protecting biodiversity wherever we operate

Support sustainable communities
=
'

L |

We will make a positive contribution to the development of our local
communities, enabling them to thnve and prosper

Provide better prospects for our people

We will improve the prospects of our people by offering opportunities
for learning and development and create safe, healthy places to work

—
[}

ad the way in our sector

k3

We will be recognised as the benchmark in sustainability and
innovation, In turn driving demand as the service provider of choice
for customers

Building a successful business

[\

Through our sector leadership and role in creating a more sustainable
economy, we will Increase shareholder value

We assess the feedback in respect of each of our business unts and f

we are not meeting the high standards our customers expect from us

we devise action plans and follow robust procedures to address any
issues swiftly and effectvely to ensure customer satisfaction We
continually seek to take customer service delivery to new levels, and
Canllion Faclities Management {(CFM) was the proud winner of the Bntish
Institute for Facilities Management Award for Innovation in Customer
Service In 2011

Our relationships with thousands of suppliers all over the world include
multinational organisations, small and medium-sized enterpnses (SMEs),
indwidual suppliers and third-sector organisations As wath all our
stakeholders, the refationships we have with our supplers are built upon
our values and we expect our suppliers to demonstrate the same high
standards of corporate responsibility as Canllion We alsa have speafic
supply chain principles, such as safety, delivering quahity products and
services putting customers first and minimising costs by developing
nnavative ways of working

in 2011, we launched the Canllion Supply Chain Sustainability Champions
Award as part of Sustainability Week — a chance for suppliers to tell us
about the sustainable initiative they are most proud of in their business
Focusing on the six positive outcomes of our 2020 sustatnability strategy,
we had an overwhelming response of high-quality submissions from a
very wide range of supgpliers After much deliberation, Crown House
Technologies was selected as the inaugura! Carilion Supply Chain
Sustainability Champion for its innovative Learning and Development
Programme which features presentations by key suppliers, in-house
experts and guest speakers on important topics recorded in front of a
Iive audience
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Board of Directors

Experienced leadership

01 Philip Rogerson?*

Chairman

Age 67 Philp was appointed to the Board
in Qctober 2004, becoming Chairman in
May 2005 He s Chairman of both the
Nominations Committee and the Business
integrity Committee Philip is also Chairrman
of Aggreko plc and Bunzl plc and will be
appointed a Non-Executive Director of De
La Rue plc with effect from 1 March 2012
He was an Executive Director of BG plc from
1992 to 1998, latterly as Deputy Chairman

02 Richard Howson?

Group Chief Executive

Age 43 Richard was appointed Group

Chief Executive on 1 January 2012 He was
appointed to the Board in December 2009 as
Executive Director with responsibility for the

Middle East North Africa and UK Construction
businesses and for the Group's Health & Safety

and Sustainabifity programmes He was
appointed Chief Ogerating Officer n
September 2010 Pnior to appointment to
the Board, Richard was Managing Director
of Carillion s Middle East and North Africa
businesses before which he held senior
positions in the Group s Infrastructure and
Building businesses Richard has worked

for the Company for 16 years He s a Fellow
of the Institution of Civil Engineers

01 02

03 Richard Adam

Group Finance Director

Age 54 Richard was appointed Group
Finance Dwrector in April 2007 He qualified as
a chartered accountant with KPMG in 1982
and gained broad experignce in a number of
public and private company finance director
roles from the age of 30 Immediately prior to
joining Canlhion Richard was Group Finance
Director of Associated British Ports Holdings
plc He was also a Non-Executive Director and
the chairman of the Audit Committee of SSL
International plc until 1ts takeover in 2010

03

04 Philip Green12? |
Senior Independent |
Non-Executive Director

Age S8 Appointed to the Board in June 2011

Philip 1s a member of the Audit, Nominations

and Remuneration Committees He s

Non-Executive Chairman of US industrial

services company, BakerCorp Philip was Chief

Executive of United Utilities Group plc from

2006 to 2011 His earler business experience

includes serving as Chief Executive of Royal

P&O Nedloyd untl its acquisition by AP

Moller-Maersk A/S, as a Director and Chief

Operating Officer at Reuters Group PLC and

as a Chiefl Qperating Officer at DHL for

Europe and Africa

04




Key

1 Audit Committee

2 Rernuneration Committee

3 Nomunations Committee

4 Business Integnty Commitiee

lohn McDonough

tohn McDonough was Group Cheef Executive
{rom January 2001 until he retired from the Board
and the Company on 31 Decernber 2011
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05 Andrew Dougal'??

Non-Executive Director

Age 60 Andrew was appointed to the Board
in October 2011 and is Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of Nominations
and Remuneration Committees Andrew s a
chartered accountant and has held a number
of serior executive positions Including Chuef
Executive of Hanson ple, the international
bullding materials company after its demerger
from Hanson, the Anglo-Amernican diversified
industrat group, where he was Finance
Director Since his retirement from Hanson plc
in 2002, he has served as a Non-Executive
Director of a number of UK public companes,
including Prermuer Farnell plc and Creston plc
currently, and formerly Taylor wimpay plc,
Taylor Woodrow plc and BPB plc He has
served as a member of the Audit Commitiee
on all of these companies and Audit
Committee Chairman of Taylor Wimpey,
Taylor Woodrow and Creston

05

06 Steve Mogford'?3¢

Non-Executive Director

Age 55 Steve was appointed to the Board

n September 2006 and 15 a member of the
Audit, Norminations Remuneration and
Business Integrity Committees Steve became
Chief Executive of United Utihties Group PLC
on 31 March 2011 Prior to this appointment,
Steve was Chief Executive of Selex Galileo Ltd,
a Finmeccanica company, which he jomned in
May 2007 From Apnl 2000 to May 2007 he
was a Chief Operating Officer and Director of
BAE Systems plc

06

07. Vanda Murray OBE '22*
Non-Executive Director

Age 51 Vanda was apponted to the

Board in June 2005 and 15 Chairman of the
Remuneration Commiitee and a member of
the Audit, Nominatians and Business Integnity
Committees Vanda s Chawrman of Vphase plc
and a Non-Executive Director of Fenner plc,
Chemring Group plc, Microgen plc and The
Manchester Airport Group plc Vanda was
Chief Executive Officer of Blick plc from 2001
to 2004, a Director of Ultraframe plc from
2002 to 2006, Non-Executive Chairman of
Eazyfone Limited from 2006 to 2009 and has
also served as a Trustee and Non-Executive
Director of The Manufacturing Institute She
was appomnted OBE in 2002 for Services to
Industry and to Export and is a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Marketing

07
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Report of the Directors

The Directors report should be read in conjunction with the
Chatrman s statement, the Group Chief Executive's review the
Operating and financial review, the Corporate Governance report
and the Remuneration report, which are incorporated by reference
m (and shall be deemed to form part of) this report

Principal activities and business review

Canllion 15 one of the UK's leading integraied support services
companias, with a substantial portfolio of Public Private Partnership
projects and extensive construction capabthties The Group has
operations in the UK, the Middle East and North Afnca and in Canada

A review of the Group's businesses, financial performance and future
developments 1s contained in the Chairman’s statement Group Chief
Executive’s review and the Operating and financial review

The following specfic issues are discussed mn the sections shown in
brackets

> achievernents in respect of the Group's Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) in 2011 and the KPIs set for 2012 (Group Chief Executive’s
review ~ see pages 16 to 23)

> financial performance in 2011 {Operating and financial review —
see pages 24 {0 33)

> principal operational risks and risk management (Group Chief
Executive s review — see pages 20 and 21)

> treasury policy and financial nsk management (Operating and
financial review — see page 32)

> social, community and environmental 1ssues (Sustainability review
- see pages 34 to 37)

> resources and employees (Group Chief Executive's review see
page 19 and Report of the Directors — see pages 40 and 41)

Analysis of revenue and net assets by operating segment and
geographical location are given in note 2 on pages 65 to 68

Share capital
Carilhon has only one class of shares, with one vote for every share

Profits and dividends
The consolidated income statement 1s shown on page 56 Profit
before tax was £142 8 million (2010 £167 9 million)

A 2011 intenm dividend of 5 3 pence per ordinary share (2010

4 8 pence) was paid in November 2011 |t s proposed to pay a

final dividend of 11 6 pence per ordinary share (2010 10 7 pence) on
15 June 2012 to shareholders on the register at the close of business
on 18 May 2012 The payment of these 2011 intenm and final
dmdends amounts to £71 5 million (2010 £62 0 milkon)

A dvidend reinvestment plan (DRIP) will also be offered allowing
shareholders a convenient means of reinvesting therr dvidends in
the Company by buying further shares If required, a DRIP application
form is available from the share registrar, Equiniti (see page 110 for
contact details)

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served dunng 2011 are shown on
page 50 of the Remuneration report Biographical detads for each
Director at 31 December 2011 are given on pages 38 and 39

In accordance with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance
Code all Directors will offer themselves either for election or
re-election at the Annual General Meeting on 2 May 2012 Richard
Adam and Richard Howson have contracts of service which are subject
to one year’s notice of termination by the Company

Philip Green was appointed to the Board as Sentor Independent
Non-Executive Director in June 2011 He s a member of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations Committees

The Board appointed Andrew Dougal a Non-Executive Director in
October 2011 He s Chawrman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration and Nominations Committees

David Garman served as the Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director until he stood down from the Board in May 2011 David

was appointed to the Board of Canllion plc in September 2004 and
was Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee and a member of the
Audit and Nominations Committees

Vvanda Murray succeeded David Garman as Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee

David Maloney served as an Non-Executive Director unt! he stood
down from the Board in October 2011 Dawid was appointed to the
Board of Canllion plc in November 2005 and was Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committees

lohn McDonough was Group Chief Executive until he retired from the
Board and Company on 31 December 2011

The interests of the Directors and their families in the share capital of
the Company are shown in the Report of the Directors on page 42

Indemnity

To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, the Company may
indemnify any Directer, Secretary or other officer of the Company
agamnst any liability and may purchase and maintain insurance against
any labiity The Company purchased and mantained throughout 2011
Directors and Officers’ liability insurance

Conflicts of interest

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board 1o consider
and, i 1t sees fit, to authonse situations where a Director has an
interest that conflicts, or may possibly conflict, with the interests of the
Company The Board constders that the procedures it has in place for
reporting and considering confhicts of interest are effective

Key contractual arrangements

There are no persons with whorn the Group or Cormpany has
contractual or other arrangements, whom are deemed to be essential
to the busmess of the Group or Company

Employees
Information relating to employee numbers and remuneration is given
In note 6 on page 70

Canllion’s core values of openness, collaboration, mutual dependency,
sustainable profitable growth, professional delivery and innovation
help to differentiate Carillion from its competitors by creating a culture
in which everyone in Canllion I1s encouraged to understand the needs
of their customers and to work in partnership wath ¢ustomers and
supphers to deliver high-quality, value for money services

Employees are key to achieving Canllion’s business strategy and the
Group 1s committed to improving their skills through training and
development and through nurturing a culture in which employees feel
valued for the contnbutions they make to the Company and motivated
to achieve their full potential




It1s Canilhon’s aim to foster a working environment in which all
employees are treated with courtesy, dignity and respect Canlhion
strives continually to eliminate all bias and unlawful discriminatron n
refation to job applcants, employees, business partners and members
of the public Employees who become disabled are, wherever possible,
retrained or provided with equipment that enables them to continue
their employment

The objectives of Canlion’s Equal Opporturuty and Diversity Policy
are to

> have a workforce that represents and responds to the diversity of
customers and society in general

> improve safety and quahty provided by a balanced and productive
workforce

> reduce staff turnover, absenteaism and sickness levels

provide a fair working environment in which discrimimatton will not

be tolerated

> create a working environment free from discnmination, harassment
victimisation and bullying

> work towards finding ways for under-represented groups to fully
realise therr potential within Canllion and take reasonable steps to
help such groups

> ensure that all employees are aware of the Equal Opportunities
and Diversity Policy and to provide any necessary ongotng traiming
to enable them to meet their responsibilities under 1t

> recognise the ments of developing a workforce that incorporates the
many diverse skills and backgrounds available from within the total
population and, accardingly, will strive to be an organisation that
will recognise, value and understand diversity and provides all
employees with opportunities to develop and reach
thew fult potental

> ensure that all applicants are treated fairly dunng recruitment
processes and 1n accordance with relevant legislation and Codes
of Practice

> regularly review procedures and selection critena for promotion to
ensure that indviduals are selected and treated according to therr
individual abilities and merits

v

Canllion places great importance on open and regular commuriucation
with employees through both formal and informal processes As part
of this commitment, a Group newspaper, ‘Spectrum’, 1s produced on a
regular basis for all employees

The wiews of employees on matters affecting their interests and the
success of Canilion are also sought through ‘The Great Debate’
‘People Forums’, Team Talks, and one-tc-one meetings between
employees and their ine managers

‘The Great Debate’ 1s a major exercise, which has been undertaken

by the Group In each of the last eight years, involving a wide range of
employees that form a statistically significant sample The results of
each ‘Great Debate’ are used to inform and guide the development of
work related initiatives as part of Canllion’s strategy to be an employer
of chewce ‘The Great Debate’ forms part of the Group's ongoing
programme to

> engage with employees to improve motivation and morale

> empower employees to contribute to the Group s development both
as an employer and as a business

> demonstrate Canllion’s commitment to listening to, and responding
to the views of i1s employees

Cartlhon plc Annual Report and Accounts 2011 41

Canllion also involves, engages and consults with employees through
‘People Forums’, which give employees an opportunity to express their
views on business issues The main objectives of the ‘Pecple Forums’
are to

improve employee information and consultation

help employees feel more involved and valued

support the continued education and developrment of employees
mprove business performance by improving the awareness of
employees to the business chimate in which they operate

> help employees to be responsive and better prepared for change

VVvyvVyy

‘Team Talks’, which are held monthly, prowvide Carillion employees with
a face-to-face communication with their line managers and facilitate
two-way communication, discusston and feedback They focus on local
1ssues and key corporate messages (ne-to-one meetings between
individual employees and their line managers are also held to discuss
performance and progress in order to help all employees to develop
and reach their full potential

Employees can also exchange best practice information via
BusinessXchange on the Group intranet

Carillion seeks to involve all employees in its cutting edge programmes
to integrate safety into every aspect of the Group s operations and to
improve its environmental performance including the understanding
and application of the principles of sustainability Further information
on Health & Safety 1s given in the Group Chief Executive's review

on page 18 and on Sustainability in the Sustainability review on pages
34 to 37

Capital and shareholders

As at 31 December 2011 the issued share capial of the Company
compnised a single class of ordinary shares of 50 pence each Details
of shares 1ssued during the year and outstanding options are given in
Notes 23 and 25 on pages 82 and 83 to the consohdated financial
statements which form part of this report Details of the share
schemes in place are also provided on pages 52 to 53 of the
Remuneratton Report

On a show of hands at a general meeting of the Company every
holder of ordinary shares present in person or by proxy and entitled to
vote shall have one vote and, on a poll, every holder of ordinary shares
present in person or by proxy and entitied to vote, shall have one vote
for every ordinary share held

The notice of Annual General Meeting speciites deadlines for
exerasing voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to vote in
relation to resolutions o be put to the Annual General Meeting All
proxy votes are counted and the numbers for, against or withheld in
relation to each resolution are announced and published on the
Company's website after the meeting

There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the
Company other than in relation to certain restnctions that are
imposed from time to time by taws and regulations (for example
insider trading laws) In addition pursuant to the Listing Rules of
the Financaial Services Authority, Directars and certain officers and
employees of the Group require the approval of the Company to
deal in ordinary shares of the Company

The Company 15 not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that restrict the transfer of shares or vating nghts
attached to the shares
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Report of the Directors

continued

Substantial share interests

As at 29 February 2012 the Company had received formal notificaton
of the following holdings of voting nghts in its shares under the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Services Authority

Property

There are differences between market and book values of interest in
land held as fixed assets, however, the differences are not matenal in
relation to the affairs of the Group

; N %ofissued  Financial nstruments
Nature of nterest _share capdtalheld 1 roration on the Carillion Group's use of financial instruments,
Schroders plc Indirect 926  financal sk management objectives and policies and exposure is
Contracts for Difference 001  gwen in note 27 on pages 85 to 90 of the consolidated financial
Total 977 statements
Standard Life Investments Ltd In[;::gz: 35(1)%73, Directors” share interests
Ordinary shares
Total 818  The beneficial interests of the Directors, their immediate families and
Templeton Global Advisors Ltd Indirect 522 connected persons in the ordinary share capital of the Company as at
Ameriprise Financial, Inc and its group Direct 0063 31 December 2011 are shown below
Indirect 48322 As at As at
Total 4 885 Fully paid 50p 1 January 2011 31 December 2011
ordinary shares owned Number Number
F&C Asset Management plc Indirect 4 47
Executive Director
Legal & General Group Plc Direct 367 Richard Adam 138,019 232,203
HBOS plc Direct 125 Richard Howson 2,633 41,845
Indirect 2013  John McDonough** 635,093 780,844
Total 3263 Non-Executive Directors
UBS Investment Bank Direct 312 Philip Green* NA 10,000
Andrew Dougal* NA 5,000
Steve Mogford NIl Nil
Carillion has receved formal notification under the Disclosure and Vanda Mgrray 12 300 12 300
Transparency Rules that the two Eaga Partnership Trusts hold a Phillp Rogerson 39 630 39630

combined total of 25,511,644 Canllion pic shares representing

5 9 per cent of the Issued share capital These two Trusts provide
shares for the Canllion Energy Services’ Share incentive Plan

See page 53 for more details

Policy for payment of supplers

The Group's policy i1s that its individual businesses should agree terms
and condrtions for transactions with its supphers and that payment
be made on these terms, providing suppliers meet their obligations
to the businesses’ satisfaction The Group as a whole does not

apply a general payment policy as this would not be practicable or
appropriate, given the diverse nature of the transactions undertaken
by 1ts business units The Company does not have any trade creditors

The number of days credit outstanding for the Group averaged 67
days at 31 December 2011 (60 days at 31 December 2010)

Change of control

A number of agreements take effect alter or terminate upon a change
of control of the Company following a takeover bid such as toan
agreements and share incentive plans

Carlhon’s main credit faciliies including the £737 5 million Syndicated
Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility dated 4 February 2011 contain
a provision such that in the event of a change of control any lender
may within a 30-day consultation period and if it so requires notify
the Company that it wishes to cancel its commitment Any such
cancellation of commitment and the repayment of any outstanding
barrowings will occur on the date falling three days after the expiry

of the consultation penod

Chantable and political contrnibutions

Payments for charitable purposes made by the Group dunng the year
ended 31 December 2011 amounted to £200,000 (2010 £200,000)
The primary beneficianies of these chanitable donations were The
Transformation Trust, The Wildlife Trust, the British Occupational
Health Research Foundation, Business in the Community, CRASH,
RedR and Walking with Wounded

The Carllion Group also contributes more than one per cent of profits
per annum n cash or in-kind (staff ime on community projects) to
community activities and 15 a corporate member of Business In the
Community

The Company and its subsidiaries made no pohtical donations during
the period under review

* Philip Green was appanted to the Board on 1 June 2011 and Andrew Dougal on
3 Qctober 2011
** John McDonough retired from the Board and the Company on 31 December 2011

There has been no change in Directors’ interests in the period
1 lanuary 2012 to 29 February 2012

Addittonal information for shareholders

With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the
Company 1s governed by its Articles of Assoaation, the UK Corporate
Governance Code the Companes Act 2006 and related legisiation
The Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution of
the sharehotders The powers of the Board are described in the
Corporate Governance report on pages 43 to 48

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12 noon on 2 May 2012
at Austin Court, 80 Cambrnidge Street Birmingham B1 2NP The notice
of the Annual General Meeting accompanies this Annual Report

and Accounts

tncluded in the AGM business is the proposal to renew the authornty
for the Company to purchase its own shares As at 31 December 2011
the Company had authonty from shareholders for the purchase of

39 964,143 of its own shares

Auditor

Resolutions to reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditor and to authorise
the Directors to determine 1ts remuneration will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting

Approved by order of the Board

EJ-‘CK..Q'J T@P'O

RF Tapp
Secretary
29 February 2012

K:c..afd Tc\,f




Corporate Governance report

General principles

The Board is firmly commutted to high standards of corporate
governance During the year to 31 December 2011 as detailed below
and in the Remuneration report on page 49, the Company complied
fully with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code
{June 2010) The UK Corporate Governance Code 15 publicly available
at www frc org uk

Ethics and Business Integnity Policy

Canllion s committed to the preservation of its reputation and
integnity through compliance with applicable laws regulations and
ethical standards across all ternitonies in which 1t operates

Canllion’s clear and unequivocal approach to business integnity and
ethics underhes the Group's core values of openness, collaboration
mutual dependency, sustamable, profitable growth, professional
delivery and innovation The Ethics and Integrity Policy 1s designed
to ensure that Carillion conducts its business to the highest

ethical standards

The Ethics and Business Integrity Policy sets out the standards and
behaviours that all Cantlhon employees are expected to meet wherever
in the world we operate The way Canllion delivers this policy 1s
reflected in the way the Group competes for business and delvers its
services, focused on quality, value for money and the reliability and
reputation of 1ts employees

The policy 1s

Prohibition of fraud, bribery and corruption Canllion takes
extremely seriously the prevention and detection of fraud, bnibery
and corruption and any other fraudulent or corrupt activity 1t will
not tolerate them in any form The Board s fully commutted to
promoting a zero tolerance approach across the Canllion Group

Gifts and hospitality 1tis prohibited for a Canllion employee to offer
or recewve gifts or hospitality that could influence or be perceived to
be capable of influencing the outcome of transactions or decisions
relating to Canllion's business There 1s a Gifts and Hospitality Policy

Insider trading Those who have access to inside information are
advised of their responsibilities under the insider dealing rules
There s a Carilhon Insider Dealing Code

Conflicts of interest All Carlion employees must disclose or seek
direction on any issues that could potentially conflict with their
responsiblities to the Company There i1s a Conflicts of Interest Policy

Ethical procurement Carillion seeks to ensure that it maintains its
ethical standards and behaves respectfully when working with others
The relationships with Canllion’s suppliers and business partners are
based on the principle of fair and honest dealings at all imes and «n all
ways Canllion expects rts suppliers and business associates and joint
venture partners to extend the same high standards to all others with
whom they do business, including employees sub-contractors and
other third parttes There 1s a Purchasing and Supply Chain Code of
Ethics and a Sustainable Suppiier Charter

Competition Canllion plc, its subsidianes and associated companies
under Carllion control have a policy that all business activities are
carned out in full comphance with competiion laws — the laws

which pravent anti-competitive behaviour Competition law prevents
comparues from carrying out any activities that restrict competition
and makes legal activities such as price fuung, unfair pricing, market
sharing and refusal to supply customers There 1s a Competition
Compliance Guide
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Money laundening Cartllion aims to maintain high standards of
conduct by preventing cnminal activity through money laundering
There 15 a Money Laundering Policy

Respect for Human Rights Canllion supports the belief that human
rights are universal and adheres to the principles of human rights in its
operations Canllion supports the United Nations Declaration on
Human Rights and works hard to ensure that in all areas of interaction
with 1ts employees, clients, suppliers third parties, interviewees and
jomnt venture parties that everyone Is protected and treated absolutely
farrly Carillion has a Health & Safety Policy and an Equal Opportunities
and Diversity Policy

Law and regulation Canllion respects the rule of law i all our
dealings and has muimum standard compliance with alt law and
regulation to which its businesses are subject Carillion has legal
complhance programmes for

European Unmion and United Kingdom Competition Laws
Bribery Act 2010

Canadian Criminal Code C46

Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada)

VVvVy

Ethics and Compliance Office As a response to the introduction
of the Bribery Act 2010 the Ethics and Compliance Qffice was
established i1 2010 This Office rewews and monitors comphance
and ensures that Canllion mamntains high ethical standards It reports
to the Business Integnty Committee on key global compliance nisks
and functional activity

Reporting, disclosure and whistleblowing All of Carillion’s
employees have a responsibifity to protect Carillion’s assets, ncluding
information and goodwill as well as property Carllion encourages its
people to raise genumne concerns about malpractice at the earliest
possible stage and in the nght way There 1s a Whistleblowing Policy
and an Ethics and Bustness Integrity Incident Response Plan

This Ethics and Business Integnty Policy 1s applied by all Canlhon’s
business through a seres of detaled procedures They allow Carillion
to carry into practice its reputation for conducting business to the
highest ethucal standards, which are essential to its relationships with
customers, business partners, employees, shareholders and the publc
The detaled procedures reflect the way Carnlhon competes for
business, through the quality and value of its work and through the
rehabity and reputation of its people

The Ethics and Business Integrity Policy 1s overseen by the Business
Integnity Committee and its implementation is reviewed annually
by the Board

Directors
The Board

Main principle

There should be a ¢lear diviston of responsibilities at the head of
the Company between the running of the Board and the executive
responsibility for the running of the Company’s business No one
indmidual should have unfettered powers of decision

As part of their role as members of a unitary Board Non-Executive
Directors should constructively challenge and help develop proposals
on strategy

For the year beginning 1 January 2012, the Company 1s led by a

Board comprising two Executive and five Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and each of the Non-Executive Directors are considered
to be independent of management They each have substantial
relevant expertence and have no business or other relationship

that could matenally interfere with therr independent judgement
Phtlip Green 1s the Semor Independent Non-Executive Director
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Corporate Governance report

continued

Main principle
All Directors should be submitted for re-election at regular intervals
subject to continued satisfactory performance

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code all Directors
are subject to annual re-election

Main principle

The Board and 1its committees should have the appropriate balance

of skills, experience independence and knowledge of the Company
to enable them to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities
effectively

The Board should undertake a formal and rigorous annual
evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees and
individual Directors

In 2011 a detalled internal evaluation of the Board's corporate
governance procedures and compliance was conducted by the
Chairman in conjunction with the Company Secretary The internal
evaluation took Into account the views of each of the Directors on

(1) the role of Directors, (1) the collective and indvidual performance
of the Board and all its members, (iny Board Committees, (iv) leadership
and culture (v} Corporate Governance, {v1) Directors’ remuneration
{vin) relations with shareholders and (vi) Board accountability and
audit The Board, at its meeting in November 2011, reviewed the
results of the internal evaluation and where required, 1ssues were
acted upon in order to further enhance the effectiveness of the
Board's procedures and working practices Such an evaluation has
been conducted in each of the tast 10 years and will be repeated
annually In addition, the performance of each indwidual Director has
been reviewed

Main principle
The Chairman 1s responsible for feadership of the Board and ensuring
1ts effectiveness on all aspects of its role

The division of responsibiliies between the Chairman and the Group
Chief Executive encompasses the following parameters

> the pnmary job of the Chairman of a public company 1s to provide
continuity experience and governance while the Group Chief
fxecutlve provides teadership, energy, imagination and the driving
orce
> the Chairman is viewed by investors as the ultimate steward of the
business and the guardian of the interests of all the shareholders
Nonetheless, 1t I1s essential that the outline of their respective rales
encourages the Chairman and Group Chief Executive to work well
together to provide effective and complementary stewardship
> the Charrman must
— take overall responsibility for the composition and capability
of the Board
— consult reqularly with the Group Chief Executive and be available
on a flexible basis for providing advice, counsel and support to
the Group Chief Executive
» the Group Chief Executive must
— manage the Executive Directors and the Group’s day-to-day
activities
- prepare and present to the Board strategic options for growth
In shareholder value
- set the operating plans and budgets required to deliver the
agreed strategy
— ensure that the Group has In place appropriate nsk management
and control mechanisms

Main principle
All Directors should be able to allocate sufficient time to the Company
to discharge their responsibilities effectively

The Board had a programme of 10 meetings in 2011 and 1t also met on
an ad hoc basis as required

A formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board for consideration
and decision 1s maintained These matters include

> statutory issues such as the approval of final and intenim financial
statements and the recommendation of dividends

appointments to, and removals from the Board

the terms of reference and membership of Board committees
approval of Group strategy and annual budgets

approval of authority levels, financial and treasury policies
autherisation for any acquisition or dispesal

review of the internal control arrangements and nsk management
strateges

> review of corporate governance arrangements

VY VVYVYY

The Executive Directors and the Carnlhon subsidiary companies operate
within clearly defined Limits of authanity delegated by the Board

and any matters cutside of these hmits must be referred to the Board
for consideration

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who Is responsible
to the Board for ensuring that agreed procedures and applicable rules
and regulations are observed The Board approves the appointment
and removal of the Company Secretary

Any Director may in furtherance of his duties, take independent
professional advice when necessary, at the expense of the Company

The Board i1s provided with regular and timely information on the
finanaial perfermance of businesses within the Group, and of the
Group as a whole together with reports on trading matters, markets
Health & Safety sustainability and other relevant issues

In pursuit of best practice, the Carnllion plc Board regularly receives
presentations on governance and regulatory matters In February
2012, Richard Alderman, Director of the Senous Fraud Office,
attended a Board meeting to discuss the Bribery Act 2010 and related
anti-corruption 1ssues and the Group's respanse to this legislation
through risk assessment, training and comphance processes

Attendance at meetings in 2011
The number of scheduled Board and Commuttee meetings attended by
each Director during 2011 was as follows

Business

Audit Remuneration Nominations Integnty

Board Committee Comnmittee  Committee Committee
Number of meetings held 10 4 4 5 3
Richard Adam 10 - - - -
Dawvid Garman® 4 1 1 2 -
Richard Howson 10 - - -
Dawvid Maloney” 7 3 2 4 -
John McDonough 10 - - 5 -
Steven Mogford 10 4 4 5 3
Vanda Murray 10 4 4 5 3
Philip Rogerson 10 - - 5 3
Philip Green* 6 3 3 3 -
Andrew Dougal** 2 1 1 - -

* David Garman stood down from the Board in May 2011

** David Maloney stoed down from the Board in October 2011
# Philip Green was appeinted ta the Board in June 2011

## Andrew Dougal was appomted to the Board .n October 2011

Board Committees

The pnncipal Board Committees are the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit Committee, the Norminations Committee and the Business
Integrity Committee The Company Secretary acts as secretary

to each of these committees The terms of reference of each of

the Board Commyttees are available on the Carnllion website at
www carillonplc com or on request from the Company Secretary




Remuneration Committee
Vanda Murray Chairman
Andrew Dougal

Philip Green

Steven Mogford

The Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors and determines and makes recommendations on the Group's
remuneration policy and framework to recruit, retain and reward
Executive Directors and semior executives

Main princaple

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration
packages of individual Directors No Director should be involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration

The Remuneration Committee Is assisted in its work by Susan Morton,
Group HR Director and by the Group Chief Executive The Group
Chief Executive 1s consulted on the remuneration of those who report
directly to hum and also of other senior executives No Executive
Director or employee 15 present or takes part in discussions in respect
of matters relating directly to their own remuneration

Further details on remuneration 1ssues are given on pages 49 to 53

Main principle
The Board should present a baftanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s position and prospects

Audit Committee
Andrew Dougal, Chairman
Philip Green

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Audit Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors All members of the Audit Committee have recent and
relevant financial experience Appointments to the Commiitee are
made by the Board

Andrew Dougal 1s a Chartered Accountant and was appointed to

the Audit Committee in October 2011 Andrew held a number of
senior executive positions, in¢luding Chief Executive of Hanson plc,
the internationat building matenals company, after its demerger from
Hanson, the Anglo-Amencan diversified industnal group, where he
was Finance Director Andrew s Chairman of the Audit Committee of
Creston plc and a member of the Premier Farnell ple Audit Committee
He has previously been Audit Commitiee Chairman at Taylor Wimpey
plc and Taylor Woodrow plc

Philip Green was appointed to the Audit Committee m June 2011
Philip was Cihtef Executive of United Utilities Group plc from 2006

to 2011 His earlier business experience includes serving as Chief
Executive of Royal P&O and Chief Operating Officer at Reuters Group

Steve Mogford was appainted to the Audit Committee in September
2006 Steve s Chief Executive Officer of United Utlittes Prior to this
appointment, Steve was Chief Executive of Selex Galileo Ltd

Vanda Murray was appointed to the Audit Committee in july 2005
Vanda 1s Chairman of Vphase plc and a Non-Executive Director of
Fenner plc, Chemning Group plc, Microgen plc and The Manchester
Asrport Group pic
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Nomunations Committee
Philip Rogerson Chairman
Andrew Dougal

Philip Green

Richard Howson

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Commuttee reviews the structure, size, composition balance

of skills knowledge and expenence of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes that are
deemed desirable The Commuttee also reviews succession planning
to ensure that processes and plans are in place with regard to both
Board and senior appointments

Nomination of Directors

Main principle
There should be a formal ngorous and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board

The appointment of a Director i1s a matter for resofution by the Board
as 3 whole, taking advice from the Nominations Committee

For Board appointments the Nominations Committee has used the
services of the executive recruitment consultants Odgers Berndtson
Details of potential candidates are provided by the consultants and
initrally reviewed by a sub-committee of the Nominations Committee
Meetings with selected candidates are then held with the Directors
Subsequently, the Nominations Committee meets to recommend an
appointment, which is then proposed to the Board far approval

The fees of Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board as a
whole, taking into account the commitment required and parucipation
in the work of committees and other advisory services in relation to
the business of the Group In advising the Board on such fees, it s

the policy of the Executive Directors to seek independent external
advice concerning the appropriateness of the amounts by comparson
with general practice The level of fees currently payable to the
Non-Executive Directors 15 based on independent external advice

The remuneration of the Directors 1s dealt with in the Remuneration
report on pages 49 to 53

Women on Boards

The Board noted the publication of the Davies Review on Women on
Boards in February 2011 and the subseguent consultation undertaken
by the Financial Reporting Council in relation to potential changes

to the UK Corporate Governance Code Canllion recogrises the
importance of gender diversity throughout the Group Currently, one
of Canllion’s seven Board members 1s female The Board aims to have
a broad range of skills backgrounds and expenence While Canllion
will continue to follow a policy of ensuring that the best people are
apparnted for the relevant roles the benefits of greater diversity are
recogrused and will continue to be taken account of when considering
any particular appointment
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Business Integrity Committee
Philip Rogerson Chairman
Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Committee reviews and oversees the implementation of the
Group’s Ethics and Business fntegrity Policy, monitors the Group’s
comphance with relevant legislation such as the Bribery Act 2010 and
the Competition Act 2006, ensures that the Group’s communication
and training programmes on ethics and business integrity are effective
in reinforcing ethical values and good practice, and reviews the policies
and practice in respect of business ethics and integrity in relation to
the commencement of operations in any new country or ternitory in
which the Company has not previously operated

The terms of reference of the Remuneration, Audit, Nominauons and
Business Integrity Committees can be found on the Company s website
www carnllionplc com

Other Board matters

Policy on external appointments

Recognising that external appeintments can broaden experience and
knowledge and so be of benefit to the Company Executive Directors are
permitted, at the discretton of the Board, 1o accept a hmited number of
such appointments and retain the fees received for such appointments

Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors
will submit themselves for election or re-election at the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 2 May 2012 The Directors seeking
electron are Andrew Dougal and Philip Green and thaose seeking
re-electon are Richard Adam Richard Howson, Steve Mogford,
Vanda Murray and Philip Rogerson All have been subject to formal
performance evaluation and are effective members of the Board who
are committed to the role and to the time required for Board and
where applicable Committee meetings and any other duties required
of them

The service contracts of the Executive Directors and the letters of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are avallable for
inspection at the registered office of the Company duning normal
business hours on any weekday (bank holidays excepted) and at the
Annual General Meeting

Induction and development of Directors

Main principle
All Directors should recewe induction on joining the Board and should
regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge

The Board should be suppled in a timely manner with information in
a form and of a quality appropriate to enable 1t to discharge 1ts duties

Directors are provided with a comprehensive information pack on
joining the Company and are advised of their legal and other duties
and obligations as a director of a listed cornpany In addition afl new
Directors receive induction on their appointment covering such matters
as the operation and activittes of the Group, the role of the Board and
the Company’s corporate governance procedures Directors are also
briefed by the Company's external advisers, where appropriate, on
changes to legislation or regulation or market practice as well as
receving briefings from business urits throughout the year

The regular updating of Directors’ skills and knowledge 15 encouraged,
including in relation to environmental, sustainability and governance
matters, and a procedure has been established whereby the Company
Secretary is notified by Directors of their requirements in this respect
Training for Directors 1s kept under review during the year

At least once a year the Board visits an operational site and n june
2011, the Directors visited the Group s operations in Canada Directors
also visit other operations and meet a wide range of employees

Relatrons with shareholders

Main principle

There should be a dialogue with shareholders based on the mutual
understanding of objectives The Board as a whole has responsibility
for ensuring that a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders takes place

The Board should use the AGM to communicate with investors and
to encourage their participation

In addrtson to communicating with shareholders generally from time
to time, the Executive Directors and the Director of Group Corporate
Affairs meet regularly with representatives of major shareholders in
order to foster the mutual understanding of objectives Meetings are
also held with other shareholders and prospective shareholders The
detalls of these meetings are repoarted to the Board The Chairman and
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director are available for meetings
with representatives of major shareholders as required

The Chairman and Company Secretary also meet with major
shareholders and fund managers to discuss governance matters

Private and institutional shareholders are encouraged to attend the
Company’s Annual General Meeting

The Company complies fully with the prowisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code In respect of the netice, content of agenda and
conduct of its Annual General Meetings The Chairmen of the
Remuneration and Audit Committees will be present at the Annual
General Meeting on 2 May 2012 to respond to shareholders’ questions

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has in attendance at meetings by invitation

of the Committee, Executive Diractors, represantatives of the external
auditors (KPMG Audit Plc), the Group Head of Risk and the Head of
Internal Audit It is also able to invite others as It requires from time
to time The Committee also meets privately with both the external
and nternal auditors

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include

> the review of the annual and intenm financial statements

> consideration of the impact of changes to accounting regulations
and the financial and accounting policies of the Canllion Group

> compliance with statutory and other external requirements

> reviewing the role of the internal audit function and the results
of its audit work and the response of management

> reviewing the scope and results of the external audit and its
cost-effectiveness

> ensuring that the internal and external audit functions are
complementary

> monitoring the independence and objectivty of the external
audrtars and ensuring that the services provided (including
non-audit services) provide a proper balance between objectivity
and value for money

> recommending to the Board the external auditors to be proposed
to shareholders for appointment

The Committee I1s authonsed by the Board to (1) seek any information
necessary to fulfil its duties, (n) call any member of staff to be
questioned at a meeting of the Committee as and when required
and (i) obtain external professional advice at the Company’s
expense which might be necessary for the fulfilment of 1ts duties



Marn activities of the Audit Committee in the year

to 31 December 2011

In 2011, the Committee met on four occasions and dealt with the
following matters

internal audit reports including control of nsk

annual and intenm financial statements

KPMG Audrt Plc audit review

2011 external audit plan

2011 and 2012 internal audit plans

review of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
reappointment of KPMG Audit Plc

the external audit fee

V¥V VVVYVYVY

An evaluation of the external audit function was undertaken and
considered by the Audit Committee, following which the Committee
recommended to the Board the reappaintment of KPMG Audit Pic
as auditor to the Company and for it to be put to sharehelders in
general meeting

The members of the Committee receive fees as Non-Executive
Directors which also reflact their membership of the Audit Committee
and other Board committees The Chairman of the Audit Committee
recerves an additional fee for this role Details of remuneration are
given on page 50

Internal controls

Main princaple

The Board s responsible for determining the nature and extent of the
significant risks 1t 15 walling to take in achieving 1ts strategic objectives
The Board should maintain sound risk management and internal
control systems

The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for
considering how they should apply the corporate reporting and risk
management and internal control principles and for maintaining an
appropriate relationship with the company’s auditor

The Board 1s ultimately responsible for the Group's system of internal
control This responsibility includes clearly determining the control
envirgnment and reviewing annually the effectiveness of the internal
control system However, such a system can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or [0ss

In accordance with the Turnbull Guidance for Directors “Internal
Control Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’, the Board
confirms that there 1s an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant nisks {both financial and non-financral
and including Corporate Soaal Responsibility risks) faced by the
Group (Including Joint Ventures and overseas businesses) The process
has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts and 1s regularly reviewed
by the Board
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Assurance over the design and operation of internal controls across
the Group Is provided through a combination of techniques

> Internal Audit carnes out audits to assess the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls over the key risks faced by the
business and reports its findings to management, the Executive
Dwrectors and the Audit Committee The Audit Plan is presented
to and approved by the Audit Committee annually

> recommendations to improve the system of control are made by
Internal Audit The implementation of these recommendations 15
followed up and reported on quarterly

> Internal Audit independently reviews the nisk dentification
procedures and control processes implemented by management

> a process of Control Risk Self-Assessment 1s used in the Group
where Directors and senior managers are required to detall and
certify controls in operation to ensure the control environment in
their business areas 15 appropriate They also confirm annually, in
writing that risk management pracesses and appropriate controls
are in place and are operating effectively

> Internal Audit advises on aspects of the design and application
of internal controls in key business projects and on policy and
procedure changes

Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee on a regular basis

The Audit Committee reviews the assurance procedures and

ensures that the level of confidence required by the Board 1s

obtained It also ensures the financial reporting process is credible
and reliable The Audit Committee presents its findings to the Board
regularly and the Head of Interna! Audit has direct access to the Audit
Committee members

Any significant internal contral 1ssues would be disclosed in this report
On the basis of the assurances given in 2011, no disclosures in this
respect are required

Risk management

The Board Is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the Group’s
systems for nsk management are appropriate and operating effectively
However, such a system can provide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance aganst matenal misstatement or loss

The Group Head of Risk i1s responsible for adwvising on strategic rnisk
1ssues across the Group and for oversight of nisk tratming The Group
Head of Risk 15 also responsible for carrying out an independent
appraisal of all projects before submission to the Major Projects
Committee (see page 48) This appraisal ensures that the
differentiating factors of the Group's offer have been properly
identified, thus maximising the opportunities availlable, 1t also
mvolves ensuning that all inherent and residual risks associated

with the project have been properly identified and considered

Management is responsible for the identrfication and evaluation of
significant nsks applicable to its areas of business together with the
design, operation and monitoning of surtable internal controls These
risks are assessed on a continual basis and may be associated with a
variety of internal or external sources including control breakdowns,
disruption 1n information systems, competition, corporate social
responsibility natural catastrophes and regulatery requirements
Management 1s supported in this process by a system of ‘peer reviews’,
under which the performance of individual contracts is reviewed by
experienced teams drawn from outside of the business unit responsible
for the contract in question Management s also responsible for imely
and accurate reporung of business performance and for ensurning
comphance with the policies set by the Board in its areas of business
Regular performance review meetings are held where management
reports to the Executive Directors on business performance, rnisk and
internal control matters The results of these meetings are presented to
the Board
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The Major Projects Committee, a committee of the Board, acts as the
sanctioning body for major commitments and transactions (including
capital expenditure, major contracts and company and business
acquisitions and disposals This Committee has delegated authority up
to specified levels of risk as determined by a risk assessment matrix,
beyond which Board approval is required

In addstion, practical guidance for all staff 1s maintained in Group
policy and procedure documents regarding the autharisation levels
for commitments contract selectivity and bidding, the provision of
guarantees and management accounting as well as reporting and
resclution of suspected fraudulent activities

The Board has a policy to prosecute individuals found to have
defrauded the Company or its subsidiaries To mintmise the occurrence
of fraud, learning points for management are identified and action
plans implemented

Employees are encouraged to raise genuine concerns about
matpractice at the earhest possible stage and a confidential
wWhistleblowing hotline provided by an independent third party
15 availlable

A maonthly report on 1ssues raised on the Whistleblowing hotiine and
subseguent investgations I1s compiled by the Whistleblowing and Fraud
Commttee and forwarded to the Board

The Executive Directors report to the Board on material changes in
the business and the external environment that affect significant risks
The Group Finance Director provides the Beard with regular financial
nformation, which includes key performance indicators and a
summary of nsk These key performance indicators and risks are
listed in the Group Chief Executive’s review on pages 16 to 23
Where areas for improvement are identified, the Board considers

the recommendations made by both the Executive Directers and the
Audit Committee

Audit independence

The Audit Commuttee and Board place great emphasis on the
objectivity of the Group's auditor, KPMG Audit Plc, in their reporting
to shareholders

The KPMG Audit Director 1s present at Audit Committee meetings
to ensure full communication of matters relating to the audit

The overall performance of the auditor 15 reviewed annually by the
Audit Committee who take into account the views of management
Feedback Is then provided to serior members of KPMG unrelated to
the audit This activity also forms part of KPMG's own system of
quality control The Audit Commuttee also has discussions with the
auditor, without management being present, on the adequacy of
cantrols and on any judgemental areas These discussions have
proved satisfactory to date

The scope of the farthcoming year’s audit 1s discussed in advance by
the Audit Committee Audit fees are reviewed by the Audit Committee
after discussions between the businesses and the local KPMG offices
and are then referred to the Board for approval Rotation of audit
directars’ responsibilities within KPMG 1s required by their profession’s
ethical standards The current Audit Director responsible for the
Canlhon engagement 1s 1n his third year of signing the report

There 15 also rotation of key members within the audit team

Assignments awarded to KPMG and its associates have been and are
subject to controls by management that have been agreed by the
Audit Committee so that audit independence 1s not compromised

In summary, the procedures are

> audit related services as auditor this s the main area of work of
KPMG and s associates If any addiional accounting support 1s
required then this 15 considered competitively

> tax consulting in cases where they are best suited, Carillion uses
KPMG and 1ts associates but the Group also uses other tax
consultancies

> general and systems consulting alt significant consulting projects
are subject to competitive tender

Other than audit, the Group Finance Director is required te give prior
approval of work carried out by KPMG and its associates in excess of a
predetermined threshold part of this review 15 to determine that other
potential prowiders of the services have been adequately considered

These controls provide the Audit Committee with adequate canfidence
in the iIndependence of KPMG In their reporting on the audit of the
Group

Health & safety and sustamability

A review of the Group’s progress on Health & Safety is provided in
the Group Chief Executive's review on page 18 and the Group’s
Sustainability performance 1s contained in the Sustainability review
on pages 34 to 37

ZCC4J72iﬁﬂ

R F Tapp
Secretary
29 February 2012




Remuneration report

This report explains what we pay to the Directors of Carillion plc
and why It has been prepared on behalf of the Board by the
Remuneration Committee It will be presented for approval at
the Annual General Meeting on 2 May 2012 and Vanda Murray,
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee, will be avalable to
answer shareholders’ questions

Remuneration Committee members and advisers

The Remuneration Committee consists exdusively of independent
Non-Executive Directors, Vanda Murray, Steve Mogford, Philip Green
and Andrew Dougal Its terms of reference can be found on the
Company's website www canllionplc com The Commuittee determines
policy for remuneration of the Executive Directors of Carillion plc and
key members of the senior management team

The Remuneration Commuttee is assisted 0 11s work by Susan Maorton
Group HR Dwrector and by Richard Howson, Group Chief Executve
The Group Chief Executive Is consulted on the remuneration of those
who report directly to lum and also of other senior executives No
Executive Director or employee 15 present or takes part in discussions
in respect of matters relating directly to their own remuneration

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee uses Deloitte LLP to provide
salary survey and benchmarking information and external and internal
contextual information and analysis as required The Remuneration
Committee tock into account the Remuneration Consultants Group's
Code of Conduct when appointing Deloitte as adviser to the
Remuneration Committee Deloitte’s fees for providing such advice
amounted to approximately £40 600 (2010 £8,500) for the year
ended 31 December 2011 The Remuneration Committee assesses
from time to time whether this appointment remains appropnate or
should be put out to tender The Remuneration Committee undertook
such an assessment duning the year and remains satisfied with
Deloitte’s appointment as adwisers to the Committee Deloitte, which
was appointed in 2005, also provides certain specialist consultancy
services but otherwise has no other connections with the Group

The Committee adopts the principles of good governance as set

out in the UK Corporate Governance Code and complies with the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authonty and the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 1t met four umes during the
year and all members attended all meetings

Remuneration philosophy

Main principle

Levels of remuneration should be sufficent to attract, retain and
motivate Directors of the quality required 1o run the Company
successfully, but a company should avoid paying more than s
necessary for this purpose A significant proportion of Executive
Directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards
to corporate and individual performance

Canllon’s remuneration philosophy 1s that reward should be used to
incantivise Executive Directors in a manner that is consistent with the
Group's objectives and

{1 supports 1ts strategic objective of attracting, developing and
retaining exceltent people and encouraging them to work in hne
with Canlhion’s values

(n) ahgns the interests of the Directors with those of shareholders
and other stakeholders As a result, a substantial proportion of
Executive Directors’ remuneration 1s vanable

(m) apphes demanding performance conditions to deliver sustained
profitable growth

{iv) has due regard to actual and expected market conditions, and

{) ncludes achieving high standards in respect of Canllion’s Health
& Safety, environmental and sooial performance targets

Remuneration and other benefits are rewiewed annually with regard
to competitive market practice, external independent surveys {(where
considered appropnate) and pay and employment conditions of
employees elsewhere in the Company
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Elements of remuneration

Basic salary

Thus 1s reviewed annually, taking account of individual expenence and
performance and by reference to information provided by independent
sources The Remuneration Commttee has adepted a policy of setting
basic salary within the market range of salaries for equivalent roles
and expects to pay around the median when the indwvidual has been
performung in the role for a reasonable penod of time

Satary increases for Executive Directors in 2011 were zero during
the finanaial year under review 1n line with pay for other senior
employees On his appomtment as Group Chief Executive on

1 January 2012, Richard Howson's salary increased by 45 per cent
to £560,000 Richard Adam’s salary will increase by 10 per cent to
£450,000 on t July 2012 to reflect his increased responsibilities
The increases for Richard Howson and Richard Adam coincide with
the retrement of lohn McDonough and the total for Executive
Directors reduces from £1 425 000 to £1,010,000

Annual performance bonus and deferred bonus plan

The bonus plan s designed to drive and reward excellent operational
performance linking the interests of shareholder and partiopants by
paying one half of the bonus in cash immediately and investing the
other half in shares of the Company for a two-year deferment

For bonuses granted in respect of 2012 onwards the deferment
penod will increase to three years with the addition of a “claw-back”
provision The Company may claw-back any deferred bonus awards
which have not yet vested 1n relation to circurnstances of corporate
failure which may have occurred at any time before claw-back operated

Long-term share incentives

These require and reward exceptional performance based on
performance targets that are ahgned to the interests of shareholders
Awards are made under the Canllion plc Long Term Incentive Plan
2006, known internaily as the Leadership Equity Award Plan ( LEAP)
Each Executive Director 1s required to hold shares acquired through
LEAP untl the value of their total shareholding 1s equal to their annual
salary ‘Good leavers’ during the performance penod recewe a pro-rata
award at the normal release date provided the plan meets its
performance requirements

Following shareholder consultation, new performance targets for
2012 are to be introduced which take account of the changed profile
of the Group and market conditions since 2006 which 1s when the
targets were last changed EPS will remain as a measure (without
reference to RPI) with an additional average annual cash flow
conversion target added The total maximum incentive opportunity
remains at 150 per cent but the award at threshold performance will
reduce from 30 per cent to 25 per cent of salary

Carilion share incentives comply with the share dilution guidelines

Pension benefits

The Company offers competitive defined contribution pensions to all
Executive Directors Pensionable salary is limited by an internal cap and
salary supplements are paid on earnings above the cap

Other benefits
These include a car or car allowance by indvidual choice and
private healthcare
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2011 Remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors of Canllion ple for the year ended 31 December 2011 1s set out In the table below This is audited information

Annual perlormance bonus

Basic Shares deferred Qther
salarytiees Cash two years benefits Total 2014 Total 2010
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Richard Adam 408 189 188 166 951 663
Richard Howson 385 178 178 161 902 632
lohn McDonough 632 632 - 239 1,503 1022
Total for Executive Directors 1,425 999 366 566 3,356 2,323
David Garman 21 - - - 21 61
David Maloney 49 - - - 49 58
Steve Mogford 48 - - - 48 48
Vanda Murray 55 - - - 55 48
Philip Rogerson 189 - - - 189 188
Phillp Green 34 - - - 34 -
Andrew Dougal 15 - - - 15 -
Total for Non-Executive Directors an - - - a1 403
Total for all Directors 1,836 999 366 566 3,767 2,726

(3 There are na long-term benefits other than pensions (see pages 51 and 52} and share incentives (see pages 52 to 53)

(1) Induded in Other benefits 15 a salary supplement for John McDonough of £167 899 (2010 £168 210) for Richard Adam of £92 500 {2010 £$2 812) and for Richard Howson of £84 773
{2010 £64 921) in respect of salary over the internal pensions earnings cap Also included in Gther benefits 15 an allowance for Richard Adam in place of contnbutions to the Canllion Pension
Plan on earnings up to the internal earnings cap of £39 810 (2010 £ml) from Apnl 2011 onwards

(m) The Board detesmines 1he fees of the Non-Executive Directors based on independent external advice

(v} 50 per cent of the bonus 15 payable In cash and the batance deferred for two years in Canllion shares until March 2014 There 1s no requirement for John McDonough to defer 50 per cent of his
2011 bonus His deferred bonus payments from 2009 and 2010 vested early m lanuary 2012 following his retrement on 31 December 2011

(v) Don Kenny was a Director of the Company untill he stood down from the Boarg on 31 August 2010 Mr Kenny s salary and benefits in 2010 of £679 000 are not included in the 2010
comparatve figures

2011 Bonus Plan

In 2011, Executive Directors had the opportunity to earn up to 100 per cent of their basic salary through the bonus plan comprising up to 25 per
cent for personal objectives and 75 per cent for finanaial objectives Awards under the personal element are based on delwery against clear
objectives closely aligned to the strategic aims of the Company

The personal objectives of the Executive Directors were agreed by the Remuneration Commuttee at their 2 December 2010 meeting and assessed
at 23 February 2012 {o establish the extent to which they had been met The objectives and a summary of the extent to which they were met are
shown below and resulting bonuses are shown in the table above

John McDonough

> Progress the Group’s strategy tn line with the Group’s published objectives including the rescaling of the UK Construction business and
supporting growth in the Group's International businesses and UK support services

> Drive contract selactivity and risk management processes to deliver cash-backed profit

> Lead and delver the ongoing succession plan for the Chief Executive’s role

John exceeded all of his performance objectives and earned 100 per cent of his basic salary through the bonus plan, comprising 25 0 per cent
and 75 O per cent for personal cbjectives and finanaal objectives respectively

Richard Howson

> Lead the Group s Health and Safety strategy and programmes and make progress towards Target Zero, Carillion's objective of achieving zero
reportable acadents

> Lead and deliver an ongoing succession plan In consultation with the Executive Directors, to ensure that we have strong and effective business
units and contract management teams

> Demonstrate professional engagement with Carnllon’s key customers and suppliers

Richard met all and exceeded some of his performance objectves and earned 92 5 per cent of his basic salary through the bonus plan
comprising 17 5 per cent and 75 O per cent for personal objectives and financial objectives respectively

Richard Adam

> Achieve 2011 targeted net debt, average net debt, and underlying profit before tax, consistent with the Group’s prudent approach to
managing profit and cash

> Complete the refinancing of the Group’s banking facilities in 2011

> Delver the 'Step Up' programme 1o achieve efficency, quality and cost reduction targets to support margin improvement in 2011

Richard met all and exceeded some of his performance objectives and earned 92 S per cent of his basic salary through the bonus plan,
comprnising 17 5 per cent and 75 0 per cent for personal objectives and financial objectives respectively

The financial element is determined by cutstanding performance against stretchung targets based on growth in earnings per share The 2011
Bonus Plan imits the amount of any award that may ba taken in cash to 50 per cent of the bonus earned overall The balance 15 deferred into
shares of the Company that are held in trusi and vest after two years The number of shares allocated 1s determined by the price prevaiing at

the date of bonus award and, by using this mechanism, the value individuals receive at the point of vesting 1s aligned to the value delivered to
shareholders over the same period The bonuses awarded to the Executive Directors in respect of 2011 are shown in the remuneration table
above (half of these benefits being paid in cash in 2012 and the balance deferred to March 2014 except as noted above) Tax and Matonal
Insurance 15 calculated on the deferred element based on the value of the shares at the vesting date and paid at that peint For bonuses in respect
of 2012 onwards the requirement to defer extends to three years with a daw-back provision that allows the Group to recover all or part of the
deferred element of the bonus in relation to arcumstances of corporate failure over the three-year deferral
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Similar deferral mechanisms (excluding claw-back) have operated 1n respect of earlier years During 2011 the following deferred bonus
shareholdings vested

Bonus year Number of shares
Richard Adam 2008 108 800
Rechard Howson 2009 14 337
John McDonough 2008 168,640

The price prevailing en the above shares at the date of award was 250 pence (2008 bonus) and 318 6 pence (2009 bonus) At the vesting date of
the bonuses the share price was 368 4 pence for the 2008 bonus and 368 4 pence for the 2009 bonus

Pension benefits

In April 2009, the Company closed the Canllion ‘B’ and Staff Pension Schemes to future accrual and the Executive Directors who were members
of this scheme became deferred pensioners, their deferred benefits being based on pensionable salary and service at the date of dlosure Pension
accrual in respect of service after 2009 has been on a defined cantribution basis and benefits are delivered through the Canllion 2009 Pension
Plan This s a trust-based, contracted-in defined contnibution plan set up for former members of the closed defined benefit schemes Pension
benefits for Executive Directors who were not members of the defined benefit arrangements are delivered through the Carilion Pension Plan
which 1s also a trust based, contracted-in defined contribution arrangement

Defined benefit pensions accruing duning 2011 to Executive Directors in their capacity as Directors of Carillion plc are set out below This is
audited information

Accrued

pension at Increase in Value of

31 December accrued pension
201 pension accrued Increase in
Accrued less accrued over year dunng transfer value
pension at pension at including 20m over year
31 December 31 December inflation less member Transter value Transfer value after member
2011002 2010 allowance centnbutions at start of year at end of year™  contnibutions®
£ per annum £ per annum £ per annum £ £ £ £
Richard Howson 23,909 963 - - 172 802 2198990 47,188
John McDonough 32,955 (1 596) - - 702 957 935,922 232,965

(1) The pension figures assume that CPl (rather than RPH applies to revalue deferred benefits from 1 January 2011
(2} For John McDonough the accrued pension 1s at 8 November 2011 {his pension retirement date)
(3) Figures based on market conditions at 31 December 2011

The total number of Directors to whom retrement benefits accrued during the year was 2 (2010 3)

The Group makes contributions of 40 per cent of the internal earnings cap to the defined contribution plans on behalf of the Executive Directors
in respect of earnings up to the internal earnings cap Executive Directors are required to pay 10 per cent of the earnings cap As Richard Adam
had used all of his Life Time Allowance for tax free pension accrual at April 2011, he elected to receve the contribution the Group would have
made to the Carillicn Pension Plan on his behalf as a taxable allowance instead, as provided for in the terms of his contract

The contnbutions made to defined contnbution pension plans on behalf of the Directors are set out In the table below This s audited
information

Plan Asmount £
Richard Adam Carnlhion Pension Plan* 13,270
Richard Howson Canllion 2009 Pension Plan 53 080
John McDonough Canllion 2009 Pension Plan 41,189

* Penod to 3% March 2011 only

Death in service benefits are provided as part of membership of these plans Where applicable, the value of these benefits 1s also disclosed in the
table above

The Company agreed with the Trustees of the Canllion pension schemes to continue to operate an earnings cap after April 2006 when the external
cap was removed The Canllion cap commenced at the level of £110 000 for the tax year 2006-07 and rose in line wath the published increases in
HMRC’s Life Time Allowance up until 2011 1n line with the table below Future increases are at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee

Year Capf
2010-11 132 700
201112 132700

All the Executive Directors wall be subject to this cap on salary in respect of their pensionable pay Bonus and other benefits receved by Executive
Directors do not count towards pensionable pay

In addition a salary supplement of 33 6 per cent s paid in respect of earnings over the internal cap in place of the contnbutions the Company
would have made towards pension provision had the cap not been in place Salary supplements are taxed at source

No compensation was provided in respect of the change 1o the Annual Allowance effective from 6 April 2011, the pension benefit structure for
Executive Directors remains unchanged To the extent that the joint contnbutions to the pension plans exceed £50,000 for indimduals and they
consent to the arrangement, the Company will divert excess contributions inte gross pay (subject ta tax and national insurance contributions)
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Remuneration report

continued

The Company does not contribute to any pension arrangements for Non-Executive Directors

Service contracts

Name Commencement Notice Period Term
Richard Adam 2 April 2007 12 months roling
Richard Howson 10 December 2009 12 months roling

Executive Drectors have no additional entitlement to compensation for loss of office Serwice contracts contain provision for early termination
and in such cases, the Remuneration Cormmittee will consider the speafic circumstances together with the Company's commitments under the
individual's contract

Non-Executive Directors are not employed under contacts of service, but are generally appointed for fixed terms of three years renewable for
further terms of one to three years, if both parties agree

Long-term {share) incentives

The Leadership Equity Award Plan ('LEAP')

The LEAP 15 offered to key people in the Company to provide an opportunity to earn a potentially hugher level of reward but only where there 1s
commitment from those individuals and stretching performance targets are met

In any financial year, Executive Directors may receive an award under the LEAP over shares worth 150 per cent of therr basic annual salary
(excluding bonuses and benefits in kind), other semior executives may receive an award under the LEAP over shares worth up to 100 per cent of
thewr basic annual salary The extra 50 per cent awarded to Executive Directors will only vest if exceptional performance 1s achveved In exceptional
arcumstances a first award of up to 200 per cent of salary can be made under the rules Thereafter the maximum opportunity will be 150 per
cent of basic salary

Under the terms of the LEAP, awards of ordinary shares in the Company can be made for ni) consideration

All awards are subject te a mimmum three-year performance pertod from the date of the award The vesting of the shares 15 subject to the
relevant participant remaining in employment and the achievement of specified stretching performance conditions based on annual average
growth in earnings per share above the Retail Price Index 'Good leavers’ during the performance period receive a pro-rata award at the normal
release date prowided the plan meets its performance requirements The progression is inear between each of the target levels specified The
performance condition for awards made up to and including those in April 2011 are as follows

Growth in earnings per share

Level 1 RPI + 3% pa 30% vests
Level 2 RPi + 7% pa 50% wvests
Level 3 RPl + 12% pa 100% vests
Level 4 RPI + 25% pa Extra S0% vests

Levels 1 to 3 apply to all participants, level 4 applies to the Executive Directors

Awards were made in July 2006, April 2007, Aprid 2008 Apnl 2009, March 2010 and Apnl 2011 At 31 December 2011 a total of 2 874,584
shares were outstanding under the LEAP

New performance targets for 2012 are to be introduced which take account of the changed profile of the Group and market conditions since
2006 which 1s when the targets were last changed EPS will remain as a measure {without reference to RPI) with an additional average annual
cash flow conversion target added The total maximum incentive opportunity remains at 150 per cent but the award at threshold performance
will reduce from 30 per cent to 25 per cent of salary

The awards held by Executive Directors of the Company under LEAP as at 31 December 2011 are shown below This 1s audited information

As at LEAP Awards  Awards/options Asat Mid-market
1 lanuary awardsgranted  vestingduring  Japsing during 31 December share price on
2011 dunng the year the year the year 20m Date of date of award
Number Number Number Number Number award Pence
John McDonough
LEAP 2008 (maximumy) 242,187 - 128,359 113,828 Nil 040408 3838
LEAP 2009 {maximum} 366,963 - - - 366,963 0704 09 252 25
LEAP 2010 (maximum) 297,740 - - - 297,740 170310 3186
LEAP 2011 {maximum} Nl 246,774 - - 246774 080411 3844
Richard Adam
LEAP 2008 (maximumy) 156,250 - 82,812 73 438 Nil 040408 3838
LEAP 2009 (maximum} 236,750 - - - 236750 0704 09 252 25
LEAP 2010 {(maximum) 192,090 - - - 192 090 170310 3186
LEAP 2011 (maximum) Nil 155 209 - - 159,209 08 04 11 3844
Richard Howson
LEAP 2008 (maximum} 29,296 - 23,144 6,152 Nil 040408 3838
LEAP 2009 (maximumy 68,544 - - - 68,544 0704 09 252 25
LEAP 2010 (maximum) 138,888 - - - 138,888 170310 3186
LEAP 2011 (maximum) Mil 150 234 - - 150 234 08041 3844

On 4 April 2011, 128 359 shares vested to John McDonough, 82,812 to Richard Adam and 23,144 to Richard Howson The market price of
Carilhon shares on 4 April 2011 was 381 6 pence The net asset value (before tax and national insurance) recewed by these Directors/former
Director was therefore, respectively, £489,818 £316,011 and £88 318




Executive share option scheme

Options under the Carnillion plc Executive Share Option Schemes
are exeraisable normally between three and 10 years after the date
of grant

Following shareholder approval of the Carillion plc Long Term
Incentive Plan at the 2006 AGM, no further options were granted
under the Carillion plc Executive Share Option Schemes

At 31 December 2011, 56 401 Executive Share Options were
outstanding (2010 56 401 shares under option)

The Executive Directors do not hold any Executive Share Options

There have been no changes to the interests of Executive Directors
n share incentives in the period 1 January 2012 to 29 February 2012

Cardlion Energy Services' Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

Canllion Energy Services (CES - previously Eaga plc) operates a
HMRC approved SIP for the benefit of employees of the former
Eaga companies The SIP provides for the award of free shares or
share options in Canillion plc to all quakfying CES employees Those
qualifying employees resident in the UK receve free shares under
the HMRC Approved SIP while those resident outside the UK are
granted share options under the International SIP arrangement The
vesting period for awards 1s three years for non-UK based employees
while the free share awards to UK resident employees vest an the
date of grant Whilst they remain in employment with Carillion
qualfying employees must hold therr shares or options for at least
three years before they can be accessed

The SIP is well received by employees with over 97 per cent
participation

The cost of implementing and admiristenng the SIP is borne by
the EPT

Employee Beneht Trusts

An employee benefit trust was established to acquire shares

in Carillion plc and hold them for the benefit of parucpants
(including Executive Directors) in the share incentive and share
option schemes At 31 December 2011, the Trust held 74,290
Canllion shares (2010 38 302 shares) representing 0 017 per cent
of the issued share caprtal (2010 0 009 per cent) acquired over

a peniod In the open market and which have a carrying value of
£0 2 milhon {2070 £0 1 million) The market value of the shares
held at 31 December 2011 was £0 2 million (2010 £0 1 million)

Additionally, a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (QUEST)
operated in conjunction with Canllion in providing shares to
employees under 1ts Sharesave Scheme At 31 December 2011,

the QUEST held 129,979 Carilhon shares (2010 129 979 shares)
representing 0 03 per cent of the 1ssued share capital (20710

0 03 per cent) at subscription pnces ranging from 115 5 pence

to 296 25 pence per share, to enable it to satisfy options under

the Sharesave Scheme The market value of the shares held by the
QUEST at 31 December 2011 was £0 4 mulbion (2010 £0 5 mullion)

All qualifying CES' employees are beneficianes of the two Eaga
Partnership Trusts (the EPT) The EPT s the vehicle in which shares

in Carillion plc and other assets are held in trust for the benefit of
qualifying employees The EPT 15 subject to a constitution and trust
deed and 15 independent of all companies now within the Canllion
Group The EPT's affairs are managed by two corporate trustees,
each governed by a board of directors including independent trustees

As at 31 December 2011, Canllion had been formally notified under
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules that the EPT held a combined
total of 25 511,644 Carillion plc shares representing 5 9 per cent of
the 1ssued share capital

The EPT waived the intennm dividend paid by Eaga plc in March 2011
and the final dividend paid by Carithion plc in June 2011 These funds
have been used by CES to fund part of the ‘free share’ award under
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the SiP In addition, the EPT made a direct gift of 1 873 875 Carnllion
shares to the SIP Trust

For details of dvidends paid to the above trusts see nate 24 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 82

The closing mid-market price of Carilhon shares at 31 December
2011 and the highest and lowest mid-market prices during the year
were as follows

Share price

Pence

30 December 2011 3008
High (13 May 2011} 403 2
Low (23 November 2011} 2310

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance graphs

The following graphs show the TSR of Carillion plc compared
with the TSR of the FTSE 350 Index The FTSE 350 was chosen

as the comparator group in order to illustrate the Company’s

TSR performance against a broad equity market index of the UK s
leading companies TSR 15 not used as a performance measure for
any benefits provided to Executive Directors

TSR graph for period 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2011

TSR graph for penod 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011

Approved by order of the Board

V Murray OBE
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
29 February 2012
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the Annual Report and financial statements

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the
Group and Parent Company financial statements, 1n accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent
Company financial statements for each finanaal year Under that law
the Directors are required to prepare the Group financal statements in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and apphcable law and
have elected to prepare the Parent Campany financial statements 1n
accordance with UK Agcounting Standards and apphcable law (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financal
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view
of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company as at the end
of that period and of thewr profit and loss for that penod in preparing
each of the Group and Parent Company financial statements, the
Directors are required to

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

> make judgements and estimates that are reasenable and prudent

> for the Group financial statements state whether they have been
prepared n accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU

> for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the Parent
Company financial statements

> prepare the finanoal statements on the going concern basis unless
1t 1s inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Parent
Company will continue In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficeent 10 show and explan the Parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Parent Company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006

They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and

detect fraud and other rregularities

The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement
that comply with applicable law and regulations

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissernination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other junisdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement

Each of the Directors of Canllion plc, whose names and funcuons

are set out on pages 38 and 39, confirms that to the best of tus or her
knowledge

> the financial statements, prepared in accordance with tha applicable
set of accounting standards and contained in this 2011 Annual
Report and Accounts, give a true and fair view of the assets
habilities, financiat posiuon and profit of Canllion plc and the
Canthon Group taken as a whole, and

> the business review, contained in the Directors’ Report and the
operating and financial review section in this 2011 Annual Report
and Accounts, includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of Carillion plc and
the Canlhan Group taken as a whole, together with principal risks
and uncertanties they face

Disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors of Carllion ple confirm that at the date of this statement
and as far as they are individually aware there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware and each Director has
taken all reasonable steps to ascertain any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information

Approved by ordecof the Board

icha am FCA
Group Finance Director
29 February 2012
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Carillion plc

We have audited the financial statements of Carilion pic for the year Matters on which we are required to report by exception
ended 31 December 201t, which comprises the Group Consolidated We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Income Statement, the Group Consolidated and Parent Company

Balance Sheets, the Group Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Under the Compantes Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,
Income the Group Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity the In our opiIon

Group Consolidated Cash flow Statement and the related notes The

financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in the preparation  » adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent

of the Group finanaial statements 1s applicable law and International Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU The recawved from branches not visited by us or
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation > the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
of the Parent Company financial statements 1s applicable law and UK Directors Remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Pracuce) with the accounting records and returns, or

> certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specifred by law
This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, In are not made, or
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006 > we have not recewed all the information and explanations we
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the require for cur audit
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to themn
1 an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for > the Directors’ statement set out on page 33, 1n relation to

our audit work for this report, or for the opintons we have formed goIng concern,

> the part of the Corporate Governance Statement, set out in
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor the Corporate Governance Report, refating to the Company's
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities complance with the nine prowvisions of the UK Corporate
set out on page 54, the Directors are responsible for the preparation Governance Code specified for our review, and
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true > certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board
and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit, and express an opimion on Directors’ remuneration

on, the finanaial statements m accordance with apphcable law and
International Standards an Auditing (UK and lreland} Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's {APB’s) Ethical
Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

D K Turner
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements Senior Statutory Auditor
15 provided on the APB's website at www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor

Opinion on finanaal statements Chartered Accouniants

In our opinion One Snowhill
Snow Hill Queenswa
> the finanaal statements give a true and fair view of the state of the B"mmghag., Y

Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2014 B4 6GH

and of the Group's profit for the year then ended
> the Group financial statements have been properly prepared

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 29 February 2012
> the Parent Company financial statements have been

properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice
> the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, as regards

the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the [AS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion

> the part of the Remuneratron Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accardance with the Companies Act 20086,

> the information given in the Report of the Directors report for the
financial year for which the finanaial statements are prepared 1s
consistent with the financaal statements,

> the information given in the Corporate Governance statement set
out in the Corporate Governance report wath respect to internal
control and nsk management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share caprtal structures 1s consistent
with the financial statements

WHAT WE DO ABOUT US

OUR PERFORMANCE

3%}
j—
=
<
=
o
wi
>
o
[

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



56 Carillion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 December

2011

2010

Note £m £m
Total revenue 5,051 2 51390
Less Share of jointly controlled entittes’ revenue (898 0} (902 5)
Group revenue 2 4,153 2 4,236 5
Cost of sales (3,761 B) (3,885 3)
Grass profit 3914 3512
Administrative expenses {298 0) (239 3)
Group operating profit 3 93 4 119
Analysed between
Group operating profit before intangible amartisation and non-recurring operating items 167 2 1489
Intangible amortisation! (31 0) (27 6)
Non-recurnng operating items 4 (42 8) 94
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 2 a8.7 46 0
Analysed between
Operating profit 710 64 6
Net financial expense (18 8) (139
Taxatron (3 5) 47
Profit from operations 1421 1579
Analysed between
Profit from operations before intangible amortisation and non-recurring operating items 2159 194 9
Intangible amortisation (310) (27 6)
| Non-recutring operatng tems! 4 (a2 8) 9 4}
Non-operating items 4 46 16 8
Net financial expense 5 (39 (6 8)
Analysed between
Financial income 1320 1236
Financial expense (135 9) (130 4)
Profit before taxation 142 8 1679
Analysed between
Profit before taxation, intangible amortuisation, non-recurring operating items and non-operating items 2120 1881
Intangible amortisation® {310} (27 6)
Non-recurnng operating items® 4 (42 8} 94
Non-operating items 4 46 168
Taxation 7 {4 8) 51
Profit for the year 1380 152 8
Profit attributable to
Equty holders of the parent 134 6 147 2
Non-controling interests 34 56
Profit for the year 1380 1528
Earmings per share 8
Basic 320p 36 9p
Diluted 318p 367p

(1} Ansing from business combinations
(2) Thus includes integration and rationalisation costs and Eaga Partnershup Trusts (EPT) related charges (see note &)




For the year ended 31 December
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

2011 2010
£m £m £m fm
Profit for the year 1380 152 8
Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investment in foreign operations 01 (38)
Currency translation differences on foreign operations 19 47
Increase in fair valire of available for sale assets 5.0 59
Actuarnial {lossesi/gains on defined benefit pension schemes {96 6) 19
{89 6) 187
Taxatron in respect of the above 200 47
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities {net of taxation) 134 02
Share of change i faw value of effective cash flow hedges within jaintly controlled
entittes (net of taxation) (13 3) (13 4)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year {69 5) o8
Total comprehensive income for the year 685 153 6
Attnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent 651 1480
Non-controlling interests 34 56
68 5 1536
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December

Equi Non-
Share Share Translation Hedging Fairvalue Merger R holde ? g Total
capital premium Feserve  reserve reserve reserve eamings funds interests  equity
£m £fm £m £m im £m £m £m £m fm
At 1 January 2011 1998 212 (181) (238) 59 3931 2775 8556 96 B652
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1346 1346 34 1380
Other comprehensive income
Net gain on hedge of net investment
in foreign operations - - 01 - - - - 01 - 01
Currency transtaton differences on foreign
operations - - 19 - - - - 19 - 19
Increase n farr value of available for sale assets - - - - 50 - - 50 - 50
Actuarial losses an defined benefit pension
schemes - - - - - - (96 6) {96 6) - {96 6)
Taxation - - - - - - 200 200 - 200
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within
jointly controlled entities {net of taxation) - - - 134 - - - 134 - 134
Share of change in fair value of effective
cash flow hedges within jointly cantrolled
entities (net of taxation) - - - (133 - - - (13 3) - (133
Transfer between reserves - - - - - (309) 309 - - -
Total comprehensive iIncome/{expense} - - 20 01 50 (309 889 651 34 685
Transactions with owners
Contnbutions by and distributions
to owners
Share capital 1ssued on acquisiion of Eaga plc 153 - - - - 1024 - M77 - 177
Acquisition of own shares - - - - - - (6 9) (69) - (69)
Equity settled transactions {net of taxation) - - - - - - 60 60 - 60
Dwidends paid - - - - - - (64 6) (64 6) (34) (680)
Total transactions with owners 153 - - - - 1024 (655) 522 (34) 488
At 31 December 2011 2151 212 (161 (237} 109 464 6 3008 972 9 96 9825
At 1 January 2010 198 6 168 (201 (106} - 4194 1617 765 8 63 7721
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1472 147 2 56 1528
Other comprehensive tncome
Net loss on hedge of net mvestment
in foreign operations - - (3 8) - - - - (38 - (38
Currency translation differences on foregn
operations - - 47 - - - - 47 - 47
Increase in far value of avalable for sale assets - - - - 59 - - 549 - 59
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension
schemes - - - - - - 19 no - N9
Taxation - - 1 - - - (58) 47 - @7
Share of recycled cash flow hedges wathin
jointly controlled entities {net of taxation) - - - 02 - - - 02 - 02
Share of change in fair value of effective
cash flow hedges within jointly centrolled
entities {net of taxation)} - - - {134 - - - {13 4) - (134)
Transfer between reserves - - - - - {(263) 263 - - -
Total comprehensive income/{expense) - - 20 (13 2) 59 (263) 1796 1480 56 1536
Transactions with owners
Contnbutions by and distributions
to owners
New share capital issued 12 44 - - - - - 56 - 56
Acquisition of own shares - - - - - - (56) (56) - (56}
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - - 37 37 - 37
Equity settled transactions {net of taxation) - - - - - - (2 8) (2 8) - 28
Divndends paid - - - - - - (59 1) (59 1) 23 (614
Total transactions with owners 12 44 - - - - (63 8) (58 2) (23) (605
At 31 December 2010 1998 212 181 {238 59 3931 2775 8556 96 8652
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December

11
D
—
)
Q
2011 2010 =4
Note £m £m

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment 10 134 2 157 2

Intangible assets 1 1,547 6 1,221 2

Retirement benefit assets 31 - 0%

investments i jointly controlled entities 12 1596 1348

Other investments 13 513 419

Deferred tax assets 14 1376 1017

Total non-current assets 2,030.3 1,6577

Current assets o

inventories 15 7116 406 a

Trade and other recevables 17 1,094 6 10524 w

Cash and cash equivalents 18 4907 396 7 =

Current asset Investments 19 43 - ';,:

Income tax recevable 77 39 x

Total current assets 1,668 9 1,493 6 =2

Total assets 3,699 2 31513

Current iabihties

Borrowing 20 {32 5) (52 0)

Derwative financial instruments 27 (09) 02)

Trade and other payables 21 (1,773 6) {1,706 8)

Provisions 22 (458) (13 5)

Income tax payable {4 4) G1)

Total current habilities (1,8572)  (1,7776) O
=
<r

Non-current habilities =

Borrowing 20 (508 9) (224 5) %

Retrement benefit habihities Ed] (305 8) (250 3) e

Deferred tax habilities 14 (25 5) {28 O} w

Provisions 22 {19 3) (57) o

Total non-current hiabihities {859 5) (508 5) 8

Total iabilities {2,716 7} (2,286 1)

Net assets 982 5 865 2

Equity

Share capital 23 2151 199 8

Share premium 24 212 212

Translation reserve 24 (16 1) {18 1)

Hedging reserve 24 237} {23 B8}

Farr value reserve 24 109 59 w

Merger reserve 24 464 6 3931 g

Retained earnings 24 3009 2775 %

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 9729 855 6 e

Non-controlling interests 96 96 >

Total equity 9825 865 2 8

The fingngal ments were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 February 2012 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

1 Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 December

01

2010

Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Group operating profit 934 ms
Depreciation and amortisation 623 634
LossAprofit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 06 (13)
Share-based payment expense/income) 25 (39)
Other non-cash movements {2 3) 14
Non-recurning operating items 42 8 94
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 199 3 1809
Decrease/(tncrease) in inventories 197 (34)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 533 83)
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (816) 129
Cash generated from operations before pension deficit recovery payments,

rationalisation costs and Eaga Partnership Trusts related charges 1907 1821
Deficit recovery payments to pension schemes {36 2) {352)
Rationalisation costs {34 4) (15 6)
Eaga Partnershup Trusts related charges (0 6) -
Cash generated from operations 1195 1313
Financal income receved 16 0 n7
Finanaal expense paid {213) (13 5)
Acquisition costs (72) -
Taxation (38 27
Net cash flows from operating activities 1032 1268
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 172 55
Disposal of jointly controlled entity and other investments 30 314 458
Dvidends received from jointly controlled entities 396 481
Disposal and closure of businesses 30 (19} 47
Decrease in current asset investments 37 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 30 (1827) -
Acquisiion of intangible assets (2 8) (75)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (9 8) (a71)
Acquisition of equity In and net loan advances to jointly controlled entities (27 6) {34 5)
Acquisiion of other non-current asset investments (3 4) 39)
Net cash flows from investing activities (136 3} 317
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of employee share options - 23
Draw down of bank and other loans 2230 502
Praceeds from finance leaseback - 38
Payment of finance lease habilities {15 B) (17 3)
Acquisition of own shares (6 9) -
Payment to employees in settlement of share options {18) -
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (64 6) (59 1)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (3 3) 23
Net cash flows from financing activities 1305 (22 4)
Increase in net cash and cash equivalents 974 1361
Net cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3911 2524
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on net cash and cash equivalents (0 8) 26
Net cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18 4877 3911
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Significant accounting policies

Canlhon plc (the ‘Company ) s a company domiciled and incorporated
in the United Kingdom (UK) The consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the *Group'} and
the Group's interest in jointly controlled entiies

The conschdated financial statements were authonsed for 1ssuance on
29 February 2012

Statement of compliance

The Group's financial statements have been prepared and approved
by the Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (‘Adopted IFRSs')

The Company has elected to prepare its finanaal statements in
accordance with UK GAAP These are presented on pages 104 to 109

Basis of preparation

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in
dealing with items which are considered matenial in relation to the
Group's finanaal statements

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis based
on the assessment made by the Directors as described in the Operating
and financial review on page 33

The financial statements are presented tn pounds sterhng They are
prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets
and liabiltties are stated at thair fair value denwvative financial
instruments, penston scheme assets, other non-current asset
investments and financeal instruments classified as avalable-for-sale

The following standards and interpretations have been adopted in
2011 as they are mandatory for the year ended 31 December 2011

— Amendments to International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) 14 'Prepayment of a minimum funding
requirement’

— International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee (IFRIC)
19 ‘Extinguishing finanaial iabilites with equity instruments

- International Accounting Standard (IAS) 24 "Related party disclosures
(revised 2009)'

- Amendment to International Accounting Standard {IAS) 32
‘Classification of rights 1ssues’

The amendment to [FRIC 14 ‘Prepayment of a mimimum funding
requirement’ removes the unintended consequence of when an entity
15 subject to a minimum funding requirement (MFR) and makes an
early payment of contnbutions to cover those requirements The
amendment results in a prepayment of contributions in certan
crcumstances being recognised as an asset rather than an expense
This amendment has had no impact on profit, earnings per share or
net assets in the year ended 31 December 2011

IFRIC 19 *Extinguwishing financial habilities with equity instruments*
danfies the accounting treatment for when an entity renegotiates the
terms of s debt such that the hability 1s extinguished, in whole or in
part, by the entity 1ssuing 1ts own equity instruments to the lender
(referred to as a “debt for equity swap’) The adoption of {FRIC 19 has
had no 1mpact on profit, earnings per share or net assets in the year
ended 31 December 2011

The amendment to IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures {revised 2009’

clarifies disclosure requirements for Government-related entities and
amends the defimiicn of a related party The amendment to IAS 24

has had ne impact en profit, earnings per share or net assets in the

year ended 31 December 2011

The amendment to IAS 32 Classification of rights 1ssues’ states

that If such nghts are 1ssued pro rata to all of an enuty’s existing
shareholders in the same class of a fixed amount of currency, they
should be classified as equity regardless of the currency in which the
exercise price 1s denominated The amendment to 1AS 32 has had no
impact on profi, earmings per share or net assets in the year ended
31 December 2011

In addition to the above, amendments to a number of standards under
the annual iImprovements project to IFRS which are mandatory for the
year ended 31 December 2011, have been adopted in 2011 None of
these amendments have had a material impact on the Group s
financial statements

The following standards and interpretations are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

- Amendment to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12
‘Deferred taxes Recovery of underlying assets’

- Internatonal Financial Reporting Standard {IFRS) 9 ‘Financial
nstruments’

- International Financial Reporting Standard {(IFRS) 13 ‘Fair value
measurement”

- Amendment to international Accounting Standarg (IAS) 1
‘Presentation of items of other comprehensive Income

— Amendment to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19
‘Employee benefits’

Except for the amendment to 1AS 19, none of these standards,
interpretations or amendments are expected to impact profit, earnings
per share and net assets in future periods

The amendment to 1AS 19 makes significant changes to the
recagrition and measurement of the defined benefit pension expense
and termination benefits and disclosures relating to all employee
benefits It s anticipated that the amendment will increase the pension
cost recognised in the iIncome statement The amendment is effective
for accounting periods commenaing 1 January 2013

Basis of consohdation

(a) Substdiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of the Company and subsidiaries controlled by the Company drawn up
to 31 December 2011 Control exists when the Group has direct or
mdirect power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain economic benefits fraom its activities Subsidiaries
are Included in the consclidated finanoial statements from the date
that control transfers to the Group untit the date that control ceases
The financial statements for the majonty of pnncipal trading
subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are prepared for the same reporting year as the Company
The exceptton to this 1s Canllion Energy Services Limited and ns
subsidhanies, who prinapally have a reporting period end of

30 November 2011, with the exception of Carillion Clean Energy
Limrted which has a reporting penod from its incorperation on

29 March 2010 to 29 September 2011 The post-acquisition results
and financial position of Carllion Energy Services Limited and 1ts
subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial
statements based on additional financial statements drawn up

to 31 December 2011 Carillion Energy Services Limited and 1ts
subsrdiaries will be aligned with the same reporting penod end

as the Company at 31 December 2012

The purchase method 15 used to account for the acquisition
of subsidianes

(b) Joint ventures

A Joint venture 15 a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
undertakes an economic activity that s subject to joint control with
third parties The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for using the equity method Under this method, the
Group's share of the profits less losses of jointly controlled entites

1s included in the consoldated income statement and its interests in
their net assets 1s included 1n investments in the consolidated balance
sheet Where the share of losses exceeds the interests in the entity,
the carrying amount 1s reduced to nil and recogmition of further
losses is discontinued The Group's interest in the entity (s the carrying
amount of the investment together with any long-term interest that,
in substance, form part of the net investment in the entity
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial statements of jointly controlled entittes are prepared for the
same reporting penod as the Group except tor Modern Housing
Solutions (Pnme) Limited which has a 31 March year end Is results
are included in the Group accounts based on additional finanaial
statements for the 12 months to 31 December 2011

Where a Group company I1s party 1o a jointly controlled operation that
company accounts for the assets it controls, the liabilimes and expenses
1t incurs and its share of the income Such arrangements are reported
in the consolidated financial statements on the same basis

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January
2004 represents the difference between the farr value of the cost of
acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets, abilities and
contingent iabibes of an acquired entity For acquisitions completed
before 1 January 2010, attributable costs of the acquisition formed
part of goodwill For acquisitions completed after 1 January 2010
attributable costs of acquisition are expensed in the iIncome statement
in the penod incurred [n respect of acquisstions prior to 1 January
2004, goodwill 1s mncluded on the basis of its deemed cost which
represents the amount recorded under previous Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice

Positive goodwill 1s recogmised as an asset in the consolidated balance
sheet and 15 subject to an annual iImpawment review Goodwill arising
on the acquisition of subsidianes 15 recogrised separately as an
intangible asset in the consohdated balance sheet Goodwill ansing
on the acquisttion of jointly controfled entrties 1s included within the
carrying value of the investment Negative goodwill is recogrised in
the iIncome statement immediately

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses Amortisation 1s based on the
useful economic lives of the assets concerned, which are principally as
follows

Computer software and licences
— straight-line over three to five years

Customer contracts and hsts
- Mowlem

consumption of economic benefits over 35 years
— Alfred McAlpine

consumption of economic benefits over 12 years
— Vanbots Group

consumption of ecenomic benefits aver five years
— Carillvon Energy Services

consumption of ecanomic benefits over four years

For the purposes of impairment testing goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination Cash generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there 1s an indication that the unit may be impaired
If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impa:rment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit An impairment loss recogrused for
goodwill 15 not reversed in a subsequent penod

Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date Assets
subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for mpairment
whenever events or arcumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable An impairment foss 1s recogrised in the
income statement based on the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher
of fair value Yess costs to sell and value tn use

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset

Other non-current asset investments

Other non-current asset investments are dassified as avallable for sale
financial assets and are recognised at fair value Changes in farr value
in the year are recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive
income Dividend income from investments 1s recognised in the
income statement when the right to receive payment is established

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
degree of completion of each contract as measured by the proportion
of total costs at the balance sheet date to the estimated total cost of
the contract

Insurance claims, incentive payments and variations arising from
construction contracts are included where they have been agreed with
the chent

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estmated
reliably, contract revenue 1s recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred where it 1s probable those costs will be recoverable

The princrpal estimation technique used by the Group in attnbuting
profit on contracts to a particular period 1s the preparation of farecasts
on a contracl by contract basis These focus on revenues and costs to
complete and enable an assessment to be made of the final out-turn of
each contract Consistent contract review procedures are in place in
respect of contract forecasting

When 1t 15 probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue the expected loss is recogmised immediately Contract costs
are recogrused as expenses in the pernod in which they are sncurred

Where costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses
exceed progress billings the balance 1s shown as due from customers
on construction contracts within trade and other receivables Where
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recogrised losses, the balance 1s shown as due to customers

on construction contracts within trade and other payables

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred until the Group 15
appointed preferred bidder or formal notification of the intention to
appoint is received Provided the coniract is expected to generate
sutficient net cash inflows to enable recovery and the award of the
contract 1s probable pre-contract costs incurred post the appointment
as preferred bidder are included in amounts owed by customers on
construction contracts

Where pre-contract bid costs are reimbursed at finanaal dose, the
proceeds are initially applied aganst the asset included in amounts
owed by customers on construction contracts Any excess recoveries
are carrnied forward as deferred income and released to profit over the
peniod of the contract




1 Significant accounting policies {continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration recevable

excluding value added tax, for services supplied to external customers
It also includes the Group’s proportion of work carried out under
jointly controlled operations during the year Revenue from the Group's
principal business streams 1s recognised on the following basis

- Revenue from service contracts is recogrused by reference to services
performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed

— Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy on construction contracts

- Revenue from the delivery of carbon saving measures to utility
companies and other related activities 15 recognised at the date of
sale, except if services are to be provided over future penods, where
the income is deferred and recogrised over the relevant service
period

- Revenue from the mstallation of energy efficiency measures such as
central heating and other renewable technologies 1s recognised by
reference to the number of energy efficiency measures installed

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is based on histonical cost less estimated residual value
and the estimated economic life of the assets concerned Freehold land
15 not depreciated Property, plant and equipment 15 depreciated In
equal annual Instalments over the penod of therr estimated economic
lives which are principally as follows

Freehold buildings
Leasehold builldings and improvements
Plant machinery and vehicles

40-50 years
Period of lease
Three-ten years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the sharter of
the term of the lease or the expected useful life of the assets

Leasing
Operating lease rentals are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the life of each lease

Assets held under finance leases are included In property, plant and
equipment at the fower of fair value at the date of acquisition or
present value of the minimum lease payments The capital element
of outstanding finance leases i1s included in financial habilities The
finance cost element of rentals is charged to the income statement
at a constant periodic rate of charge on the outstanding obligations

Inventones

Inventores comprise land for development, raw materials and where
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to thewr location and condition
at the balance sheet date Inventories are valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value Cost 1s calculated using either the weighted
average method or the first-in, first out method

Carbon credits, which are included within finished goods, are charged
at the cost of delivering carbon savings and are recorded as inventory
at the lower of cost and net realisable value and on a first-in, first

out basis

Provision 1s made for obsolete, slow moving or defective items
where appropnate

Current asset investments
Current asset mvestments include cash balances held on deposit for
periods greater than three months and certain restricted cash balances

These balances have been excluded from cash in the Group s balance
sheet and cash flow statement

Taxation

Income tax compnses current and deferred tax tncome tax 1s
recogrised in the income statement except to the extent that it
relates to iterns recogrised directly in equity, in which case it s
recogmised In equity
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Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet ability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and habiitties for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes The amount of deferred tax provided

1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and habilities, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrised only to the extent that 1t 1s probable
that future taxable profits will be avallable against which the asset
can be utilised Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it

1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised

Foreign currencies

In individual entities, transactions denominated in foreign currencres
are translated into 1ts functional currency and recorded using the
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction

Monetary assets and abilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into its functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the
balance sheet date and the gains and losses on translation are included
in the Income statement

On consohdation, the balance sheets of overseas entities are translated
into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
Income statements and cash flows of overseas entities are translated
into sterling at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates at the
date of the transaction Gains or losses arising from the consolidation
of overseas entities are recognised n the translation reserve

Net investment hedging of overseas operations is achieved through
borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies Gains and
losses arising from the effective portion of the hedges are recognised
in equity and ineffective portions are recognised immediately in the
Income statement

Employee benefits

{a) Retirement benefit obligations

For defined contribution pension schemes operated by the Group,
amounts payable are charged to the iIncome statement as they falf due

For defined benefit pension schemes, the 1AS 19 cost of providing
benefits 15 calculated annually by independent actuanes using the
defined accrued benefits method for schemes dosed to future accrual
and the projected unit credit method or the attained age method for
ongoing schemes The charge 1o the income statement reflects the
current service cost of such obligations and where applicable, past
service cost

The expected return on plan assets and the interest cost on scheme
habilities are induded within financtal iIncome and expenses in the
Income statement

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet
represents the excess of the present value of scheme habilities over the
far value of scheme assets When the calculation results In an asset to
the Group, the amount recognised 1s imited on certain schemes where
the Group does not have an unconditional right to a refund of any
surplus which may exist

Differences between the actual and expected returns on assets and
experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities during the
year, together with differences ansing from changes in assumptions
and mavements in minimum funding requirements are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in accordance wrth
the scheme rules and the recommendations of the actuary
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b} Other post-retirement benefit obligations

Certain Group comparues provide post-retirement healthcare
benefits to ther employees The expected costs of providing these
benefits are accrued over the period of employment and are
calculated by independent actuaries based on the present value
of the expected liabitity

{c) Share-based payments

Members of the Group's senior management team are entitled

to participate in the Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAP) and UK
employees are able to participate in the Sharesave scheme Under
the terms of the Group's bonus arrangements, Executive Directors
and certan senior employees receive a proportion of therr bonus in
shares, which are deferred for a penod of up to two years

The fair value of shares for the LEAP, Sharesave and deferred bonus
arrangements at the date of grant are estimated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model The fair value determined at grant date 15
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on an
estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest and taking
Into account service and non-market conditions

The Group also operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP} under which
qualifying Carillion Energy Services partners may recewe free shares
The fair value of the free shares are recognised as an expense In the
income statement over the vesting penod of the shares

Borrowing costs

Borrowtng costs are capitalised where the Group constructs quahfying
assets All other borrowing costs are wirtten off to the income
statement as incurred

Borrowing costs incurred by entities refating to the construction of
assets in Public Private Partnership projects are capitalised until the
relevant assets are brought into operational use

Borrowing costs are charged to the income statement using the
effective interest method

Share capital
The ordinary share capital of the Company 15 recorded at the proceeds
received net of directly attributable incremental issue costs

Consideration paid for shares in the Company held by the Employee
Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are deducted from the retained
earnings reserve Where such shares subsequently vest in the employees
under the terms of the Group’s share option schemes or are sold, any
consideration received 1s included in the retained earnings reserve

Provisions

A provision 1s recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obhgation as a result of a past event and
where 1t 15 probable that an outflow will be required 10 settle the
obligation

Provisions for restructuring are recogrised when the Group has an
approved restructuning plan that has either commenced or been
announced pubhcly Future operating costs are not provided for

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument The principal finanaal
assets and hiabilities of the Group are as follows

{a) Other non-current investments

Other non-current investments relate to unquoted equity interests
that are not designated on initial recognrtion as at fair value through
the income statement Instead, they are recognised at fair value
with movements n fair value recognised in the fair value reserve

{b) Trade receivables
Trade recevables are imitially recognised at farr value and then are
stated at amortised cost

{c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carned in the balance sheet at
amortised cost For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, including
bank deposits with onginal matunties of three months or less Bank
overdrafts are also included as they are an integral part of the Group's
cash management

{d) Current asset investments
Current asset investments are carned n the balance sheet at
amortised cost

{e) Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and then are stated
at amortised cost

(f) Bank and other borrowings

Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts and other loans are
recognised initially at amortised cost less attnibutable transaction
costs All borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost with
the difference between inihial net proceeds and redempiion value
recognised in the income statement over the period to redemption

{g) Dervative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the
contract s entered into and subsequently remeasured in future periods
at fair value The method of recogrusing the resulting change in fair
value is dependent on whether the derivative 1s designated as a
hedging instrument

A number of the Group’s PPP jointly controlled entities have entered
into interest rate denvatives as a means of hedging interest rate risk
The effective part of the change in fair value of these derivatives is
recognised directly in equity Any ineffective portion 1s recognised
immediately in the income statement Amounts accumulated in equity
are recycled to the income statement in the periods when the hedged
1itemns will affect profit or loss The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s
the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to
terminate the swap at the balance sheet date

The Group also enters into forward contracts and options In order to
hedge against small and infrequent transactional foreign currency
exposures In cases where these denvative instruments are significant,
hedge accounting 1s applied as described above Where hedge
accounting 1s not applied, movernents in fair value are recognised in
the iIncome statement Fair values are based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date

Net borrowing
Net borrowing compnises cash and cash equwalents together with
bank overdrafts and loans, finance {eases and other loans
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2 Segmental reporting 8
Segment information s presented in respect of the Group’s strategic operaling segments The operating segment reporung format refiects the <
differing economic charactenistics and nature of the services provided by the Group and 1s the basis on which strateqic operating decisions are
made by the Group Chief Executive, who 1s the Group’s chief operating decisicn maker
inter-segment priang 1s determined on an arm'’s length basis Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis, except finance items and income tax
Operating segments
The Group 15 comprised of the following main operating segrments
Support services
In this segment we report the results of our facilities management, faciities services energy services, road maintenance, rail services utilitres
services and consultancy businesses CD)
Public Private Partnership projects §
In this segment we report the results of our investing activetres in Public Private Partnership projects tn our chosen sectors of defence, health —
education, transport, secure energy services and other Government accommodation %
=
Middle East construction services
In thuis segment we report the results of our bullding and cwil engineenng actraties in the Middle East and Morth Africa
Construction services {excluding the Middle East)
In this segment we report the results of our UK building, civil engineering and developments businesses and our construction activities in Canada
Segmental revenue and profit
2011 2010
Operating Operating
profit before profit before
intangible intangible c\l'j
amortisation and amortisahon and =
non-recumng non-recurnng <T
Revenue operaung items Revenue aperaling 1terns E
£m £m £m £m o
o
Support services =
Group 2118 8 1057 1.8421 923 w
Share of jointly controlled entities 2254 151 266 5 181 o
2,345 2 1208 21086 a3
Inter-segment 75 2 - 1073 -
Total 2,420 4 1208 2,2159 1104
Public Private Partnership projects
Group 12 27 12 107
Share of jointly controlled entities 3086 172 3107 127
3098 199 39 234
Inter-segment - - - -
Total 3098 199 e 234 3
=
Middie East construction services %
Group 2189 139 1909 140 ol
Share of jointly controlled entities 3300 352 3021 335 g
548 9 491 493 0 475 o
Inter-segment - - - -
Total 5489 491 4930 475
Construction services (excluding the Middle East)
Group 1,813 3 54 4 2,2023 409
Share of jointly controlied entities 340 3s 232 03
1,847 3 579 22255 M2
Inter-segment 04 - 42 - =z
Total 1,847 7 579 2,2297 412 &
=
w
Group elimnations and unallocated items (75 6) {9 5) (111 5) (9 0) =
]
Consolhdated b=
Group 4,153 2 1672 4,2365 1489 O
Share of jointly controlled entities 898 0 710 9025 646 %
Total 5.0512 2382 51390 2135 =
w
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

2 Segmental reporting (continued)
Segmental revenue and profit (continued)

Reconcihation of operating segment results to reported results

2011 2010
£m £m
Group and share of jointly controlled entities’ operating profit before intangible amortisation
and non-recurring operating items 238 2 2135
Met financial expense
- Group (3 9) (6 8)
— Share of jointly controlled entities {18 B) (139)
Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation (35) @7
Underlying profit before taxation 2120 1881
Intangible amortisation®® (310) (27 6)
Non-recurring operating items'? 42 8) 94
Non-operating items™ 46 16 8
Profit before taxation 142 8 1679
Taxation (4 8) (151)
Profit for the year 1380 152 8
(1) Intangible amortisaton non-recurning eperating items and non aperating items arise in the fallowing segments
201+ 2010
Non-recurring Non recurring
Intanguble operating Non operating Intangible operating  Non-operating
amortisation tems Itetns amortisation items items
£m £ £m £m £m £m
Support services {26 1) {20 6} {43 {19 8) {0 4) -
Public Private Partnership projects - - 115 - - 168
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 49 2 2) {2 6) (78 ®1) -
Unallocated Group items - - - - (29) -
Total {(310) {42 8) 46 (276) (9 4) 168
Depreciation and amortisation and capital expenditure anse in the following segments
201 2010
Depreciation and Capital Depreciation and Capital
amortisation expenditure amortisation expenditure
fm im £m fm
SUPPOrt services {40 3) “an (370} (10 8)
Middle East canstruction services 21) (W} 21} zn
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) {6 4) (0 4) (11 2 (19)
Unallscated Group items (12 5) (78) (131 (14 5)

Total (62 3) {13 49) (63 4) 29 3)




2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Segmental net assets
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2011 2010
Net operating Net operating
Operating Operating assets/ Operating Operating assets/
assets habihties {(hakbhines) assets liabilities {habiities}
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Support services
Intangible assets® 1,268 9 - 1,268 9 9365 - 936 5
Qperating assets 6100 - 6100 486 4 - 486 4
Investments 16 - 116 96 - 96
Total operating asseis 1,890 5 - 1.8905 1,432 5 - 14325
Total operating liabilities - (622 1} {622 1) - 4757} 4757
Net operating assets/{liabilities) 1,890 5 (622 1) 1,268 4 1,432 5 475 7) 956 8
Pubhlic Private Partnership projects
Operating assets 79 - 79 55 - 55
Investments 932 - 932 745 - 745
Total operating assets 1011 - 1011 800 - 80O
Total operating habilities - {9 6) {(96) - (11 6) (11 6}
Net operating assets/{liabilities) 1011 (9 6) 915 800 (11 6) 68 4
Middle East construction services
Operating assets 2265 - 2265 172 2 - 1722
Investments 573 - 573 489 - 489
Total operating assets 2838 - 2838 2211 - 2211
Total operating liabitities - (224 8) (224 8) - (192 4} (192 4)
Net operating assets/{iabilities) 2838 (224 8) 590 2211 (192 4) 287
Construction services {excluding the Mwddle East)
Intangible assets® 2645 - 2645 269 4 - 2694
Operating assets 425 4 - 4254 548 2 - 548 2
Investments 48 8 - 48 8 437 - 437
Total operating assets 7387 - 7387 B613 - 8613
Total operating liabilities - (928 2) (928 2) - (1,022 7) (1,022 7)
Net operating assets/{liabilities) 7387 (928 2) {189 5) 8613 {1,022 7} (161 4)
Consolidated before Group items
Intangible assets® 1,533 4 - 1,533 4 12059 - 1,2059
Operating assets 1,269 8 - 1,269 8 1,212 3 - 1,212 3
Investments 2109 - 2109 1767 - 1767
Total operating assets 3,0141 - 3.0141 2,594 9 - 2,594 9
Total operating habihties - (1,784 7) (1,784 7) - (1,702 4 (1,702 4)
Net operating assets/(llabilrties) before Group items 3,0141 {1,784 7) 1,229 4 2,594 9 (1702 4) 8925
Group items
Deferred tax assets/liabilities) 1376 (25 5) 1121 1017 (28 0) 737
Net cash/(borrowing) 490 7 {541 4} {50 7) 3867 (276 5) 1202
Retirernent benefits {gross of taxation) - (305 B8) {305 8) 09 (250 3) (249 4)
Income tax 77 {4 4) 33 39 51 N2
Other 491 (54 9) {5 8) 532 {23 8) 294
Net assets/(habilities) 3,699 2 (2,716 7) 9825 31513 (2,286 1) 865 2

(i) Ansing from business combinations
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

2 Segmental reporting {continued)

Geographic information — by origin

2014 2010
£m £m
United Kingdom
Total revenue from external customers 3,664 0 3,848 6
Less share of jointly controlled entiies’ revenue (386 7) (469 6)
Group revenue from external customers 3,2773 3,3790
Non-current assets 1,628 8 1,3171
Middle East and North Africa
Total revenue from external customers 5613 504 2
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue (342 4) (313 3)
Group revenue from external customers 218 9 1909
Non-current assets 667 563
Canada
Total revenue from external customers 7823 7098
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue {147 4) (70 5)
Group revenue from external customers 6349 6393
Non-current assets 1459 1379
Rest of the World
Total revenue from external customers 436 76 4
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue {215} (49 1)
Group revenue from external customers 221 273
Non-current assets - 19
Consolidated
Total revenue from external customers 5,051 2 513980
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue (898 0) (902 5}
Group revenue from external customers 41532 4,2365
Non-current assets
Total of geographic analysis above 1,841 4 15132
Retirement benefit assets - 09
Other investments s13 419
Deferred tax assets 1376 1017
Total non-current assets 2,0303 1.6577
Revenue from the Group’s major customer is shown below
Public Private Construction services
Support services Partnership projects (excluding the Middle East) Total
201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m Em im £m £m £m
UK Government 920 4 7825 188 3 2227 1,4997 1,263 0 2,608 4 2,268 2
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3 Group operating profit

2011 2010
im £m
Group operating profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Depreciation of praperty plant and equipment 277 318
Amortisation of intangible assets 346 36
Impairment of trade receivables 11 05
Impairment on re-measurement to farr value of Eaga pic shares at acquisition 05 -
Loss/profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 06 13)
Operating lease charges 518 558
Foresgn exchange (gains)/losses 07) 04
Loss on dervative financial assets and habiities held for trading 15 12
Auditors remuneratron
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 03 03
Feas payable to the Company’s auditor and i1ts associates for other services
= Audit of the Company’s subsidianes, pursuant to legislation 08 09
- Qther services pursuant to legislation 04 01
- Taxation services 04 03
Fees i respect of Group pension schemes
= Audit o1 01

In addition to the above amounts included in operating profit, KPMG Audit Plc were pard fees in 2011 associated wath the acquisiion of Carnllion
Energy Services of £0 3 millon Such fees are included in acquisibon costs within non-operating items

Cardlion’s share of the fees paid to KPMG Audit Plc and its assotiates by Group jointly controlled entities in respect of audit services amounted 1o
£0 2 million (200 £0 2 milhion)
4 Non-recurring operating 1tems and non-operating items

Non-recurring operating items

2011 2010
£m £m

Integration and rationalsation costs (40 0} ©4)
Eaga Partnership Trusts related charges (2 8} -
(42 B) 94

Integraiion and rationalisation costs of £40 0 mullion primarily relates to redundancy and property exit costs ansing from a review of the Group's
requirements following the acquisiion of Carnllion Energy Services (CES - formerly Eaga plc), including relauvely modest costs associated with
focusing the Canadian censtruction services business on the growing Public Private Partnership market in the region

The Group operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) under which guahfying CES partners may receive free shares The Eaga Partnershup Trusts (EPT)
waived its entitlement to the 2010 final dividend paid during the year amounting to £3 O mithon Of this £3 0 million, £2 S million has been paid
to acquire Canlthon plc shares to satisfy the UK SIP awards which vest inmediately and the remaining £0 5 rmihion will be paid to fund the
international SiP awards when they vest in three years tme These awards give nise to a charge under Internattonal Financial Reporting Standard 2
‘Share-based payment of £2 8 million The Group is not committed to make any awards under the SIP in excess of those funded by the EPT
Where the award of shares under the SIP is fully funded by the waiver of dividends by the EPT there 1s no matenal net impact on the net debt or
net assets of the Group over the contractual life of the plan compared to if the EPT had not waived 1ts dividends As this charge has arisen from
the decision by the EPT to waive its entitlement to dividends and 15 outside of the control of the normal operating parameters of the Group, the
charge 13 classified as a non-recurnng operating item Further details on the SIP are given in the Remuneration report on page 53

Rationalisation costs of £9 4 million in 2010 relate to non-recurring redundancy and other associated costs incurred to ensure that the Group’s
cost base reflects the expected reduction in the UK construction market as indicated in the UK Government‘s Emergency Budget on 22 June
2010 and confirmed in the Comprehensive Spending Review in Qctober 2010

An income tax credit of £11 9 mulion (2010 £1 6 million} relating to the above has been included within taxation in the income statement

Non-operating items

2041 2010

£m £m

Profit on dispesal of jointly controlled entity and other investments 153 16 8
Acquisition costs (75) -
Closure of non-core businesses (3 2) -
46 168
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

4 Non-recurring operating items and non-operating items {continued)

In the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group disposed of its equity investment in three Public Private Partnership jointly contralled entities
The disposals generated cash consideration of £25 4 million (before disposal costs of £0 2 million) and a non-operating profit of £11 5 million
There 1s no income tax associated with this profit

In addition, the Group disposed of a small jointly controlled entity in the Netherlands The disposal generated a cash consideration of £6 9 million
(before disposal costs of £0 7 million} and a non-operating profit of £3 8 million There 1s no Income tax asscaated with this profit

Acqutsition costs in 2011 of £7 5 mullion relate to adwser costs incurred in relation to the CES acguisition contracts and
due diligence procedures An income tax credit of £0 6 midlion has been included 1n the Income statement in respect of these costs

Duning the year a number of small non-core businesses were closed at a cost of £3 2 million An income tax credit of £0 6 million has been
included in the income statement in respect of these costs

In the year ended 31 December 2010 the Group disposed of its equity interest in two Public Private Partnership investments The disposals
generated cash consideration of £45 8 million and a non-operating profit of £16 8 milllon There 15 no income tax associated with this profit

5 Finanaal mcome and expense

201 2010
£m fm
Financial income
Bank interest recevable 16 1
Other interest receivable 144 106
Expected return on retirement plan assets 116 0 1119
1320 123 6
Financial expense
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (9 6) (3 3)
Other interest payable and simdar charges {13 5) {11 6)
Interest cost on retirement plan obligations (112 8) (115 5)
(135 9) (130 4
Net financial expense {39) {6 8)
Other interest payable and similar charges include finance lease charges of £2 7 million {2010 £3 7 million)
No borrowing costs have been capitalised m either 2011 or 2010 as they are not material
& Payroll costs and employee numbers
2011 2010
fm £m
Wages and salaries 744 7 746 7
Social security costs 670 660
Pension costs 29 3 295
Equity-settled transactions (Group funded charges) 25 (39)
Equity-settled transactions (Eaga Partnership Trusts refated charges) 28 -
846 3 8383

Pension costs represent amounts in respect of the Group’s UK and overseas schemes as described in note 31 and includes a curtailment gain of
£nil (2010 £0 4 million} and a charge of £22 7 million (2010 £22 8 million) in respect of defined contribution schemes

Detalled information concerning Directors remuneration, incuding their pension benefits and lang-term tncentive arrangements 1s set out In the
Remuneration report on pages 49 to 53

The average number of employees during each year, including Directors, was

201 2010

Number Number

Support services 18,132 17,33
Public Private Partnershup projects 32 33
Middle East construction services 7.405 6,795
Construction services (excluding the Middle East} 3,989 5,593
Corporate centre 434 304
29,992 30,056

UK 19,797 19,476
Overseas 10,195 10,580
29,992 30056

In additien to the above there are 15,350 staff (2010 15,441} employed within the Group’s jointly controlled entities located in the Middle East
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7 Income tax
Recognised in the income statement

2011 2010
£m fm
Current tax (credit)/expense
Current year
-UK (3 3) (2 2)
- Overseas 30 38
Adjustments for prior years
— UK 28 34
- Qvarseas 08 01
Total current tax 33 a7
Deferred tax (credit)/expense
Crigination and reversal of temporary differences 96 166
Change of rate 06 02
Adjustments for prior years 87 -
Total deferred tax 1.5 168
Total mcome tax expense In the Income statement 48 151
Reconcihation of effective tax rate
2011 2010
£m £m
Profit before tax 1428 1679
Tax of jointly controlled entities 35 47
146 3 1726
Income tax at UK standard corporation tax rate of 26 5% (2010 28 0%} 388 48 3
Permanent differences 15 30
Unrelieved trade lossas 82 50
Capital items not taxable/not deductible @7 4 8)
Effect of utlisation of brought forward tax losses (109) (56)
Effect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions (9 6) (106)
Change In rate 06 02
Over provided in prior years (74) 51
Recagnition of deferred tax on prior year losses (8.2) {106)
Total tax (including tax of jointly controlled entities) 83 198
Tax of jointly controlled entities (35) @7
Group Income tax expense 48 151

On 5 July 2011 the Finance (No 3} Act 2011 was substantively enacted, implemenung from 1 April 2012 a reduction in the mainstream corporate
tax rate from 26 per cent to 25 per cent Within the above deferred tax charge of £1'5 million 1s a charge of £0 6 milion with respect to this
change in rate

Following the introduction of the foreign profits exemption in 2009, the profits earned in low tax overseas junsdictions no longer require a
provision for a taxable temporary difference, the impact of which 1s included wathin *Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdicuons’

The release of the over-provision relating to prior years of £7 4 millien (2010 £5 1 milhion) includes an amount of £3 0 million which is attributable
to the agreement of certatn 1ssues with the tax authorities Tax of jeintly controlled entittes of £3 5 million in 2011 includes a £2 3 million ¢redit
arising from a review of the nature of tax issues in certain entities

Tax {asset)/liability recognised directly in equity

2011 2010

fm £m

Deferred tax on actuanal gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes (20 0) 58

Current tax on foreign exchange translation adjustments - 1

Tax recognised in statement of comprehensive iIncome (200) 47
Tax directly recogrused :n equity

- Current tax on equity-settled transactions {0 6) -

- Deferred tax on equity-settled transactions 01 (11)

Total tax recognised tn equity (207} 36

Deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes of £20 0 million 1In 2011 includes £6 1 million in respect of the
change i tax rate to 25 per cent as substantively enacted on 5 July 2011
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

8 Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calcutation of earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 1s based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

of £134 6 millien (2010 £147 2 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue of 420 9 milhion (2010 399 0 million),

calculated as follows

In millions of shares

2011 2010
issued ordinary shares at 1 January 3997 3973
Effect of shares issued in the year 214 19
Effect of own shares held by Employee Share Ownership Plan and Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (02) 02
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 4209 3990

{b) Underlying performance

A reconcihatien of profit before taxation and basic earnings per share, as reported in the income statement to underlying profit before taxation
and earnings per share Is set out below The adjustments made 1n arriving at the underlying performance measures are made to illustrate the

impact of non-recurnng operaung 1tems and non-operating stems

2011 2010
Profit before tax Tax Profit befare tax Tax
im £m im £im
Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation as reported In the income statement 1428 48 1679 151
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 310 99 276 87
Non-recurring operating items 428 19 94 16
Non-operating ttems (4 6) 12 (16 8) -
Underlying profit before taxation 2120 278 1881 254
Underlying taxation {27 8) (25 4)
Underlying profit attnbutable to non-controlling interests {3 2) (5 6)
Underlying profit attributable to shareholders 1808 1571
2011 2010
Pence per Pence per
share share
Earmings per share
Basic earmings per share 320 369
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 50 47
Non-recurnng operating items 73 20
Non-operating items (13 42
Underlying basic earnings per share 430 394
Underlying diluted earnings per share (post-tax basis) 427 392

{c) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share Is based on profit as shown in note 8(a} and (b} and a weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding calculated as follows

In milhions of shares

2011 2010

weighted average number of ordinary shares 4209 3990

Effect of share options in issue 25 17

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 423 4 4007

9 Dividends

The following dividends were paid by the Company

2011 2010

Pence per Pence per

£m share fm share

Previous year final dvidend 430 107 399 100

Current year internim dividend 216 53 192 48

Total 64 6 160 591 48
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9. Dividends {continued) %
The fallowang dividends were propoesed by the Company in respect of the financial year ending 31 December
20m 2010
Pence per Pence per
£m share £m share
Intenm 216 S3 192 48
Final 499 16 428 107
Total 715 169 620 155
The final dividend for 2011 of 11 & pence per share was approved by the Board on 29 February 2012 and, subject to approval by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting will be paid on 15 June 2012 to shareholders on the register on 18 May 2012
(@]
o
10 Property, plant and equipment o
Pant, g
Land and equipment =
bultdings and vehides Total %
£m £m £m g
Cost
AL 1 January 2011 322 148 3 1805
Acquisition of Canlllon Energy Services (see nate 30) 56 69 12.5
Additions 10 96 106
Disposals 22 (40 3) (42 5)
Reclassification (from intangible assets) - o4 04
Reclassification 1 {11) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates {0 3) an (1 4)
At 31 December 2011 374 1227 1601
ur
o
Depreciation and impatrment losses Z
At 1 January 2011 17 216 233 =
Depreciation charge for the year 42 235 277 o
Disposals 20 227 287y &
Reclassification (from intangible assets) - 01 01 it
Reclassification 02 0 2) - ;
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - {0 5) s >
At 31 December 2011 a1 218 259 @
At 1 January 201 305 126 7 1572
At 31 December 2011 333 1009 134 2
Included in the net book value of plant equipment and vehicles 1s £35 1 million (2010 £41 9 millon} in respect of assets held under finance
leases and tire purchase contracts The leased equipment secures lease obligations as disclosed in note 20
Plant
Land and equipment
buitdings and vehicles Total L
£m £m £m %
Cost <Zf
At Y January 2010 295 159 8 1893 o
Additions 29 16 4 193 s
Disposals {26) (347) (37 3) Q
Reclassification {to intangible assets) - 04 04 w
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 24 72 96
At 31 December 2010 322 148 3 1805
Deprecation and imparrment losses
At 1 January 2010 - 211 211
Depreciation charge for the year 33 285 318
Disposals 20) (311 {331)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 04 31 35 v
At 31 December 2010 17 216 233 =
&
Net book value o
At 1 January 2010 295 1387 168 2 =
At 31 December 2010 305 126 7 1572 =
O
=
<L
=
prai
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

11 Intangible assets

Customer Total arising Computer
contracts and  from business software
Goodwill lists  combinations and licences Total
£m £m £m im £m
Cost
At 1 January 2011 1,102 2 2411 13433 270 1,370 3
Acquisition of Canllion Energy Services (see note 30) 3291 294 3585 - 3585
Additions - - - 28 28
Disposals - - - (09) (09
Reclassification (to property, plant and equipment) - - - {0 4) {0 4)
At 31 December 2011 1,4313 2705 1,701 8 285 1730 3
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2011 - 1374 1374 M7 1491
Amortisation for the year - 3to 310 36 346
Disposals - - - (09) (09
Reclassification (to property, plant and equipment) - - - {©1) 01
At 31 December 2011 - 168 4 168 4 143 1827
Net book value
At 1 January 2011 1,102 2 1037 1,205 9 153 1,221 2
At 31 December 2011 1,4313 1021 1,533 4 142 1,547 6

The goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Carilion Energy Services represents the present value of future income streams expected to be

generated from margin growth in the business acquired together with wdentifiable cost savings within the enlarged Group

Customer Total ansing Computer
contracts and from business software
Goodwll hists combinations and heences Total
fm £m fm £m fm

Cost
At 1 January 2010 1,101 3 2409 1,342 2 165 1,358 7
Additions - - - 100 100
Disposals - - - o on
Redassification (from property, plant and equipment) - - - o4 o4
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 09 02 11 02 13
At 31 December 2010 1102 2 2411 1,343 3 270 1,370 3
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2010 - 1097 1097 77 117 4
Amortisatton for the year - 276 276 40 316
Disposals - - - ©n on
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - 01 01 01 02
At 31 December 2010 - 1374 1374 17 1481
Net book value
At 1 January 2010 1,101 3 1312 12325 88 12413
At 31 December 2010 11022 1037 1,2059 153 1,2212
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11 Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
The following units have significant amounts of goodwill

201 2010
£m fm

Construction services (excluding the Middle East) segment
UK construction 2330 2330
Canada construction 14 14
2444 244 4

Support services segment

Business services 1,134 8 8057
Infrastructure services 521 521
1,186 9 8578
Total goodwill 14313 1,102 2

Each year, and whenever events or a change in the economic environment indicates a nsk of impairment, the Group reviews the value of goodwill
balances allocated 1o 1ts cash-generating units (CGUs} In the absence of any identified impairment nisks, tests are performed based on internal
valuations of each CGU

Management consider Support services, Public Private Partnerships projects, Middle East construction services and Construction services
{excluding the Middle East) as distinct reporting segments Goodwill has been altocated to the applicable CGUs within the Construction services
{excluding the Middle East) and Support services reporting segments detailed above The CGUs have been identified wathin the reporting

segments as those businesses that generate cash mflows largely independently of other businesses within the Group and which are subject to
independent management

The acquisition of Canillion Energy Services was a strategic deaision which enabled the Group to sigrificantly enhance its support services
capabiliies and to generate substantial cross-selling opporturities and cost savings in Business services Therefore, the entire goodwill ansing on
this acquisition has been allocated to the Busingss services CGU

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations The value in use in 2011 was determined on a similar basis
to 2010 The key assumptions for the value In use calculations are those regarding the discount rates growth rates and expected changes to
revenue and direct costs dunng the period These assumptions were reviewed in 2011 1n the hight of the prevailing challenging economic
emvironment, including the impact of the Government deficit reduction programme and the decision to reduce Feed-in-Tanffs for solar
photovoltaic systems in the UK and the sovereign debt cnisis in the Eurozone The impact of this on the finanoal stability of our customers,
partners and suppliers will be mitigated by continuing to apply ngorous selectivity critena in relation to their financal stability, the secunty of
project funding and contractual terms and conditions

Discount rates have been estimated based on pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks
speaific to the CGUs Whilst the Group has four CGUs, the nisks and rewards assocated with Construction services {excluding the Middle East)
CGUs are consistent, and therefore one discount rate has been applied to each CGU Similarly the nisks and rewards encountered in the Support
services CGUs are consistent and therefore one discount rate has been applied to each CGU In determining the discount rate management have
sought 1o arrive at a pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) using the capital asset priang model to determine the cost of equity
and then weighting the overall cost of capital for the Group by equity and debt The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows for the

CGUs in the Canstruction services (excluding the Middle East} segment was 12 0 per cent (2010 12 O per cent) and for the CGUs in the Support
services segment was 10 0 per cent (2010 9 4 per cent) The annual growth rates are based on internal assessments Growth 15 expected 1n

the Business services CGU at 5 O per cent per annum for the next five years (2010 5 0 per cent), 2 5 per cent per annum for years six to ten
(2010 2 5 per cent) which refiects expected changes to the Retail Pnice Index, and no growth thereafter In respact of the Construction services
{excluding the Middle East) segment, the cash flow forecast used assumes no growth, fully reflecting the re-scaling of UK construction actmity
currently being undertaken These growth rates do not exceed the long-term industry average and reflect the synergies from recent acquisitions

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financiat budgets approved by management for the following year and
extrapolates cash flows based upon the growth rates indicated above Sensitvity analysis on the discount rate shows that the discount rate would
have to increase to 28 4 per cent for Construction services (excluding the Middle East) and to 14 3 per cent for Support Services before an
impawment was triggered

As at 31 December 2011 based on internal valuations, Canllion plc management concluded that the recoverable value of the cash-generating
units tested exceeded therr carrying amount

Amortisation charge

The amorusation charge of £34 6 million (2010 £31 6 mullion} 1s recognised in administrative expenses 1n the income statement Amortisation
of the intangible assets of £119 0 miflion anising on the acquisition of Mowlem 1n 2006 will be 79 per cent complete by 2016 The remarrung
amortisation charge 1s incurred over the following 25 years Amortisation of the intangible assets of £125 4 milion ansing on the acquisiion
of Alfred McAlpine in 2008 will be 84 per cent complete by 2013 with the remaining amortisation charge continuing untl 2019 Amorusation
of the intangible asset of £29 4 million ansing on the acquisition of Carillion Energy Services will be complete by 2014
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

12 Investments in jointly controlled entities

Equity Loan Total
tnvestments advances tnvestments Gaodwill Total
£m £m £m £m £fm

Cost
At 1 January 2011 690 550 124 0 21 126 1
Equity investments 11 - 11 - 11
Disposals (36) @7 {13 3) - {13 3)
Net loans advanced - 289 289 - 289
Reclassification 102 (10 2) - - -
Reclassification (from trade and other receivables) 13 - 13 - 13
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates ©3) 01 (0 4) - {0 3)
At 31 December 2011 777 639 1416 21 1437
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2011 87 - 87 - 87
Share of results for the year after taxation 48 7 - 487 - 437
Share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax) (13 3) - {13 3) - {13 3)
Disposals 84 - B4 - 84
Distnibutions received (37 3) - (37 3) - (37 3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 07 - 07 - 07
At 31 December 2011 159 - 159 - 159
Net book value
At 1 January 2011 777 550 1327 21 13438
At 31 December 2011 936 639 1575 21 1596

Equrty investments of £1 1 milhon relate to the acquisihion in cash of interests in a number of development jointly controlted entities in Canada

During the year, the Group disposed of 1ts equity investments in three Public Private Partnership projects and a small jointly controlled entity

in the Netherlands The £1 3 million reclassification from trade and other receivables relates to an item previously included within amounts owed

by jontly controlled entities

Equity Loan Total
investments advances investments Goodwll Total
£m £m £m £m fm
Cost
At 1 January 2010 586 415 1001 21 102 2
Equity investments 09 - 09 - 09
Disposals on (12 2) 12 3) - (12 3)
Net loans advanced - 336 336 - 336
Reclassification 84 84 - - -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 12 a5 17 - 17
At 31 December 2010 690 550 1240 21 1261
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2010 236 - 236 - 236
Share of results for the year after taxation 460 - 46 0 - 46 0
Share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax) {13 4) - (13 4) - (13 4)
Disposals 03 - 03 - 03
Distributions received (50 3) - (50 3) - (50 3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 25 - 25 - 25
At 31 December 2010 B7 - 87 - 87
Net book value
At 1 January 2010 822 415 1237 21 125 8
At 31 December 2010 777 550 1327 21 134 8

Equity investments of £0 9 million include £0 5 million relating to the acquisition in cash of interests In a number of development jointly controlled

entities in Canada and £0 4 million relating to the acquisiion in cash of interests In a number of PPP jointly controlled entities Duning 2010, the
Group disposed of its equity investment in a PPP jointly controlled entity as disclosed in note 30

As disclosed in nate 34, the Group has equity interests in a number of PPP jointly controlled entities that are in excess of 50 per cent of the issued
share capital of the entities concerned The Group accounts for these interests using the equity method as the power to govern the financial and
cperating policies of the entities 1s shared under the terms of shareholder agreements

The Group’s aggregate share of net assets of jointly controlled entities 1s analysed below Borrowing within jointly controlled entites amounung
to £1,104 9 million (2010 £921 2 million) are without recourse to the Carifhon Group
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12 Investments in jointly cantrolled entities (continued} %
2011 2010
PPR PPP
projects. Other Total projects Other Total
£m £m £m fm fm £m
Non-current assets 1,105 1 1255 1.2306 1,145 6 94 4 1,2400
Cash 870 490 136 0 734 346 1080
Other current assets 1477 3351 482 8 779 3789 456 8
Share of gross assets 1,3398 5096 1,849 4 12969 5079 18048
Current borrowing {29 8) 7 (315) {26 6) {18 3) {44 9)
Current hiabilities (96 3) {328 8) (383 1) (67 0) (353 O) (420 Q) o
Non-current borrowing {1.034 9) {38 5) (1,073 4) (845 6) (31 4) {8770} a
Non-current labifities {204 5) {(313) {235 8) (344 3) {55) (349 8) wi
Provisions (2 4) - (2 4) 77) - (77 =
Share of gross liabihties (1,327 9) (400 3) {1,728 2) {1291 2) {408 2) (1,699 4) ']4_:
Share of net assets excluding denvatives "9 109 3 1212 57 997 105 4 z
Financial instrument derivatives (25 5) - {25 5) (25 6) - (25 6)
Share of net (habilities)/assets (13 6) 1093 957 (199 997 798
Loan advances 569 70 639 550 - 550
Total investment in jointly controlled entities 4313 116 3 1596 351 9% 7 1348
Finanoal instrument derivatives within PPP projects relate to interest rate swaps entered into by the jontly controfted entities concerned as
a means of hedging interest rate nsk and are stated net of deferred tax In accordance with International Accounting Standard 39 ‘Financial
instruments Recognition and measurement’, these denviatives are accounted for as cash flow hedges with the effective portion of movements w
in fair value each year recognised in the hedging reserve (]
=4
<
=
13 Other investments b=
£m E
Fair value =
At 1 January 2011 557 ;
Additions 34 S
Acquistion of Canllion Energy Services (see note 30) 10 o
increase in fair value 50
At 31 December 2011 651
Impairment losses
At 1 January and 31 December 2011 138
Net book value
At 1 January 2011 4119 L
At 31 December 2011 513 Y
<
=
Additions i the year include £3 0 miflion paid in cash relating to subordinated debt invested in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited, a Public Private o
Partnership unquoted entity in which the Group holds 12 5 per cent of the 1ssued share capital 5
(]

On the acquisiion of Canthon Energy Services the Group acquired a £1 0 milion investment in Homesun Holdings Limited, a group involved

in the sale of solar photovoltaic panels, and 19 9 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of Solar Clean Energy Holdings Limited, a privately financed
special purpose entity engaged in providing solar photovoltaic panels to residential dwellings in the UK A further investment in Homesun
Holdings Limited in cash of £0 4 million was made in the penod following acquisiion and at the balance sheet date, the total investment of

£1 4 milhon represents 91 per cent of Homesun Holdings Linited's 1ssued share capital

£m
Fair value
At 1 January 2010 600 v
Additions s =
Disposals (14 1) =
Increase in farr value 59 =
At 31 December 2010 557 :<__:
(Vg
]
Impairment losses 2
At 1 January and 31 December 2010 38 O
Pl
<T
Net book value =z

At 1 January 2010 46 2
At 31 December 2010 419
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13 Other investments (continued)

On 21 December 2010 the Group disposed of 5 per cent of its equity interest in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited and as a result, the Group's
interest in Aspire Defence Holdings Lirited was 12 5 per cent at the balance sheet date

The remaining other investments cost of £13 8 milhon relates to the non-quoted equity investment in the Alice Springs to Darwin raltway
The investment has been fully impaired following the project being placed in administration

14 Deferred tax assets and habihities
Recognised deferred tax assets and habilities

Deferred tax assets and habiities are attnbutable to temporary differences relating to the following

Assets Liabilimes Net
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m £m fm
Property, plant and equipment 169 105 - - 16 9 105
Intangible assets - - (25 5) (278) (25 5) {27 8)
Liabihty for National Insurance on future Eaga Partnership
Trusts distnbutions 43 - - - 43 -
Employee benefits 765 673 - - 765 673
Working capital 134 48 - - 134 48
Equrty-settled transactions 07 - - - 07 -
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 258 189 - - 258 189
Tax assets/(habilities) 1376 1015 (25 5) (27 8) 121 737
Set off of tax - 02 - 02 - -
Net tax assets/{(llabilities) 1376 1017 (25 5) (28 0) 1121 737
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items
2011 2010
£m £m
Tax losses 605 640

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislabon Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due 1o the lack
of certanty concerning the quantum and uming of future years taxable profits of the companies concerned

Following the introduction of the foreign profits exemption with effect from 1 July 2009, no deferred tax hability 1s required to be recognised
in relation 1o taxable temporary differences anising on unremitted earmings from overseas businesses

Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows

Balance  Cn acquisition Balance

¥ January of Carillion Recognised Recognised 31 December

2011 Energy Services tn income inequity 2Mm

£m fm £m £fm im

Property, plant and equipment 105 20 44 - 169

Intangible assets {27 8) (7 6) 99 - (25 5)
Liability for National Insurance on future Eaga Partnership

Trusts distnbutions - 48 (0 5) - 43

Employee benefits 673 02 (110} 200 76 5

Working capital 48 91 {0 5) - 134

Equity-settled transactions - - 06 01 o7

Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 189 113 (4 4) - 258

737 198 {15) 201 1121

Balance Balance

1 January Recognised Recognised 31 December

2010 1N NCome in equity 2010

£m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 169 64 - 105

Intangible assets (36 5) 87 - (27 8)

Employee benefits 827 {96 (5 8) 673

Working capital 80O 32 - a8

Equity-settied transactions - an 11 -

Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 241 52 - 189

952 (16 8} 47) 737

The UK Government's Budget on 23 March 2011 announced that the UK corparation tax rate will reduce to 23 per cent over a period of four
years from 2011 The first reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 28 per cent {effective from 1 April 2011) was substantively enacted on
20 July 2010 and further reductions to 26 per cent (effective from 1 April 2011) and 25 per cent {effective from 1 Apnl 2012) were substantively
enacted on 29 March 2011 and 5 July 2011 respectively This will reduce the Company's future current tax charge accordingly The deferred tax
asset at 31 December 2011 has been calculated based on the rate of 25 per cent substantively enacted at the balance sheet date It has not yet
been possible to quantify the full anucipated effect of the announced further 2 per cent rate reduction to 23 per cent although this will further
reduce the Company’s future current tax charge and reduce the Company’s deferred tax asset accordingly
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15 Inventones

2011 2010
£m £fm

Raw materials and consumables a12 212
Work in progress 260 194
finished goods 44 -
716 406

The amount of inventonies recognised as an expense duning the year was £144 6 million (2010 £26 3 million) and the amount of any write down
of inventories recogmised as an expense was £3 1 million {2010 £0 1 million), with the increase in the year reflecting the acquisition of Carillion
Energy Services Development work in progress of £15 2 million (2010 £13 5 million) 1s expected to be recovered after more than 12 months

16 Construction contracts
Contracts in progress at the balance sheet date

201 2010

£ Em

Due from customers for contract work 3215 3380
Due to customers for contract work (207 2) (202 6)

The aggregate arnount of costs incurred plus recognised profits {less recognised losses} for all contracts In progress at the balance sheet date was
£3,890 & million (2010 £4,806 2 milhon) Advances received from customers relating to contracts in progress amounted to £128 1 million (2010
£170 8 million)

The amount of construction contract revenue recogmised as revenue in the year amounted to £2,032 2 milhon (2010 £2 393 2 mihon)

17 Trade and other receivables

2011 2010
£m fm

Trade recevables 2827 2831
Amounts owed by customers on construction contracts 3215 3380
Other receivables and prepayments 3505 3200
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entities 128 5 1055
Amounts owed under jointly controlled operations M4 58
1.094 6 1,052 4

In 2010 trade receivables have been re-presented to include balances previously analysed as amounts owed by jointly controlled entities
At 31 December 2011, retentions of £29 0 million (2010 £64 8 million) relating to construction contracts and other amounts recoverable

after more than one year of £45 1 million {2010 £24 3 mullion) are included above as they are recoverable within the normal operating cycle
of the Group

18 Cash and cash equivalents and net (borrowing)/cash
Cash and cash equivalents and net (borrowing)/cash comprise

2011 2010
£m fm

Cash and cash equivalents 4907 3967

Bank overdrafts (30) (5 6)
Net cash and cash equivalents 4877 3911

Bank loans (3997) {201 4}
Finance lease obligaticns (38 4) (53 8)
Other loans (100 3) (157}
Net (borrowtng)/cash (507) 1202

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net (borrewing)/cash

01 2010
fm £m

Increase n net cash and cash equivalents 974 1361

Net cash and cash equwvalents in subsidiaries acquired (see note 30) 15 -
Draw down of bank and other loans (223 0) (50 2)
Proceeds from finance leaseback - (38)
Payment of finance lease habiities 158 73

Change n net (borrowing)/cash resulting from cash flows {108 3} 994

Net borrowing in subsidianes acquired (see note 30) {61 5) -
Finance lease additions (0 8) ©4)
Currency translation differences (03) 37
Change in net (borrowing)/cash (170 9) 953

Net cash at t January 120 2 249

Net (borrowing)/cash at 31 December (507 120 2
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19 Current asset nvestments

2m 2010
im £m
Current asset investments 43 -

Current asset investments include cash balances held on deposi for periods greater than three months and certain restricted cash balances,
which are held at floating interest rates finked to the UK Bank Base Rate

20 Borrowing

This note prowides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings For more information about
the Group’s exposure to Interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 27

2011 2010
fm fm
Current habilities

Bank overdrafts 30 56
Bank loans 82 108
Finance lease obligations 213 202
Other loans - 154
325 520

Non-current llabilities
Bank loans 3915 190 6
Finance lease obligations 171 336
Other loans 100 3 03
508 9 2245
Total borrowing 5414 2765

Other loans inciudes £100 0 million of private placement {inancing completed in August 2011 The private placement comprises a £49 0 mullion
seven year loan at a fixed interest rate of 4 38 per cent per annum and a £51 0 million 10-year loan at a fixed interest rate of 5 1 per cent
per annum

Bank loans and overdrafts are largely unsecured and bear interest at floating rates linked to London Interbank Otfered Rate Within bank loans
of £391 5 milhon (2010 £190 6 mullion) In non-current habilities are loans amounting to £3 0 milllon (2010 £3 0 mithon) which are secured on
the assets to which they relate Other loans are not secured and finance lease chligations are secured on the assets to which they relate

Finance lease habilities
Finance lease habilities are payable as follows

Minimum Minimum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
2011 201 2011 2010 2010 2010
£m im £m £m £m £m
Less than one year 229 (16) 213 229 27 202
Between one and five years 178 {07) 171 359 23) 336
407 23) 384 58 8 50 538

Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable
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21 Trade and other payables

2011 2010
£m £m

Trade payables 7416 6166
Amounts owed to customers on construction contracts 2072 2026
Other tax and social secunty costs 436 292
Amounts owed 10 jaintly controlled entities 155 155
Other creditors 274 5 2497
Accruals and deferred income 4912 5932
1,773 6 1,706 8

In 2010 trade payables have been re-presented to include balances previously analysed as amounts owed to jointly controlled entities
Within trade and other payables are £18 2 millon (2010 £35 3 mullion) of habilities due In more than one year but are payable within the
normal operating cycle of the Group All other trade and other payables are due within one year

22 Provisions

Onerous EFT

Rationallsation leases NI Total

£m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2011 49 14 3 - 192
Provisions created 378 47 - 425
Provisions acquired with Cartlion Energy Services (see note 30) 63 137 190 390
Discount unwind - 18 - 18
Provisions utiised (29 9) (6 9) (0 6) (374)
At 31 December 2011 191 276 184 651

Disclosed within

Current hiabilities 191 83 184 458
Non-current liabilities - 193 - 193
191 276 18 4 651

The rationalisation provision at 1 January 2011 relates to non-recurnng redundancy and other associated costs incurred to ensure that the
Group's cost base reflects the expected reduction in our UK construction market as indicated in the UK Government Emergency Budget on

22 June 2010 The provision created in the year primarnily relates to redundancy and other associated costs ansing from a review of the Group’s
requirements following the acquisiion of Cardlion Energy Services (CES)

The onerous lease provision at 1 January 2011 relates to a number of onerous leases acquired with Mowlem in 2006 and Alfred McAlpine 1n
2008 and prowisions created for property interests retained on the disposal of Canllion IT Services Umited and Enviras Group Limited in 2009 The
provisions created during the year relates to a number of onerous leases acquired with CES The provision is expected to be utilised over a penod
of five years

A provision of £19 0 million has been recegnised on the acquisition of CES in relation to future distributions to employees from the Eaga
Partnership Trusts (EPT) which crystallises a National Insurance cost to the Company as disclosed in note 30 In the penad since acquisiion, the
EPT made a distnibution of assets to employees whereby 1,873,875 Canllion shares held by the EPT arising from the acquisiion were placed nto
the Share Incentive Plan Further details on the EPT are given in the Remuneration report on page 53 The utihsation of this provision in the period
15 included within Eaga Partnership Trusts related charges in the cash flow statement

Cnerous

Rationalisation leases Total

Em Em Em

At 1 January 2010 59 161 220
Provisions created 94 02 96
Discount unwind - 14 14
Provisions utilised (10 4) (34) (13 8
At 31 Decemnber 2010 49 143 192

Disclosed within

Current liabilities 49 86 135
Non-current habilities - 57 57
49 143 192
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23 Share capital

20m 2010
Number Nurmber
million £m rmillion £m
Issued and fully pawd
At 1 January 3997 1898 3973 1986
New share capital issued 306 153 24 12
At 31 December 430 3 2151 3997 139 8

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carnes no nght to fixed income Dunng the year 30,613,192 shares were issued In redation
to the acguisiion of Canllion Energy Services (formerly Eaga plc)

24 Reserves

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arsing from the translation of the financial statements of fareign operations as
well as from the translation of liabihties that hedge the Group's net investment in foreign operations The translation reserve also includes any
related current taxation

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred, together with any related deferred taxation

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the cumulatve net change in the farr value of available-for-sale investments until the investment 1s derecognised,
together with any related deferred taxation

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arose on the demerger from Tarmac plc on 29 July 1999 The reserve increased on the acquisition of Mowlem on 23 February
2006, Alfred McAlpine on 12 February 2008 and Canilion Energy Services on 21 April 2011, whereby the consideration included the issue of
Canllion plc shares The premium on the shares 1ssued in relatton to these acquisitions has been credited to the merger reserve rather than the
share premium account In accordance with The Companies Act 2006 The £30 S million transfer to the retained earnings reserve dunng the year
represents the amortsation of intangible assets recognised on the Mowlem, Alfred McAlpine and Cariliton Energy Services acquisitions

Retained earnings

Retained earnings include the reserve for the Company s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company's shares held by the Carlion
Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the Group s share
incentive schemes The movements in the reserve for own shares included within retained earnings are as follows

201 2010

£m £m
At 1 January 01) (11)
Share options exercised by employees (exerase price) - 37
Proceeds from exeraise of share options - 23
Share options exercised (transfer to retained earnings) 43 06
Acquisition of own shares {4 4) {5 6)
At 31 December (0 2) on

At 31 Becember 2011, the ESOP held 74,290 (2010 38,302} of the Company’s shares and had a market value of £0 2 million (2010 £0 1 mullion)
During the year the Company acquired 1 2 mullion of its own shares for £4 4 milion to meet the plan’s future commitments The ESOP has
elected to waive all dividends except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dwvidend is paid

In addition to the ESOP, the Company has also established a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust ( QUEST’) At 31 December 2011 the
total number of shares held by the QUEST amounted to 129,979 {2010 129,979} and had a market value of £0 4 millicn (2010 £0 S million)
The QUEST has elected to watve all dividends in excess of 0 01 pence per share

Buring the year the Company also acquired 0 7 million of its own shares for £2 5 million to faciitate an award under the Carillion Energy Services
Share Incenuve Plan (SIP} for UK partners as disclosed in note 4 Awards under the SIP vest immedsately in relation to UK partners and therefore
the cost of these shares of £2 5 milhon has been charged directly to the retained earnings reserve and 15 included within acquisihon of own shares
in the cash flow statement
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The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and semor employees to shares in the Company
Full details of share option schemes can be found in the Remuneration report on pages 52 to 53 In additton, under the terms of the Group's
bonus arrangements, senior employees and Executive Directors receive a proportion of their bonus mn shares, which vest a year after the award
In respect of seniar employees and two years after the award in respect of Executive Directors

The recogrution and measurement principles in international financial Reporting Standard 2 "Share-based payment (IFRS 2) have not been
applied to grants of options before 7 November 2002 in accordance with the transitional prowisions in International Financial Reporting Standard
1 *Airst-ume adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards® and IFRS 2

The terms and conditions of option schemes within the scope of IFRS 2 are as follows, whereby all options are settled by the physical delivery

of shares
Number of Contractual life Exercise
Grant date instruments. Vesting conditions of options price
ESOS option grant at 1 July 2003 11,015 Three years of service and increase 10 years 163 4p
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 4%
over a rolling three year penod
ESOS option grant at 15 March 2005 45,386 Three years of service and increase 10 years 242 75p
in EPS of RPI plus a mmimum of 4%
over a rolkng three year penod
LEAP option grant at 7 Apnl 2009 1,139,034 Three years of senvice and increase 3 years il
In EPS of RPI plus a rimimum of 3%
over a roling three year penod
LEAP option grant at 17 March 2010 871,764 Three years of service and increase 3 years nil
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 3%
over a rolling three year period
LEAP option grant at 8 Apnl 2011 863,786 Three years of service and increase 3 years nil
n EPS of RPI ptus a mimirmum of 3%
over a rolling three year penod
SIP International option grant at 29 July 2011 79,715 Three years of service 3 years il
Deferred benus scheme 848,275 Two years of service for Executive 1-2 years nil
Directors and one years service for
senior employees
Total share options 3,858,975
The number and weighted average exercise prices of all of the Group’s share options are as follows
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise pnce of options £xercise prce of options
2011 2011 2010 2010
At 1 January 42p 3,079,301 MN64p 5931478
Forfeited during the year - (575,728} 2228p (2,036,889)
Exercised during the year - (1,211,308} 1140p (1,962,762)
Granted during the year - 2,566,710 - 1147,474
At 31 December 33p 3,858,975 42p 3,079,301
Exercisable at the end of the year 227 3p 56,401 227 3p 56 401

The range of option prices for those options exercisable at the end of the year s 163 4 pence — 242 75 pence and the weighted average
remaining contractual term for these options exercisable is three years The weighted average share price during the year was 355 65 pence
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25 Share-based payments (continued)

The fair value of serwices recewed in return for share options granted is measured based on a Black-Scholes model using the following
assumptions

2011 2011 2011 2010 2009 2008
Deferred bonus SIP LEAP LEAP LEAP LEAP
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date 284 8p 322 4p 3379p 2759 232 5p 358 5p
Share price at grant date 311 6p 366 8p 384 4p 318 6p 258 5p 3838p
Exercise price ml nul nil nil il nil
Expected volatility 13 97% 16 80% 15 85% 19 70% 18 04% 16 01%
Option Iife 1or2years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yreld 4 50% 4 30% 4 30% 4 80% 354% 227%
Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) 045% 114% 110% 122% 216% 396%

The expected volatility 1s based on the histonc volatiity (calculated based on the weighted average remaining hfe of the share options), adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information

Employee expenses

201 2010
£m £m

Equity-settled share options and deferred bonus shares granted in
2006 - 22
2007 - (10)
2008 04 0 6)
2009 05 09)
2010 0 08
2011 18 -
Total expense/{income) recognised as employee costs 25 (39

In addition to the above, a share option charge of £2 8 milion has ansen for shares awarded under the Carilion Energy Services Share Incentive Plan
(5IP), which are wholly funded by the Eaga Partnership Trusts wared dividend and included i non-recurring operating items (see note 4) Shares
awarded under the SIP to UK partners vest immediately and therefore the share-based payment charge 1s recognised in full at the date of award
Shares awarded under the SIP to international partners have a three year vesting peniod and the share-based payment charge s recognised over the
vesting perniod

The expected life of the options Is taken to be the fuil vesting period, as historical exercise patterns have shown this to be appropnate The

estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest ignores the possibility that market conditions may or may not be achieved given that
these market conditions are already included in the fair value of the options

26 Guarantees and contingent habilities

201 2010

£m £m
Guarantees in respect of interest payments in Construction services {excluding the Middle East) jointly controlied entities 02 11
Guarantees in relation to deferred equity payments in PPP special purpose entittes 1009 770
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks i relation to performance on contracts for PPP customers 917 666

Guarantees and counter indemnites have, in the normal course of business, been given to financial institutions in respect of the provision of
performance and cther contract related bonds and to certain defined henefit pension schemes in respect of deficit recovery payments The
Group considers such guarantees and counter indemnities to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such The Group treats
guarantees and counter indemnities of this nature as contingent liabihties until such time as 1t becomes probable that the Group will be required
1o make a payment under the terms of the arrangement

Claims under contracts and other agreements including joint arrangements are outstanding in the normal course of business




Carillton plc Annual Report and Accounts 2011 85

26 Guarantees and contingent habilities (continued)
The Group, in the normal course of its construction actvities s the subject of certain legal proceedings The resolution of these proceedings is
regarded as unlikely to succeed or to have a material effect on the Group's financial positron

There are no liabilities of jointly controlled entities for which the Group 15 contingently hable

27 Finanaal instruments
Categories of financial instruments

Leans and Finanoal Fnanaal
receivables at liabulitres at lable habihities held
amortised cost  amortised cost for sale for trading Tatal
31 December 2011 £m €m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Other non-current asset investments - - 513 - 513
Cash and cash equivalents 4907 - - - 4907
Current asset investments 43 - - - 43
Trade receivables 2827 - - - 2827
Total 7777 - 513 - 8290
Financial hiabilities
Bank overdrafts - 30) - - {30)
Bank loans - (399 7) - - {399 7)
Finance lease obligations - (38 4) - - (334)
Other loans - {100 3) - - {100 3)
Trade payables - (741 6) - - {741 6)
Dernvatve financial instruments - - - {0 9) {0 9)
Total - (1.283 0) - (09) (1,283 9)
Loans and Financial Financial
recewables at habilities at Available habilities held
amortised cost amortised cost for sale for trading Total
31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m

Financial assets

Other non-current asset investments - - 419 - 419
Cash and cash equivalents 3967 - - - 3967
Trade receivables 2831 - - - 2831

Total 6798 - 419 - 7217
Financial liabtlities

Bank overdrafts - (5 6) - - (5 6)
Bank loans - (201 &) - - (201 4)
Finance lease obligations - (53 8) - - (53 8)
Other loans - (15 7} - - (157)
Trade payables - {616 &) - - (616 6}
Dervative financial instruments - - - (4] (02)
Total - (893 1) - ©2) (893 3)

Financial sk management

Financial nsk management 1s an integral part of the way the Group 1s managed In the course of its business the Group 1s exposed primarily to
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, hquidity nsk and credit nsk The overall aim of the Group’s finanaial nsk management policies are to
minimise potential adverse effects on financal performance and net assets

The Group's treasury department manages the pninapal finanaal nsks within policies and operating parameters approved by the Board of
Directors The treasury department is not a profit centre and does not enter nto speculative transactions

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in a number of overseas regions primarily the Middle East and Canada In order to protect the Group’s balance sheet from
the impact of foreign exchange rate volatility, foreign currency denominated net assets that exceed £10 million equivalent are hedged, as a
mimimum, to at feast 60 per cent of the net asset value Net investment hedging of overseas operations 1s achieved through borrowing
denomunated in the relevant foreign currencies or where this 1s not practicable, in a currency which the relevant currency closely follows

Group policy 15 to recogruse gains and losses from the effective portions of the hedges in equity and to recognise ineffective portions immediately
In the income statement

Profits ansing within overseas operations are not hedged unless it 15 planned to make a distribution Such distributions are then treated as
currency transactions and hedged accordingly

The Group has relatively small and infrequent transactional foreign currency exposures Any individual exposures that are significant are hedged
using forward contracts or other appropriate sk management techniques

Further detasls concerming the nisks associated with the overseas regions in which the Group operates can be found in the Operating and financial
review on page 33
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27 Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Group's borrowing denominated in foreign currency 15 as follows

2011 2010
£m £m

United States of America Dollar {16 3) (17 6)
Canadian Dollar {94 8) (82 0)
United Arab Emirates Dirham {7 9) 79
Other {(19) (z1
{(1209) (109 6)

Of the total foreign currency borrowing of £120 9 mullion (2010 £109 6 million) the amount of borrowing used for hedging overseas currency
net assets amounts to £86 4 million (2010 £65 4 million) The foreign exchange gain of £0 1 million (2010 £3 8 million loss) on translation of the
borrowing into sterling has been recogrused in the translation reserve as these hedging loans are effective hedges

The Group does not have a significant amount of foreign currency exposure 1n respect of financial assets

Each movement of five per cent in exchange rates against sterling would have changed reported profit before tax and equity as follows

Five per cent increase Five per cent decreasa

Profrt Equity Prafit Equity

£m £m £m £m

United States of America Dollar - 08 - (09}
Canadian Dollar - 29 - (32)
Euro {0 4) 11 04 12}
United Arab Emurates Dirham an {41 18 46
Oman Rials 09 on (07) 10
Darush Kroner - 12 - {13)
Other - (06) - 07

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest bearing debt 15 predominantly drawn from commutted bank facitities to fund acquisitions and ongoing working capital
requirements In addition, foreign currency denominated borrowings have been drawn under the facilities to hedge net assets of overseas
operations Such borrowing is subject to floating rates of interest linked to London Interbank Offered Rate During 2011 the Group secured
additional finance of £100 rmillion from a private placement at fixed rates of interest, as disclosed in note 20 The prinaipal purpose of raising this
finance at fixed interest rates was to ensure that around 20% of the Group's barrowing was not subject to floating rates of interest which may
Increase No interest rate hedging 15 currently undertaken by the Group's subsidiarnies However, a number of the Group's Pubhic Private
Partnership jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate swaps

A one percentage point rise in interest rates in respect of US dollar denominated borrowings would increase the annual net interest charge by
approximately £0 1 miflion in respect of Canadian dollar denominated borrowings an increase of £0 6 million, In respect of sterling denominated
borrowings an increase of £2 8 million, and in respect of United Arab Emirates Dirham denominated borrowings an increase of £0 1 million

Liquidity rnsk

The Group’s policy on iquidity risk Is to ensure that sufficient borrowing facilities are avalable to fund ongoing operations without the need to
carry significant net debt over the medium term The Group s principal borrowings are provided by a group of core relationship banks in the form
of a syndicated facility, a bilatera! facility, private placement financing and short-term overdraft facilities The quantum of committed borrowing
faciliies available to the Group 1s reviewed regularly and 1s designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels The average net borrowing during
2011 was £149 4 mulhon (20710 £41 8 million)
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The remaining contractual maturity profile of the Group’s habilities, which indudes estimated future interest payments, 1s as follows

Trade Bank Bank Other Finance
payables. cverdrafts loans loans leases Total
31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year (741 6) {3 0} (171) (4 7) (22 9) (789 3)
Between one and two years - - 89 a7 {15 1) (28 7)
Between two and three years - - (89) (47) (2 0) (15 6)
Between three and four years - - (8 8) a7 (0 3) {13 8)
Between four and five years - - (393 7) a7} (0 4) (398 8)
More than five years - - - {116 1} - {116 1)
(741 6) (30) {437 4) {139 6) (40.7) (1.362 3)

Trade Bank Bank Other Finance
payables overdrafts loans loans leases Total
31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year (616 6) (S 6) (129) (15 5} (22 9) (673 5
Between one and two years - - (192 1) oy (19 5) 2n 7
Between two and three years - - - [(sF:}} (14 2) (14 6}
Between three and four years - - - - (2 0) (2 0}
Between four and five years - - - - (02) 0 2)
(616 6) {5 6} (205 0) {16 0) (58 8) {902 O}

Borrowing facilities

The Group has the following undrawn commutted borrowng facilittes available at the year end in respect of which all conditions precedent had

been met
20m 200
£m £m
Expiring within one year 71 72
Expiring between one and two years - 449 3
Expiring between two and five years 3490 -
3561 456 5

Credit risk

Credit nsk anses on financial instruments such as trade receivables, short-term bank deposiis and foreign currency contracts Policies and
procedures exist to ensure that customers have an appropriate crecht history Short-term bank deposits and foreign currency contracts are
executed only with highly credit-rated authonised counterparties based on ratings issued by the major rating agencies Counterparty exposure
pesitions are menitored regularly so that credit exposures to any one counterparty are approved at mam Board level or within predetermined
himits The maximurm exposure toa credit risk 1s represented by the carrying value of each financial asset

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at 31 December by geographic region was

2011 2010

£m £m

United Kingdom 1712 1532
Middle East 342 398
Canada 756 867
Rest of the World 17 34
2827 2831
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27 Finanaal instruments (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit nsk for trade recevables at 31 December by segment was

201 2010
£m fm

Support services 162 5 124 8
Public Private Partnerstup projects 01 o1
Middle East construction services 342 398
Construction services {excluding the Middle East) 859 118 4
2827 2831

The Group’s most significant customer, the UK Government, accounts for £41 3 mullion of the trade recewables carrying amount at
31 December 2011 (2010 £46 6 rmullion)

Trade receivables included in the balance sheet are net of an impatrment provision which has been estimated by management following a
review of individual recevable accounts and s based on prior experience and known factors at the balance sheet date Receivables are written
off against the impairment provision when management considers that the debt 1s no longer recoverable The ageing of trade recewvables is
as follows

2011 2010
Net trade Net trade

veceivables impairment receivables Impairment
£m £m £m £m
Not past due 166 3 - 180 3 -
Past due less than three months 853 12 721 a5
Past due between three and six months "7 10 131 186
Past due between six and 12 months 97 24 43 05
Past due more than 12 months 97 57 133 52
2827 103 2831 78

The movement in the impawment provision s as follows
2011 2010
£m fm
At 1 January 7B 96
Provision acquired with Canllion Energy Services 26 -
Prowision created 11 05
Provision utilised (0 8) {14)
Provision released (0 4) o9
At 31 December 103 78

Whilst uncertainty surrounding counterparty nsk has increased due to the prevailing economic cimate on balance the Group believes that
debtors will meet their payment obligations in respect of the amount of trade receivables recognised in the balance sheet that are past due and
unprovided as at 31 December 2011

Qverall, the Group considers that it 1s not exposed to a significant amount of credit risk

Derivative financial instruments

201 2010

Assets Liabihties Assets Liabiibes

£m £m £m £m

Forward foreign currency contracts and options - 09) - 02

The movement in farr value of forward foreign currency contracts and options has been recognised in administrative expenses in the income
statement

In addition to the above, a number of the Group’s Public Private Partnership (PPP) jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate
derivatives as a means of hedging interest rate nsk Interest bearing debts and the associated interest rate derivatives within these PPP jointly
controlled entiies are without recourse to the Group The life of these hedge arrangements track PPP contract terms and hedge future
movements across a range up untll February 2040 The {air value of these dernvatives 1s based on guoted prices in active markets, with the
movement in fair value each year recognised in the share of change in farr value of effective cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities

In the statement of comprehensive iIncome At 31 December 2011 the Group s share of the total net fair value hability of interest rate dervatives
in PPP jointly controlled entities amounted to £161 3 milion (2010 £107 4 million) of which £34 0 milhon (2010 £35 1 mullion) (and the related
deferred tax asset of £8 5 million (2010 £9 5 mullion)) has been recognised in the hedging reserve
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27 Financal instruments (continued)

Fatr values

Financial mstruments carned at fair value in the balance sheet are non-current asset investments and derivative financial nstruments The fair
value of the investment in Aspire Defence Heldings Limited 1s determined based on a level 3 valuation method using valuation techmigues that
in¢lude inputs that are not based on market data Fair value is calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using an asset speafic
discount rate, with the movement in fair value each year recognised in the farr value movement on available for sale assets in the statement of
comprehensive Income

The movement in the fair value of the mvestment in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited denved using a level 3 valuation method 1s shown below

fm
At 1 January 201 419
Additrons 30
Recognised In the statement of comprehensive income 50
At 31 December 2011 499

The fair value of the investment in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited 1s most sensitive to mavements in the discount rate used A one percentage
point increase in the discount rate would reduce the fair value by £4 8 million The fair value of the equity investment in Homesun Holdings
Limited cannot be measured reliably as the equity instrument 1s not quoted in an active market and the Group’s shareholding of 9 1% does not
gwe significant influence over access to cash flow information to denve a level 3 fair value For these reasons the equity interest In Homesun
Holdings Limited 1s carried (n the statement of financial position at cost of £1 4 mullion

The fair value of dernvatve financial instruments is based on a level 2 valuation method, using nputs from quoted prices In active markets, with
the movement in fair value each year recogmised in admirustrative expenses in the income statement

Where there are differences between the amortised cost carrying value and fair value of the Group’s principal financial instruments at
31 December these are shown below

2011 2010
Carying Carrying

value Fair value value Farr value

£m £m £m £m

Trade recevables 2827 282 2 2831 2821
Trade payables 7416 7416 616 6 616 6
Cash and cash equivalents 4907 4907 3967 3867
Current asset iInvestments 43 43 - -
Bank overdrafts {30} {30) (5 6) (5 B}
Bank loans (399 7) {3997) {201 4) 201 4)
Finance lease obligations (38 4) (37 4) (53 8) 479
Other loans (100 3) (99 2) (157) (157)

Fair value 1s calculated by discounting future cash flows using appropriate interest rates Finance lease obligations are vatued by calculating the
present value of the future mirimum lease payments

Capital nsk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and other stakeholders and to maintain an cptimal debt and equity structure

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, 1ssue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt The Group has a policy of progressively increasing dvidends paid to shareholders
broadly in kne with earnings per share growth, after taking account of the investment needs of the business No changes were made in the
capital nsk management objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010
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27 Financal instruments {continued)

The capital structure of the Group comprises borrowing, net cash and cash equivalents and total equity as shown below

2011 2010

£m £m

Total borrowing 5384 2709

Less net cash and cash equivalents (note 18} (487 7) (3911)

Net borrowing/(cash) 507 120 1

Totat equity 982 5 8652

Total caprtal 1,033 2 745 0

28 Financial and capital commitments

201 2010

im £m

Commirtments for equity and subordinated debt investments in PPP special purpose entities 124 9 108 0
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows

2011 2010

Property Other Property Other

£m £m £fm £fm

Within one year 174 251 137 274

Between one and five years 500 301 391 399

Over five years 311 04 327 03

98 5 556 855 676

In 2010 non-cancellable operating lease rentals within property have been re-presented to include balances previously analysed in other leases

The Group leases properties and vehicles for operational purposes Property leases vary considerably in length up to a maximum pernod of
99 years Vehicle leases typically run for a period of 3 5 years None of the leases includes contingent rentals

The total future mimimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-teases amount to £1 6 million (2010 £5 0 million)
at the balance sheet date

29 Related parties
The Group has related party relationships with 1ts key management personnel and jointly controlled entities

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group's key management perscnnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors as identified in the Remuneration report on page 50

tn addition to thew salanes, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Executive Directors, and contnibutes 1o a post-employment defined
benefit plan or a defined contnbution plan on their behalf Executive Directors also participate in the Group's share option pragramme

Non-Executive Directors receve a fee for their services to the Carllion plc Board
Full details of key management personnel compensation is given in the Remuneration report on pages 49 to 53
Other than disclosed in the Remuneration report there were no other transactions with key management personnel v either the current or

preceding year The IFRS 2 cost charged to administrative expenses relating to share options of key management personnel amounted to
£0 7 million (2010 £1 2 mullion credit)
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Transactions with jointly controlled entities
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The table below summarises the pnncipal receivable and payable balances, together with sales to the Group’s joinily controlled entities, which

are in the normal course of busingss and on commercial terms

201

2010

Sales ivabl Payabl Sales Recewvables Payables
£m m £m £m fm £m
PPP jountly controlled entities

The Hospital Company (Southmead) Ltd 98 3 54 - 156 0 24 -
Holdfast Tramung Services Ltd 861 35 - 459 40 -
Canilion Secure Solutions (Canada) 658 157 - 276 64 -
COE (CAMH) Limited Partnership (Canada) 653 131 - 319 g8 -
Inspiredspaces Wolverhampton Ltd 550 83 - - - -
Insprredspaces STAG Ltd 45 4 43 - 633 - -
Inspiredspaces Nottingham Ltd 384 19 - 587 - -
Inspiredspaces Rochdale Ltd 293 54 - 189 - -
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Projectco?) Ltd 279 - - 341 - -
Eastbury Park Holdings Ltd 264 21 - 351 03 -
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WOHC) Inc 262 25 - 267 27 -
Inspiredspaces Durham Lid 209 61 - 102 - -
Inspiredspaces Wolverhampton (Projectcol) Lid 18 9 07 - 13 15 -
Inspiredspaces Tameside Limited 183 13 - 416 01 -
Chinicenta (Hertfordshire) Ltd 138 08 - 208 - -
tnspiredspaces Rochdale (Projectcol) Ltd 104 - - 104 18 -
nspiredspaces Durham (Projectcol} Ltd 88 - - 263 41 -
tnspiredspaces STAG (Projectco?) Ltd 87 03 - 107 03 -
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (ROH) Inc 59 03 - 70 Qo7 -
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Projectcol) Lid 31 15 - 205 R -
LCED (Sault) Limited Partnership {Canada) 30 03 - 45 58 -
Integrated Accommodation Services Ltd 17 10 - 02 08 -
Inspiredspaces Nottingham (Projectcot) Ltd 17 01 - 60 34 -
Education 4 Ayrshire (Holdings) Ltd 04 - - [+:] a1 -
The Hospital Company {Portsmouth) Holdings Ltd - - - 18 2 - -
Other 122 09 - 217 58 -
6919 855 - 7125 621 -

Other jointly controlled entities
Vanmed Construction Company (Canada) 389 174 - 64 4 192 -
CartlhonEnterpnse Ltd 143 39 - 366 46 -
Medern Housing Solutions (Prime) Ltd 122 - - 66 - -
Canllion Richardson Worcester 11 05 - 30 a1 -
Al Futtaim Canliion LLC 46 26 {(75) 44 35 (15
Al Futtaim Carillion (Abu Dhabi) LLC 05 o1 - 21 i7 -
Canthon Richardson Partnership - 120 - - 104 -
Carition Richardson - - - - - M7
Vanbrook Construction Company (Canada) - - - 104 08 -
Other 26 65 (80) 14 31 (23
776 1 1285 (15 5) 8414 1355 (15 %)
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continued

30 Acquisitions and disposals

Acquisitions

On 14 February 2011, Carilron plc purchased 41,580,041 Eaga plc shares in the market representing 16 5 per cent of the issued share capital
at a cash cost of £49 9 milhlon On 21 Apnl 2011 the Group obtained control of the remaining issued share capital of Eaga plc, which when
combined with the cost of acquinng shares on 14 February 2011, resulted in a total consideration of £298 4 milllon The total consideration was
satisfied by the issue of 30 6 million Carillion plc shares valued at the quoted mid-market price at the close of business on the day preceding the
effective date of acquisition of 384 36 pence and £181 2 million in cash

On acquisition, Eaga plc was rebranded Carlion Energy Services (CES} CES 1s a leading provider of energy efficiency sclutions The Group
believes that the acquisition represents a strategic move that will provide the Group with a strong position In a number of new and attractive
markets and enhance 1ts ability to prowide existing and new customers with integrated support services solutions The Group believes it can
achieve synerges in the enlarged Group of £25 mullion per annum by the end of 2013 with one-off costs of deltvering those savings in the region
of £40 million

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group's assets and liabilities

Acquiree's net assets/(liabilities) at the acquisition date

Fair value Fair value Accounting Acquired
Carrying adjustments adjustments policy intangible Recognised
amounts - goodwill - other adjustments assets values
£m fm £m £m £m £m
Property plant and equipment 125 - - - - 125
Intangible assets 611 (LM - - 294 294
Non-current asset iInvestrments 10 - - - - 10
Deferred tax assets 209 - 48 17 - 274
Inventornes 540 - - - - 54 0
Trade and other recevables 1037 - - (66) - 971
Income tax 32 - - - - 32
Dervative assets 17 - - - - 17
Current asset investments 80 - - - - 80
Net cash and cash equivalents (15) - - - - {15
Borrowing (60 0} - - - - (60 0)
Trade and other payables {156 1) - — - - (156 1)
Retirement benefit liabilities 08 - - - - (0 8)
Deferred tax habilities - - - - (76) (7 6)
Provisions 200) - 190y - - (390)
Net identifiable assets and habihities 277 {61 1) (14 2) 49 218 (307)
Goodwill recogmised on acquisition 3291
Total consideration 298 4

Based on the assessment of the recognised values of assets and liabilities goodwill arising on the acquisition amounted to £329 1 million
The goodwilt recognised represents the benefits of cost savings arising fram the elimination of duplication and the potential for sigrificant
crass-selling opportunities within the enlarged Group, together with praviding the enlarged Group with access to energy efficiency markets
that have substantial growth prospects

The principal fair value adjustment relates to £61 1 mithlon of goodwill on the CES balance sheet at the date of acquisition which is redlassified at the
same value as goodwill on Carillion’s balance sheet under the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards A contingent liability of
£14 2 milbon has been recogmised for the future distnbutions to employees from the Eaga Partnership Trusts (EPT) which crystallises a National
Insurance cost 10 the Company A full provision has been recognised at the current employer National insurance rate of 13 8 per cent on the total
assets currently held by the EPT which are available for distribution The timing and quantum of future distributions are determined by the EPT
The £4 9 million accounting policy adjustment results from applying Carillion's policy in respect of expensing rather than capitalising certamn costs
associated with the securing of new contracts The £21 8 million of acquired intangible assets relates to the value ascribed to acquired customer
Iists and contracts, net of attributable deferred tax

in addition to the adjustments noted above, following a dialogue between CES and Canllion’s management teams during the course of the due
diligence period granted to Canllion by CES, the £27 7 million carrying amount of net assets acquired at 21 Apnit 2011 incorporates a number of
adjustments made to CES's initial carrying amounts and followed a review of all balance sheet categones These adjustments include a reduction
In the valuation of inventories of £14 0 million following a review of inventory held and its recoverability taking inte account changes in
contracts, technological advancement and product sales in the pre-acquisition period a £24 3 million reduction In the carrying value of trade and
other recevables, largely the resuit of the reassessment of aged debt, aged accrued income, supplier rebates and contract receivables in ight of
contract performance and certain contractual changes during the pre-acquisition period, an adjustment to trade and other payables of £46 9
million to reflect contract related habilities and other identified obligations and other adjustments of £0 3 million
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30 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

Total consideration for the acquisition comprises the following

Em
Cash paid to acquire shares in the market 499
Cash paid to acquire control 1313
Total cash pad 1812
Loss on re-measurement to fair value of shares acquired in the market {05)
Element of consideration relating to cash 1807
Equity shares tssued 177
Total consideration 298 4

The value of the equity shares issued 15 based on the mid-market price of Carillion plc shares at the close of business on 20 Apnl 2011 of 384 36
pence and the total number of shares 1ssued of 30,613,192

At the point of obtaining controt of Eaga plc on 21 April 2011, the shares purchased on 14 February 2011 had a fair value of £49 4 million as a
result of the shares becoming ex-dividend As a result of re-measunng these shares to far value on acquisstion, a loss of £0 5 million has been
recogrused within administrative expenses in the income statement This has been offset by the Eaga plc 2011 interm dvidend which was paid to
Canlhion plc in respect of the Eaga plc shares held

Cash flows associated with this acquisition are included in the cash flow statement as follows

im
Total cash paid (181 2)
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired (15)
Net cash outflow on acquisition (182 7)

Acquisition costs of £7 5 million were incurred 1n relation to the acquisition contracts and due dilgence procedures These costs have been
included as a non-operating item in the income statement (see note 4)

In the period from acquisiion to 31 December 2011, CES contributed revenue of £379 8 million and a reported loss after tax of £27 9@ million
(after rationalisation costs and intangible amortisation) to consolidated profit for the year If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2011,
total revenue would have been £5,293 0 million and profit after tax would have been £120 8 million for the year ended 31 December 20114

Disposals and closure of businesses in 2011

Dunng 2011, the Greup disposed of equity tnvestments in three Public Private Partnership projects and a small jointly controlled entity in

the Netherlands The disposals generated a cash consideration of £31 4 million (net of expenses paid of £0 9 miliion) which is ncluded In the
cash flow statement within disposal of jointly controlled entity and other investments, and a nan-operating profit of £15 3 milhion (see note 4)

A cash outflow of £1 9 million 1s shown in the cash flow statement within disposal and closure of businesses and comprises of the payment of
costs In relation to disposals made in 2009 of £1 6 million and £0 3 mullion in relation to non-core busingss closures as disclosed 1n note 4

Disposals in 2010

Following completion of legal and other due diligence procedures in 2010, the provisional profit on disposal of Carllion iT Services Limited and
Enviros Group Limited in 2009 of £10 3 million was unchanged The following cash transactions occurred in relation to amounts provided in 2009
on the disposal of Cartdhon IT Services Limited and Enviros Group Limited, which are disclosed in the cash flow statement within disposal and
closure of businesses

Em

Deferred constderation recewved 16
Transaction and other costs paid (6 3)
@7

Dunng 2010 the Group disposed of Its equity mvestment in a Public Private Partnership jointly controlled entity The disposal generated a cash
consideration of £31 3 millien and a non-operating profit of £16 3 million

During 2010, the Group disposed of a further five per cent of its non-quoted equity interest in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited, a Public Private
Partnership project The disposal generated a cash consideration of £14 5 million and a non-operaung profit of £6 5 milhon
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31 Retirement benefit obligations
Carillion operates a number of pension schemes for eligible employees as disclosed below

Principal defined benefit schemes

Carilhon Staff and ‘B’ Pension Schemes

Both schemes are defined benefit schemes and were closed to new entrants on 1 Agril 2003 Extsting members no longer accrue benefits for
future service with effect from 5 April 2009 but instead are eligible ta participate in the Carllion 2009 Pension Plan, which 1s a defined
contribution scheme

An actuanal valuation of the Staff and B schemes was undertaken by the Trustees' independent actuanes as at 31 December 2008 using
the defined accrued benefits method The market value of the schemes’ assets at that date were £507 0 million and £98 9 million respectively
which represented approximately 97 per cent and 76 per cent of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basts,
after allowing for future increases in salanes The next actuanal valuation of the schemes by the Trustees’ independent actuanes is due at

31 December 2011

Regular ongoing contributions are no longer payable following the ctosure of the 5taff and ‘B’ schemes to future accrual on 5 Apnl 2009

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes payments were made to the schemes during 2011 of
£0 6 milllon and £2 6 milhon respectively (2010 £2 3 mithon and £2 1 milkon respectively) Recovery payments of £0 3 million and £1 4 million
to the Staff and ‘B’ schemes respectively are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levies for the year ended 31 March 2012 were
£0 2 million (year ended 31 March 2011 £1 8 million} for the Staff scheme and £17 000 (year ended 31 March 2011 £27,000) for the ‘B’ scheme

Mowlem 5taff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
The Mowlem Staff Pension and Life Assurance scheme was part of Mowlem, which was acquired on 23 February 2006

The majority of employees who partrcipate in the scheme are in defined benefit arrangements The defined benefit section of the Mowlem Staff
Pension and Life Assurance scheme closed to new entrants on 1 January 2003 Existing members no longer accrue benefits for future service with
effect from 5 April 2009 but instead are eligible to parncipate in the Canllion 2009 Pension Plan, which is a defined contribution scheme

An actuanal valuation of the Mowlern Staff scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using
the defined accrued benefits method The market value of the scheme’s assets at that date was £381 7 rmullion, representing approximately
73 per cent of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salanes The
next actuarial valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries is due at 31 December 2011

Regular ongoing contributtons are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 5 Apnl 2009

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made to the Mowlem Staff scheme in the year of £12 2 million
{2010 £10 2 milkon) Recovery payments of £7 6 million are scheduled to be made in 2012 and £10 1 million per annum thereafter continuing
until 2021

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy is payable in addition to the {unding plan The PPF Jevy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £0 2 mithon
(year ended 31 March 2011 £3 2 million)

Canllion Public Sector Pension Scheme
The scheme 15 a defined benefit scheme and remains open to eligible employees transferring from the public sector as part of the commercial
obligations under PRl PPP and Best Value contracts with public sector employers

An actuana! valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2007 using the attained age
method The market value of the scheme’s assets at that date was £105 3 million which represented approximately 89 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future mcreases in salanes The next actuanal valuation of the
scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2010 1s currently being undertaken

The regular ongoing contributions paid during the year were £3 4 million (2010 £3 4 mitlion) The Group expects to pay regular contributions
amounting to £3 4 million, representing 27 5 per cent of pensionable salaries, dunng 2012 If any employees are admitted intc the Scheme
through PFI, PPP or Best Value contracts dunng 2012 the Jevel of contributions will increase
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31 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

As part of the defiait recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments of £2 3 million were made dunng 2011 {2010 £2 5 million) Further
payments of £2 3 million are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addstion to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £0 4 rmullion
(year ended 31 March 2011 £0 S milkon)

Shared Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS)

Employees of GTRM and Centrac, and former employees of British Rall transferred to these businesses, have pension provision via Shared Cost
Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme Both the GTRM and Centrac Sections are closed to new entrants Shared cost arrangements are such
that the employer and members share the cost of future service habiltties on a 60/40 spht respecuively and any surplus or deficit emerging over
tme 15 dealt with on a ssmilar basis

Independent actuaries appointed by the Railways Pension Trustee Company Limited carried out a formal valuation of the Railways Pension
Scheme at 31 December 2007 using the attained age method The market values of the scheme assets of the GTRM Section and Centrac Section
at 3t December 2007 were £152 9 million and £22 1 million respectively which represented approximately 99 per cent and 106 per cent of
benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongeing basis, after taking account of future Increases in salaries, contributions payable
and reserves The next actuanal valuation of the schemes by the Trustees’ independent actuanies as at 31 December 2010 is currently being
undertaken

The regular ongoing contnbutions paid for both sections in total during the year were £1 2 milion (2010 £1 4 milion) The Group expects to pay
regular ongoing contributions tn 2012 amounting to £1 3 mullion and £0 1 mullion representing 21 5 and 19 6 per cent of pensionable salaries for
the GTRM and Centrac sections respectively

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees payments of £1 2 million were made during 2011 (2010 £0 6 million) No deficit
recovery payments are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s paid by the scheme as part of the funding arrangement

Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan

The Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan was part of Alfred McAlpine, which was acquired on 12 February 2008 The pension plan is a defined benefit
arrangement which was closed to future service accrual on 31 July 2003 During 2009, it was agreed that the benefits for members will no longer
be linked to final salary with effect from 31 December 2009

An actuaral valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using the defined accrued
benefit method The market value of the plan assets at that date was £233 4 million, which represented approximately 65 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date The next actuanal valuation of the scheme by the Trustees' independent actuaries is due at 31
Decemnber 2011

Regular ongoing contributions are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual

As part of the defient recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made in 2011 of £10 8 milkon {2010 £10 8 million) Recovery
payments of £8 4 million are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 15 payable in addition te the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £0 1 million
({year ended 31 March 2011 £0 7 million)

Other defined benefit schemes

The PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme

The PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme is a defined benefit scheme and 1s closed to new entrants Existing members no longer accrue
benefits for future serwice with effect fram 5 April 2009 but instead are eligible to participate in the Carllion 2008 Pension Plan, which

15 a defined contribution scheme

The defiat in the scheme at 31 December 2011, calculated in accordance with IAS 19, 15 £6 7 million (2010 £5 0 million)

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuanes as at 31 December 2008 using the attained age
method The market value of the scheme’s assets at that date was £46 0 million, which represented approximately 78 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basss, after allowing for future increases in salanes The next actuanal valuation of the
scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuarnes 1s due at 31 December 2011
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31 Retirement benefit obligations {continued)
Regular ongoing contributtons are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 5 April 2009

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments of £1 2 million were made during 2011 (2010 £1 3 million) Recovery
payments of £0 6 million are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable m addition to the funding plan The PPF levy was £23,000 for the year ended 31 March 2012
{year ended 31 March 2011 £0 1 million)

Canlhon Canada Inc

The Carillion Group operates a defined benefit scheme for employees of Carillion Canada Inc managed locally, which was closed to future
accrual with effect from 31 December 2010 In addition certain executives have supplemental arrangements in place, namely the Senior
Executive Retirement Plan and the Post-Retirerment Benefit Plan The net deficit in total for these three schemes at 31 December 2011, calculated
In accordance with 145 19, 1s £10 3 mullion (2010 £6 8 million}

Regular ongoing contnbutions paid during the year were £mil (2010 £nl) in respect of the Carilhion Canada Inc defined benefit scheme and
£0 4 million (2010 £0 4 milhon) In respect of other post-reurement benefits for sentor Canadian employees Regular ongoing contnbutions for
2012 are estmated to be £0 4 mullion

Mowlem {1993) Pension Scheme
The Mowlem {1993) Pension Scheme was part of Mowlem, which was acquired on 23 February 2006 The scheme 15 a defined benefit
arrangement

The deficit in the scheme at 31 December 2011, calculated in accordance with 1AS 19, 15 £4 9 mullion (2010 £4 1 miflion)

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was underaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 Dacember 2008 using the attained age
method The market value of the scheme’s assets at that date was £49 1 milhon, representing approximately 76 per cent of the benefits that had
accrued 1o members at that date on an ongoing basis after allowing for future increases in salanes The next actuanal valuation of the scheme
by the Trustees” independent actuaries 15 due at 31 December 2011

The regular ongeing contributions paid during the year were £2 2 miflion (2010 £2 4 milhon) The Group expects to pay regular ongoing
contributions amounting to £2 2 million representing 27 7 per cent of pensionable salary, during 2012

As part of the defiat recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made to the scheme dunng 2011 amounting to £3 0 million
(2010 £3 2 milon) Recovery payments of £3 6 mlion are scheduled to be made in 2012

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £0 1 million
(year ended 31 March 2611 £0 3 million)

ESPS Scheme
The ESPS scheme was part of Alfred McAlpime, which was acquired on 12 February 2008, and 1s a defined benefit arrangement

The deficit in the scheme at 31 December 2011, calculated in accordance with 1AS 19, 15 £14 8 million {2010 £15 4 million}

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March 2007 using the projected unit credit
method The market value of the plan assets at that date was £47 1 million, which represented approximately 76 per cent of the benefits that had
accrued to members at that date The next actuanal valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March 201015
currently being undertaken

The regular ongoing employer contributions paid durning the year were £0 4 mallion (2010 £0 4 milion) The Group expects to pay regular
ongoing contributions of £0 4 milion n 2012 representing 28 2 per cent of pensionable salanes

As part of the defict recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made during 2011 of £1 1 million {2010 £1 1 rllion) The schedule
of payments to be made in 2012 will be agreed with the Trustees following completion of the actuanal vatuation as at 31 March 2010

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £0 6 million
{year ended 31 March 2011 £0 4 milhon)

Bower Group Retirement Benefit Scheme
The Bower Group Retirement Benefit Scheme was part of Mowlem, which was acquired on 23 February 2006 The scheme 1s a defined benefit
arrangement and Is closed to future accrual

The defiat in the scheme at 31 December 2011, calculated in accordance with 1AS 19, 15 £1 8 million (2010 £2 § million)
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31 Retiremnent benefit obligations {continued)

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees” independent actuaries as at 28 February 2010 using the defined accrued
benefits method The market value of the plan assets at that date was £7 0 million, which represented approximately 63 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date The next actuanal valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries is due at 28
February 2013

Regular ongoing contributions are no longer payable as the scheme 1s closed to future accrual

Defiat recovery payments of £0 7 milhon were made during 2011 (2010 £0 4 milhon) Recovery payments of £0 7 million are scheduled to be
made in 2012

The Penston Protection Fund (PPF) levy 15 payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £5,000
(year ended 31 March 2011 £0 1 milion)

Alfred McAlpmne (Ireland) Pension Plan and Inshenco Pension Plan

The Group has two small defined benefit pension schemes for the employees of operations in the Republic of Ireland, the Alfred McAlpine
(Ireland) Pension Plan and the Inshenco Pension Plan The regular ongoing contributions paid during the year were £0 5 million in respect of the
Alfred McAlpine {Ireland) Pension Plan and £0 1 million in respect of the Irishenco Pension Plan During the year a deficit payment of £0 5 million
was made to the Inshenco Pension Plan in full and final settlement of the pension liatslity The deficit in the Alfred McAlpine {Ireland) Pension
Plan in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2011, calculated in accordance with IAS 19 15 £0 2 million (2010 nil)

Permarock Pension Plan

The Permarock Pension Plan was part of Canllion Energy Services, which was acquired on 21 Apnl 2011 This scheme s a defined benefit
arrangement which 1s closed to new entrants Existing members no longer accrue benefits for future service The defiat in the scheme in the
Group balance sheet at 31 December 2011, calcutated in accordance with IAS 19, 15 £0 7 million

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates four principal UK defined contribution schemes, namely the Carillion 2009 Pension Plan, the Canllion Pension Plan, the PME

Defined Contribution Plan and the Canilion Retirement Plan {closed to new entrants since 2001} In addition, the Group aperates two Stakeholder
Plans (*Stakeholder Plus and the Alfred McAlpme 2003 Pension Plan), and two Group personal plans {acquired through Carillion Energy Services)

The Carillion 2009 Pension Plan commenced on 6 April 2009 for exisung employee members of the Carillion Staff Canlion 'B° Mowlem Staff
and PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance schemes which clesed to future service accrual on 5 Apnl 2009 Under the plan emplayees contribute
a minmum of 5 0 per cent and the employer a mumimum of 10 O per cent of basic salary In addiion to pension benefits, death in service lump
sum benefits are provided The ermployer meets the cost of administration and management of the plan Employer contributions during the year
were £11 8 milion (2010 £12 8 mulhon)

The Carilhon Pension Plan commenced on 1 April 2003 The majonty of new employees across the Group are eligible to join this plan Employees
contribute a mivimum of 5 O per cent and the employer a miimum of 7 0 per cent of basic salary Up to 3 0 per cent of any additional voluntary
contributions paid by employees 1s ratched by the employer resulting in a maximum employer contribution of 10 0 per cent of basic salary The
employer meets the cost of admimistration and management of the plan equivalent to a further 2 0 per cent of basic salary Employer
contributions during the year were £3 8 million (2010 £4 2 million)

Employees of Canlhon Services Linited who are not ehigible for the Canllion Pension Plan are invited to participate in the Canllion Stakeholder Plus
managed by BlackRock Pensions Limited Employees contribute 5 O per cent and the employer 6 5 per cent of basic salary Death in service lump
sum benefits are provided in addition to pension benefits Employer contributions during the year were £0 7 million (2010 £0 7 mullion)

The PME Defined Contrnibution Plan commenced m April 1999 All new PME employees ace offered membership of the plan Emplayees
contribute 4 0 per cent of basic pay and the employer pays 5 0 per cent of basic salary (inclusive of a 1 0 per cent allowance for nsurance
premiums and audit fees) Employer contributions during the year were £0 5 million (2010 £0 6 million)

Employer contnbutions to the Carillion Retirement Plan during the year were £39,506 (2010 £47.847)

Employees of businesses acquired on the purchase of Alfred McAlpine may be eligible to participate in the Alfred McAlpine 2003 Pension Plan
managed by Zurich Assurance Employees contribute between 3 O per cent and 9 0 per cent of basic salary depending upon job grade and the
employer contributes matching amounts Death in service lump sum benefits are provided in addition to pension benefits Employer contnibutions
during the year were £3 3 muthon (2010 £3 9 million}

Employees of businesses acquired on the purchase of Canllion Energy Services may be eligible 1o participate in the personal plans managed by
Aegon and Clerical Medical and General Employer contributions to these plans dunng the period since acquisttion were £1 9 million

Stakeholder pensions are also provided by B&CE Insurance and Scottish Widows where required by Working Rule Agreements and defined
contribution pensions provided where required by the Joint Industries Board Working Rule Agreements

Various compantes within the Group participate in admission agreements with local authorities in order to allow former pubhc secior employees
to continue membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme Contributions during the year, which have been accounted for on a defined
contnbution basis, were £0 7 milhion {2010 £0 6 mullion}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

31 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

1AS 19 disclosures
The weighted average of the princtpal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuartes In providing the IAS 19 position were

201 2010

ux Canada UK Canada

Rate of increase in salaries 350% N/A 4 0% 2 00%
Rate of increase in pensions* 300% 2 25% 3 40% 2 00%
Inflation rate (RPI) 300% 225% 3 40% 2 00%
Inflation rate (CPI(} 190% N/A 2 80% N/A
Discount rate 4 80% 4 93% 5 40% 533%

N/A Mot applicable
* Where schemes have adopted the 2 5% per annum cap on ncreases o pensions i payment the assumpiion s 2 3% per annum (2 4% p a 1n 2010) rather than the higher amount shown above

For the majonty of schemes, the inflation assumption for certain benefits 1s now based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI), rather than the Retail
Price Index {RPI) following the change announced by the UK Government in 2010

The market values of the schemes’ assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term, may be subject to significant change before
they are realised The present values of the schemes’ liabilihes are calculated by reference to the mvestment return on Grade AA corporate bonds
The assumptions used do not necessanly represent the investment return that may be achieved

For all schemes, except the Railways Pension Scheme, the mortahty assumptions adopted have been updated in 2011 and are STNA (YOB) MC
tables with a 1 per cent floor and scheme specific age ratngs The Railways Pension Scheme uses scheme specific assumptions based on industry
experience

The Iife expectancies at 65 for males aged 45 - 65 are shown below

Valuation at 31 December 2008
Non retred members (aged 45 years currently) Retred members {aged 65 years currentlyy”

Canlhon Staff SINA (YOB} MC 1% Floor +1 year SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor +1 year
22 2 years 20 3 years

Mowlem Stafi SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor -1 year SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor -1 year
23 9 years 22 O years

Carnllion ‘B’ SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor -3 years SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor -3 years
25 7 years 237 years

Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan

SINA (YOB)} MC 1% Floor -1 year
23 9 years

SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor +1 year
20 3 years

PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme

SINA (YOB} MC 1% Floor -1 year
23 9 years

SINA (YOB) MC 1% Floor -1 year
22 O years

Mowlem 1993

SINA (YOB)} MC 1% Floor +1 year
22 2 years

SINA (YOB) MC 1% Ficor +1 year
20 3 years

(1) With the exception of the Cardfion B scheme which has a normal retrement date at aged 60 years

The previous bases at the last valuation for the Canllion Staff Scheme, the Mowlem Staff Scheme, the Carnillion B, the Mowlermn (1993) Scheme,
and Alfred McAipine Pension Plan were the ‘PA92(YOB=1965)mc + 2 years table for non-retred members mortality and the PA92{(YOB=1935)
mc + 2 years table for retired members’ This is still being adopted for the Carnlhon Public Secter scheme until the next valuation For the PME
Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme the previous base was PAS2(YOB) MC for both retired and non-retired members

The Canadian Actuary annually undertakes an actuanal valuation and accounting exerase for reporting on local employee benefits under local
GAAP, CICA 3461 The same assumptions have been used for lacal medical and dental inflation rates in relation to the Post-Retirement Benefit

Plan The immediate trend rate is seven per cent per annum with an ulumate trend rate of three per cent per annum (2030) An increase of one
per cent in the valuation trend rate would increase habilities by £0 8 mullion and the total service cost by £0 1 milien A decrease of one per cent
In the valuation trend rate would reduce liabilibes by £0 6 million and total service cost by £0 1 million The overall expected rate of return on
assets is determined by reference to local long-term interest rates, the yield on gilts or Treasury stock and the actuary’s recommendation on the
allowance for the potential long-term extra return from investing in equities

Canllion has adopted immediate recognition of any actuanal gains or losses through the Statement of Comprehensive Income as permitted
under IAS 19




31 Retirement benefit obligations {(contmued)

The 'AS 19 posttion for the schemes is as follows
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Alfred
McAlpine
Expected  carillion  Mawlem  Carillion Pansion Public  Ralways Other
_"'M Staff Staff ‘B Plan Sector Fenslon  Schemes Total
31 December 2011 UK Canada £m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Equities 695 822 157 3 270 4 222 174 8 774 993 1155 916 9
Government bonds 295 299 1658 145 380 562 250 250 476 3721
Cerporate bonds 455 - 2503 148 4 467 530 304 91 44 8 5827
Other 050 230 32 38 21 23 o8 80 60 262
Market value of scheme assets 576 6 4371 1090 286 3 133.6 1414 2139 1,8979
Present value of funded scheme obligation (5999) (5611) (1258) (3534) (1602) (1503) (244 6) (2,195 3)
Present value of unfunded scheme obligation - - - - - - {8 q) {8 )
Total defict (233) {(1240) (168) (671) (26 6) (89) (391) (3058)
Related deferred tax asset 76 5
Net pension liabthty (229 3)
Alfred
McAlpine
Expected Cardkon  Mowlem Cardlion Pension Public Railways Cther
___raeofreturn % staff Siatt B Plan Sector Pension  Schemes Total
31 December 2010 UK Canada £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m
Equities 765 857 1871 264 4 26 4 1779 826 174 108 6 964 4
Government bonds 390 410 146 3 155 326 520 201 184 427 3276
Carporate bonds 525 - 2288 1609 436 638 277 56 46 6 5770
Qther 050 220 29 61 15 29 02 18 42 196
Market value of scheme assets 5651 4469 1041 296 6 1306 143 2 2021 18886
Present value of funded scheme obhgation (584 1) (5469 {(1236) (3433} (1347y {1601 (2282} (2,1209)
Present value of unfunded scheme obligation - - - - - - (77} {77y
Minimum funding requirement — - - - 9 4) - - 9 4)
Total deficit {190y {(1000) {19 5) @67 (13 5) {16 9) (338 (2494)
Related deferred tax asset 673
Net pension liability (182 1)

{1) All schemes are funded except the Senior Executive Retrement Plan and the Post-Reurement Benefit Plan held in Canada
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

31. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Expense recogmised 1n the income statement

2011 2010
£m fm
{Charge)/credit to operating profit
Current service cost relating to defined benefit schemes (6 6) 7N
Curtallments - 04
Total (6 6) 67)
Credit/(charge) to other financial income and expense
Expected return on retirement plan assets 116 0 119
Imterest cost on rettrement plan obligations {112 8) {115 5)
Net financial income/(expense) 32 36)
Total actuanal (losses)/gains recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income
Effects of changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme labilities {37 3) {612)
Difference between actual and expected return on scheme assets (68 7} 758
Movement in mimmum funding requirement 94 @7
Total actuarnial (losses)/gains recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income (96 6) nas
2011 2010
£m fm
Changes in defined benefit obligation
Obligation at 1 January (2,128 6) (2,028 5)
Current service cost (6 6) 71}
Acquisiion of Carthon Energy Services {2 8) -
Interest cost (112 8) {115 5)
Contributions from scheme members {0 9) 10
Benefits paid 852 860
Curtallments - 04
Actuanal losses (373) 612)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 01 (17)
Obligation at 31 December (2,203 7) (2,128 6)
2011 2010
£m £m
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets
Fair value at 1 January 1,888 & 17414
Expected return on scheme assets 116 0 119
Acquisition of Carllion Energy Services 20 -
Contributions from the employer 44 3 432
Contributtons from scheme members 09 10
Benefits pard (85 2) (86 Q)
Actuanal {losses)/gatns (68 7) 758
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - 13
Fair value at 31 December 18979 18886
The amount included in the halance sheet in respect of defined benefit schemes is as follows
zo0m 2010
£m £m
Present value of defined benefit obhgation (2,203 7) (2128 6)
Fair value of scheme assets 1,8979 18886
Mimmum funding requirement - 94
(305 8) (249 4)
Schemes in surplus (within non-current assets) - 09
Schemes in deficit fwithin nen-current habities) (305 8) (250 3)
(305 8) (249 4)

The actual return on plan assets was £47 3 million (2010 £187 7 rullion)
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31 Retirement benefit obligatons (contnued)

History of experience gains and losses

20m 2010 2009 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m fm
Present value of defined benefit obligation {2,203 7) (2,128 6) {2,028 5) {1,683 6) {1 591 3)
Farr value of scheme assets 1.8979 1,888 6 1,741 4 1,594 5 1,5670
Minimum funding requirement - 94 6N (200) (216)
Total deficit (305 B) (249 4) (293 8) (109 1) (45 9)
Expenence gawns and losses on scheme obhgation (E£m) {37 3) &1 2) {319 2) 3092 472
Percentage of defined benefit obligation (%) (12 29 {157) 18 4 30
Difference between expected and actual returns on scheme assets (£Em) {68 7 758 859 (416 6) 150
Percentage of scheme assets (%) (36) 40 49 (26 1) (10)

The cumulative amount of actuanal gains and losses recogrused since 1 January 2004 in the Group statement of comprehensive income 15
£321 2 milbon (2010 £224 6 million) The Group is unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition to
IFRS of £85 2 milllon and taken directly to total equity 1s attnibutable to actuanal gains and losses since inception of the schemes Therefore
the Group 15 unable to determine the amount of actuanal gamns and losses that would have been recognised in the Group Statement of
comprehensive income before 1 January 2004

32 Accounting estimates and judgements
Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group's entical accounting policies
and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant
risk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabiliies within the next financiat year, are discussed below

Construction contracts

In determiming the revenue and costs to be recogmised each year for work done on construction contracts estimates are made In relation

to final out-turn on each contract On major construction contracts, 1t1s assessed, based on past expenence, that their outcome cannot be
estimated reliably during the early stages of the contract but that costs incurred will be recoverable Once the outcome can be estimated reliably
the estimates of final out-turn on each contract may indude cost contingencies to take account of the speafic nsks within each contract that
have been wdenufied dunng the early stages of the contract The cost contingencies are reviewed on a regular basis throughout the contract life
and are adjusted where appropriate However the nature of the nsks on contracts are such that they often cannet be resolved until the end of
the project and therefore may not reverse until the end of the project Management continually reviews the estimated final out-turn on contracts
and makes adjustments where necessary

Intangible assets
In determining the fair value of identifiable assets, labiliies and canungent habilities of businesses acquired, jJudgement is required in relation
to final out-turn on construction contracts, discount rates and expected future cash flows and profitability

Determining whether mtangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the discount rate and future cash flows expected to anse fram the
cash-generating unit to which the intangible assets are attached Note 11 provides detasls of the carrying value of intangible assets

Retirement benefits
tn deterrmining the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme assets and habiities, a number of key assumptions have been made The key
assumptions, which are given below are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group

|

expected return on plan assets
- mnflation rate

- mortality

~ discount rate

salary and pensions increases

Details of the assumptions used are included In note 31
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

33 Off-balance sheet arrangements
The Group 15 party to a number of contractual arrangements for the purposes of the Group’s principal activities that are not required to be
included on the Group balance sheet The prinapal off-balance sheet arrangements that the Group are party to are as follows

- operating leases (see note 28)

- pledged assets securning finance lease liabilities (see note 10)

- contingent habilities in respect of guarantees for deferred equity payments and performance contracts in PPP special purpose entities
(see note 26)

— capital commitments for capital expenditure and eguity and subordinated debt in PPP special purpose entities (see note 28)

- outsourcing contracts

In respect of outsourcing contracts, the Group has entered into various arrangements to outsource the provision of certain back-office functions
with a third party provider These arrangements are on commercial terms and any penalty or termination clauses associated with these
arrangements will not have a matenal impact on the finanaal position of the Group

34 Prninaipal subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations
A list of sigmificant mvestments in subsidianes, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations, including the name country of
incorporation and proportion of ownershup interest 1s shown on page 103

Except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities are incorporated in Great Britain and operate in the UK All
heoldings are of ordinary shares and except where shown all subsidiary undertakings are 100 per cent owned {with equivalent voting nghts)
and jotntly controfled entities and jointly controlled operations are 50 per cent owned Shares of those undertakings marked with an asterisk
are directly owned by Carillicn plc
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34 Prinapal subsidiaries, jointly controlied entities and jointly controlled operations (continued)

Principal subsidiary undertakings
Canltron (AMBS) Ltd

Canilion (Aspire Construction) Holdings No 2 Ltd
Canllion (Aspire Services) Holdings No 2 Ltd
Canthon Canada lnc {Canada)

Canlhon CR Ltd

Canlhion Construction Ltd *

Canllion Energy Services Ltd *

Canllion Fleet Management Ltd *

Canllion LGS Ltd *

Canllion Prvate Finance Ltd *

Canllion Services Lid *

Monteray Lid 51%

Postworth Ltd *

Sovereign Hosprial Services Ltd

Warmsure Ltd

Principal jointly controlled entities

Public Private Partnerships

Accommodation Services (Holdings) Ltd 20%

CSS (FSCC) Partnership (Canada)

Chnicenta (Hertfordshire) Ltd

COE (CAMH) Limited Partnership (Canada)

Eastbury Park (Holdings) Ltd

Ellenbrook Holdings Ltd

Hotdfast Training Services Ltd 26%

HIF (NCH) Limited Partnership {(Canada) 40%
Inspiredspaces Burham (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces STaG (Holdings1) Ltd 40 4%
Inspiredspaces STaG (Holdings2) Lid 76 4%
Inspiredspaces Nottingham (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces Rochdale (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Heldings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Holdings2) Lid 80%
Inspiredspaces Wolverhampton (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
LCED {Sault) Limited Partnership 25% {Canada)
Road Management Services (A13) Holdings Ltd 25%
$TaG PCT (Holdco) Ltd

The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (ROH) Inc (Canada)
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WOHC) Inc (Canada)
The Hospital Company {Southmead) Holdings Ltd
UK Highways A55 (Holdings) Ltd

Yorkshire Transformations Holdings Ltd 33 3%

Others

Al Futtaim Canllion LLC {UAE) 49%
Canthon Alaw LLC (Oman) 49%
CanllionEnterpnse Ltd 50 1%

Canihion Richardson Partnership

Emnll Services LLC {(UAE)* 33%

Modern Housing Solutions (Prime) Ltd 67%
Servus Ltd (Trinidad & Tobago)

Jointly controlled operations

Name proportion of interest held and address of prinaipal place of business

Canlhon Telent foint Venture 60%
Canlhon-URS Joint Venture 70%

Canlon-WSP IV 60%

Nature of business

Factlittes management

Military accommodation at Aldershot and Salisbury Plain
Facilittes management

Construction and infrastructure services

Holding company for property development
Construction and infrastructure services
Renewable energy support services

Supply and maintenance of vehicles

Roads and ground maintenance and repaw
Hotding company for PPP project companies
Facihities management

Property and facilities management services
Supply of operatives to the construction industry
Facilittes management in the healthcare sector
Energy efficiency services

Associated project

GCHQ, Cheltenham

Forensic Services and Coroners” Complex, Toronte
The Lister Surgicentre, Hertfordshire

Centre for Addiction & Mental Health Toronto
Permanent Joint Headquarters, Northwood
University of Hertfordshire Student Accommeodation
Royal School of Military Engineening, Chatham
New Qakwille Hospital, Halton

Ourham Schools

South Tyneside and Gateshead Schools {Jarrow)
South Tyneside and Gateshead Schools (South Shields)
Nottingham Schools

Rochdale Schools

Tameside Schools Phase 1

Tameside Schools Phase 2

Wolverhampton Schools

Sault Area Hospital, Toronto

A13, Thames Gateway

Cleadon Park Primary Care Centre

Royal Ottawa Hospital Canada

wWilliam Osler Hosptal, Canada

Southmead Hosprtal, Bristo!

AS5S5 North Wales

Swarcliffe Social Housing Leeds

Nature of business

Bulding and avil engineering
Building and civil engineering
Minsstry of Defence bulldings
Property Development
Faciliies management
Ministry of Defence housing
Facilities management

Hayward Road, Warwick, England

Pytchley Maintenance Compound, Pegasus Court Kettering South
Business Park, Kettering, Northamptonshire England

Bradford, West Yorkshire England

A complete list of Group subsidhary undertakings will be attached to the Company’s annual return to the Registrar of Companies
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Company balance sheet

As at 31 December

2011

2010

Note £m fm
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures 3 1,563 6 1,2530
Current assets
Debtors 4 666 3 6861
Cash at bank and in hand 10 2 ne
676 5 €977
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 5
Borrowing {99} (10 8)
Other creditors (548 1) (7207
(558 0} (731 5)
Net current assets/{Labilities)
Due wrthin one year 1185 (339)
Debtors due after more than one year 4 - 01
1185 (338
Total assets less current habilities 1,6821 1,219 2
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowing 8 {488 8) (181 0y
Net assets 1,193 3 1,028 2
Financed by
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 7 2151 1998
Share premium 8 212 212
Merger reserve 8 6187 516 3
Other reserve 8 67 P
Profit and loss account 8 3316 2889
Equity shareholders’ funds 9 1,193 3 1,028 2

The finanaal statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 February 2012 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1 Signiftcant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been apphed consistently in
dealing with items which are considered matertal in relation to the
Company's financial statements

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterkng They are
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for denvative finanaal
instruments which are stated at fair value, and in accordance with
applicable UK accounting standards and law

Taxation

Deferred tax assets or habilities anse from timing differences between
the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and
their recognition in the tax computation that have anisen but not
reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required by
FRS 19 ‘Deferred tax" Liabilities are calculated on a non-discounted
full provision basis Assets are calculated on the same basis, but are
recogrused only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that they will

be recovered

Fixed asset investments

In the Company‘s financial statements, investments in subsichary
undertakings and joint ventures are stated at cost, less provision for
any impairment

Leasing

The Company enters into finance lease arrangements on behalf of
subsidiary companies As permitted by SSAP 21 "Accounting for leases
and hire purchase contracts’, the assets relating to the finance leases
are included 1n the financial statements of the subsidaries concerned
The capital element of outstanding finance leases 1s incduded within
borrowings The finance charge element of rentals 1s charged to the
profit and loss account at a constant periodic rate of charge on the
outstanding obligations

Own shares

Consideration paid for shares in the Company held by the Employee
Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are deducted from the profit and loss
account reserve Where such shares subsequently vest in the employees
under the terms of the Company's share option schemes or are sold, any
consideration received s induded in the profit and loss account reserve

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are transiated into
stering and recorded using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of
the transaction Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign
currencles are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date and the gains and losses on translation are included
n the profit and loss account

Finanoal iInstruments

The Company’s prinapal financial assets and liabilities are cash at bank
and in hand and borrowings Cash at bank and in hand 1s carried in

the balance sheet at amortised cost Borrowings are recognised imitially
at fair value less attnbutable transaction costs and subseguently at
amortised cost In addition the Company enters into forward

contracts and options in order to hedge against small and infrequent
transactional foreign currency exposures The forward contracts are
measured initially at fair value with changes in farr value duning the

year recogrused in the profit and loss account Farr values are based on
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date The Company has taken
the exemption within FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosure’ and does
not present all of the required disclosures as they are included in the
consolidated financial statements of which the Company 1s the parent

Share-based payments

Members of the Group's senior management team are entitled to
participate in the Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAP) and

UK employees are able to participate in the Sharesave scheme Under
the terms of the Group s bonus arrangements, Executive Directors and
certan senior employees receve a proportion of their bonus in shares
which are deferred for a penod of up to two years

The fair value of shares for the LEAP, Sharesave and deferred bonus
arrangements at the date of grant are estimated using the Black-Scholes
prnicang model The fair value determined at grant date is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the penod in which any performance conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully entitled to the award {vesting date)

Where the Company grants options over iIts own shares to the
emgloyees of its subsidiartes, 1t recogruses in 1ts individual financal
staternents an increase In the cost of Investment in its subsidianes
equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised
n its consolidated finanaal statements with the correspanding credit
being recognised directly in equity Amounts recharged to the subsidiary
are recognised as a reduction in the cost of the investment in the
subsidiary If the amount recharged exceeds the increase in the cost of
investment the excess 1s recognised as a dividend to the extent that it
reflects post-acquisition profits of the subsidiary

The Company also operates a Share Incentive Plan (5IP} under which
quahfying Carllion Energy Services partners may receive free shares
The fair value of the free shares are recogmsed as an expense in the
income statement over the vesting penod of the shares

To the extent that share-based payment costs incurred by the Company
are funded by the Eaga Partnership Trusts {EPT) through the wawer of
its entitlement to Carillion plc dividends, the associated charges are
treated 1n accordance with the Company's accounting policies

Financial guarantee contracts

Where the Company enters into finanaal guarantee contracts to
guarantee the indebtedness of subsidiary companies, the Company
considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them
as such tn this respect, the Company treats the gquarantee contract as
a contingent hability until such time as it becomes prabable that the
Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

Retirement benefit obligations

Pension costs are recognised in the financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’ Employees of
the Company participate in the Canilicn 'Staff’ and ‘B* schemes which
provide pensions on a defined benefit basts The assets and liabilities of
these schemes relating to the Company cannot be readily ascertained
on a reasonable and consistent basis as the schemes are operated for
the benefit of the Carllion Group as a whole Consequently, the
Company accounts for these schemes as if they were defined
contribution schemes Details of the Group's pension schemes are
disclosed m note 3t of the consolidated financial statements

Cash flow statement
A cash flow statement has not been presented as permitted by FRS 1
{revised) ‘Cash flow statements’

2 Profit for the year and dividends

As permitted by the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected
not to present its own profit and loss account for the year Canllion plc
reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 of
£113 2 million (2010 £88 6 milhon)

Fees paid to KPMG Audit Plc and 1ts associates for non-audit services 10
the Company itself are not disclosed 1n the individual accounts of
Carillion plc because the Company’s consolidated accounts are required
to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis

A final dvidend, dedared in the previous year, of 10 7 pence (2010 100
pence) per share was paid during the year, amounting to £43 0 malhon
(2010 £39 9 mulhon)

Anintenm dividend of 5 3 pence (2010 4 8 pence) per share was paid
during the year, amounting to £21 6 mallton (2010 £19 2 mullion)

A final dwvidend of 11 6 pence (2010 10 7 pence)} per share, amounting
to £43 S mulion (2010 £42 8 million), was approved by the Board on
29 February 2012 and, subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 15 June 2012 to shareholders
on the register on 18 May 2012
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Notes to the Company financial statements

continued

3 Investments

Subsidlary Joint
undertakings veritures Total
£m fim £m

Cost
At 1 January 2011 1,263 4 02 1,263 6
Additions 3059 - 3059
Share options granted to employees a7 - 47
At 31 December 2011 1,574 0 02 1,574 2
Impairment losses
At 1 January 2011 and at 31 December 2011 106 - 106
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 1,563 4 02 1,563 6
At 31 December 2010 1,252 8 02 1,253 0

Additions in the year of £305 9 million relates to the acquisition of Canllion Energy Services (formerly Eaga plc) on 21 April 2011 for a consideration
of £298 4 milon including £7 5 milhon of directly attributable costs refating to the acquisition contracts and due diigence procedures

The pnincipal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures of the Company are shown on page 103

4 Debtors

2011 2010

£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 6514 6732
Other debtors and prepayments 17 03
Amounts owed by joint ventures 07 -
Income tax 125 125
Amounts falling due within one year 666 3 6860
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - 01
Total debtors 666 3 6861
5 Creditors amounts falling due within one year

2011 2010

m £m

Bank overdrafts 19 28
Bank loans 79 78
Net obligations due under finance leases 01 02
Borrowing 99 08
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 526 9 6991
Amounts owed 1o joint ventures 180 209
Other tax and social secunty costs 01 02
Denvative financial instruments 09 02
Accruals and deferred income ' 22 03
Total creditors 5580 7315

All bank overdrafts and loans are unsecured Net obligations due under finance eases are secured on the assets to which they relate
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6 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year

2011 2010
fm £m
Bank loans 3885 1906
Other loans 1003 03
Net obligations due under finance leases - 01
Total 488 8 1910
All bank and other loans are unsecured Net obbgations due under finance leases are secured on the assets to which they relate
The matunty profile of all borrowings s disclosed m note 13 on page 109
7 Share capital
Issued and fully pad
2011 2010
Number Number
million £m millian £m
At 1 January 3997 1998 3973 198 6
Mew share capital issued 306 153 24 12
At 31 December 430 3 2151 3997 199 8
During the year 30,613 192 shares were 1ssued i relation to the acquisition of Carilhon Energy Services
8 Reserves
Share Profrt
premium Merger Other and loss
account reserve reserve account Total
£m £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 2011 212 516 3 20 2889 828 4
Profit for the year - - - 113 2 M1M3 2
Share capital 1ssued on acquisition of Canllion Energy Services - 102 4 - - 102 4
Acquisition of own shares - - - {6 9) 69)
Equity-settled transactons (net of tax) - - 47 10 57
Dmmdends paid to shareholders - - - (64 6) {64 6)
At 31 December 2011 212 6187 67 3316 978 2

The profit and loss account reserve includes the reserve for the Company’s own shares which compnises of the cost of the Company’s shares held
by the Canllion Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the
Group’'s share incentive schemes The moverments in the reserve for own shares included within the profit and loss account reserve are as follows

201 2010

£fm £m

ALY January [UR)] o
Share options exercised by employees (exercise price) - 37
Proceeds from exercise of share options - 23
Share options exercised (transfer to retained earnings) 43 06
Acquisition of own shares 44 (5 6}
At 31 December {0 2) 01

A1 31 Decemnber 2011 the ESQP held 74 290 (2010 38,302) of the Company's shares and had a market value of £0 2 million {2010 £01 rrullion)

During the year the Company acquired 1 2 million of its own shares for £4 4 million to meet the plan s future commitments The ESOP has

elected to waive all dividends except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dividend 15 paid

In addition 1o the ESOP, the Company has also established a Quahfying Employee Share Ownership Trust (‘QUEST ) At 31 December 2011 the
total numnber of shares held by the QUEST amounted 1o 129979 (2010 129,979} and had a market value of £0 4 mihion (2010 £0 5 milhion)

The QUEST has elected to waive all dividends in excess of 0 81 pence per share

Buning the year the Company also acquired 0 7 million of its own shares for £2 5 million to facihtate an award under the Canlion Energy Services

Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
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Notes to the Company financial statements

continued

9 Reconcihation of movement in shareholders’ funds

2011 2010

£fm £m
Profit for the year 1132 886
New share capital issued 177 56
Equity-settled transactions (net of tax) 57 @n
Share options exercised by employees - 37
Acquisition of own shares {6 9) (5 6}
Dividends paid to shareholders (64 6) {59 1)
Net addition to shareholders’ funds 1651 291
Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 1,028 2 9991
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 1,193 3 1,028 2
10 Other guarantees and contingent habilities

2011 2010

£m fm
Guarantees in respect of borrowings of subsidiaries 03 28
Guarantees in respect of interest payments in Construction services (excluding the Middle East) jointly controlled entities 02 11
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks in relation to deferred equity payments in PPP special purpose entsies 100 9 770
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks in relation to performance on contracts for PPP customers 917 666
The Company has 1ssued performance guarantees In respect of Its subsidiaires joint ventures and joint arrangements in the normal course of
business
Guarantees and counter indemnities have, in the normal course of business, been given to financal mstitutions in respect of the provision of
performance and other contract related bonds and to certain defined benefit pension schemes in respect of deficit recovery payments The
Company considers such guarantees and counter indemnities to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such The Company treats

guarantees and counter indemnities of this nature as contingent labilities until such time as 1t becomes probable that the Company will be
required to make a payment under the terms of the arrangement

11 Pension arrangements

As the Carillion Staff and ‘B’ defined benefit schemes are run for the Carillion Group as a whole, the Company 1s unable to identsfy its share of
the schemes’ assets and habifities on a consistent and reasonable basis Hence, as permitted by FRS 17, the schemes are accounted for by the
Company separately as if the schemes were defined contribution schemes Detalls of the Group's pension schemes are disclosed in note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements

12 Share-based payments

The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to shares in the Company

Detalls of the Group's share option programme are disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and 1n the Remuneration
on page 52

13 Financial iInstruments

Report

Detalls of the Company's principal financial instruments are discussed under accounting policies The numerical financaial instrument disclosures

are set out below

Derwvative financial instruments

201 2010

Assets Liabihties Assets Liabihties

im £m fm fm

Forward foreign currency contracts and options - ©9) - (02

Foreign currency exposure

The carrying amount of the Company’s borrowing denominated in foreign currency 1s as follows 2011

2010

£m £m

Uruted States of America Dollars (16 3) {17 6)

Canadian Dollars (62 3) 417)

Urited Arab Emirates Dirhams (79) (79)

Other (18) an

(88 3) {68 3}

Of the total foreign currency borrowing of £88 3 million (2010 £68 3 million) the amaunt of borrowing used for hedging currency net assets of
overseas operations of the Group amounts to £86 4 million {2010 £65 4 milhion) The foreign exchange gain of £0 1 milken (2010 £3 8 million

loss) on translation of the berrowing into sterling has been recognised in the profit and loss account
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13 Finanaal mstruments (continued)

Farr values

Where there are differences between the carrying and fair values of the Company's principal finanaial instruments at 31 December 2011 these

are shown below

20m 2010
Canrying Carrying
value Fair value value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Finance lease obligations {(01) o 03 (03}
Maturity of financial habiities
The matunty profile of the Company's non-current borrowrng, which includes estimated future interest payments, 1s as follows
Bank Bank Finance Other
overdrafts loans leases loans Total
31 December 2011 £m £m fm £m £m
Between one and two years - 88 - a7 135
Between two and three years - 88 - 47 135
Between three and four years - 88 - 47 135
Between four and five years - 3907 - a7 3954
More than five years - - - 1160 116 0
More than one year - 4171 - 1348 5519
Less than one year 19 167 01 47 234
19 433 8 01 1395 5753
Bank Bank Finance Other
averdraits loans leases loans Total
31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Between one and two years - 1921 01 01 1923
Between two and three years - - - 04 04
Between three and four years - - - - -
Between four and five years - - - - -
More than five years - - - - -
More than one year - 1921 a1 05 1927
Less than one year 28 a9 02 01 130
28 2020 03 06 2057
Borrowing facilities
The Company had the following undrawn committed borrowing facility available at the year end n respect of which all condihons precedent
had been met
011 2010
fm £m
Expiring within one year 71 72
Expiring between one and two years - 4493
Expining between two and five years 3490 -
3561 456 5

14 Related party transactions

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 8 *Related party transactions’, the Company has taken the exemption to not disclose transactions

with other wholly owned subsidiaries within the Canllion Group
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Shareholder information

Dividends

Dividends are normally paid twice a year The proposed final dividend
In fespect of the year to 31 December 2011 will be payable on 15 June
2012 to those shareholders on the register on 18 May 2012

A dividend reinvestment plan {DRIP) will also be offered

For those shareholders who prefer not to participate in the DRIP,
arrangements can be made to pay your dividends automatically into
your bank or buillding society account This service has a number of
benefits

> there I1s no chance of the dividend chegue going missing in the post

> the dividend payment is received more quickly as the cash is paid
directly into your account on the payment date without the need to
wait for the cheque to clear and

> you will help Carnilion to improve its effictency by reducing printing
and cheque clearing costs

If you wish to register for this service please call Equiniti on the number
detalled below to request a dividend mandate form

Results
Half year to 30 June 2012 announced August 2012
Full year to 31 December 2012 announced February 2013

Shareholder Enquiries

Equiniti maintain the share register of the Company If you have any
quernes concerning your sharehelding or if any of your details change,
please contact Equiniti

Equiniti
Aspect House
Lancing

Waest Sussex
BNSZ 6DA

Telephone 0871 384 2522*
Textphone for shareholders with hearing difficulties 0871 384 2255
Non-UK callers should dial +44(0} 121 415 7047

Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Friday

* alls to this number cost eight pence per minute from a BT landline other providers
€Osts may vary

Warning to Shareholders - Boiler Room Scam

Cariflkon 1s aware that shareholders have received unsolicited telephone
calls from fraudulent organisations offering to buy Canllion plc shares
at a substantial premium to the prevailing market price These calls

are usually from overseas orgarwsations targeting UK sharehalders
These operations are commanly known as ‘boiler room scams’ and

the 'brokers’ who call shareholders can be extremely persuasive

and persustent

Bailer room scams usually come out of the blue with most fraudsters
cold-calling investors after taking their details from publicly available
shareholder hsts but the high-pressure sales tactics can also come

by other means such as email or post The scam 15 designed to sound
attractve, but typically at some point In the process the perpetrator
usually asks for money in advance of concuding the main transaction,
for example by way of a pre-payment or vendor bond The transaction
1s never concluded, and the shareholder loses the money

Share Dealing Service

Canllion offers its UK shareholders Shareview Dealing, a telephone
and internet share dealing service operated by Equinits For telephone
purchases and sales call 0845 603 7037 between 8 30am and 4 30pm,
Monday to Friday, or log on to www shareview co uk/dealing For the
sale of shares, you will need your shareholder reference number as
shown on your share certificate

Multiple Accounts on the Shareholder Register

If you have recewved two or more sets of the documents concerning
the Annual General Meeting this means that there 1s more than
one account in your name on the shareholder reqister, perhaps
because either your name or your address appear on each account
in a slightly different way For security reasons Equinitr will not
amalgamate the accounts without your written consent, soif you
would like any multiple accounts combined into one account
please write to Equiniti at the address given on page 111

Shareview (Electronic Communications)

www shareview co uk Is a service offered by Equiniti that enables
you to check your holdings in many UK compantes and helps you to
organise your investments electromcally You can also notify Equiniti
of a change of address or a change to dividend mandate instructions
You can register for this portfolio service which 15 easy to use secure
and free as long as you have access 1o the internet by logging on 1o
www shareview co uk and following a simple registration process

Electronic Proxy Appomntments

For the AGM 10 be held on 2 May 2012, you may, if you wish register
the appointment of a proxy electronically by logging on to the website
www sharevote co uk

You will need your voting reference numbers (the three 8-digit
numbers shown on your form of proxy) Alternatively, if you have
registered for a Shareview portfalio, log on to your portfolio at
www shareview co uk and click on the ink 'vote’ under your
Canllion plc details, then follow the on-screen directions

Please note that any electronic communication that 15 found to
contain a computer virus will not be accepted

ShareGift

ShareGift 15 a charity share donation scheme for shareholders,
administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation H 1s especially for
those who may wish to dispose of a small parcel of shares whose
value makes 1t uneconomic to sell on a commission basts Further
information can be obtained at www sharegift org or from Equini

If you recewve an unsohcited investment approach you should

> confirm the correct names of the person calling and the
organisation they represent,

> check that they are an authorised firm with the Financial Services
Autherity (FSA) by calling 0845 606 1234 or by wisiting www fsa
gov uk/register/ and contact the firm using the details on the
register,

> report the matter to the FSA by calling 0845 606 1234 or by visiting
www fsa gov uk/pages/consumennformation

> If the calls persist, hang up

Please be aware that fraudsters will often use the name of a legitimate
organisation or organisations, sometimes In combination with others
so that the organisation may sound famihar to you They may have
also ¢reated a scam website, so simply checking that an organisation
appears to have a presence on the web s not a guarantee that you
are dealing with a legitimate organisation

If you deal wath an unauthonsed firm, you will not be eligible to
receive payment under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme
Further information on this or similar activity can be found on the
FSA website www moneymade clear fsa gov uk
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Five Year Review

014 2000 009" 2008" 2007

Group Income statement £m Em £m £m £m
Total revenue 5,051 2 51390 56293 5,457 2 4,1629
Analysed between
Support services 2,345 2 21086 23895 2,463 5 1,793 6
Public Private Partnershup projects 3098 3119 4184 4298 3653
Muiddle East construction services 548 9 493 0 5536 464 2 3370
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 18473 2,2255 2,267 8 2,0997 16670
Underlying Group and Joint Ventures operating profit

before intangible amortisation, iImpairment of goodwill

and other investments, non-recurring operating items

and jointly controlled entities’ net financial {expense)/

income and taxation 238 2 2135 2158 1949 120 8
Analysed between
Support services 1208 1104 177 {135 739
Public Private Partnerstup projects 199 234 307 3086 261
Middle East construction services 491 475 470 3458 254
Construction serwices (excluding the Middle East) 579 412 309 287 160
Group ehminations and unallocated items (9 5) 90) {(105) 12 4) (20 6)
Share of jontly controlled entities’ net financial expense {18 8) {13 9) {21 8) (147) (120
Share of jontly controlled entities” taxation {35 47 (39) m9 (8 6)
Underlying operating profit before intangible amortisation,

impairment of goodwill and other investments,

and non-recurring operating items 2159 194 9 1901 168 3 1002
Group net finanaal (expense}income (39 (6 8) (14 6) an 06
Underlying profit before tax 2120 1881 1755 160 6 100 8
Intangible amortisation and imparment of goodwill and other investments {310) (27 6) (30 8) (54 5) {215)
Non-recurrnng operating items (42 8) (9 4) {15 2) (227) (14 2)
Non-operatng rterms 16 16 8 64 349 28 3
Profit before taxation 1428 1679 1359 ng3 934
Taxation {4 8) f1s1) {11 5) @1 (83
Profit from continuing operations 1380 1528 124 4 142 851
Discontinued operations - - - - (76)
Analysed between
Trading loss from discontinued operations - - - - a4
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - - - (6 2)
Profit for the year 1380 1528 124 4 142 775
Group financial statistics
Underlying operating profit margin
Support services Percentage 52 52 49 46 41
Middle East construction services Percentage 89 56 85 74 75
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) Percentage 31 19 14 14 10
Underlying operating profit margin
Total Group before share of jointly controlled entities’

net finanaal (expense)/income and taxation Percentage 47 42 38 36 29
Underlying profit from operations margin
Total Group Percentage 43 38 34 31 24




Five Year Review

continued
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Group balance sheet £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 1342 1572 168 2 1672 1315
Intangible assets 1.547 6 12212 12413 12769 5558
Investments 2109 176 7 1720 2428 1888
1,892 7 15551 15815 16869 8761
Inventories, recervables and payables (607.4) (613 8) {608 0} (490 4} (286 5)
Net retirement benefit liabitity {net of deferred tax) {229 3) (182 1) 211 1) (76 2 (29 4)
Other net habiliues {22 8) (14 2) (13 2y (21 8) 251
Net operating assets 1,033 2 7450 747 2 10985 5351
Net (borrowmng)/cash {507) 120 2 249 226 7) 44 9)
Net assets 982 5 865 2 7721 8718 490 2
Group cash flow statement
Underlying Group operating profit 167 2 148 9 1309 1201 644
Depreciation and other non-cash items 321 320 388 192 159
Working capital (8 6) 12 599 340 317
Dividends received from joint ventures 396 481 386 250 237
Underlying cash flow from operations 2303 2302 268 2 198 3 1357
Defiat pension contributions {36 2) (36 2) (290) {50 5) {46 3)
Rationalisation costs (34 4) (15 6) a7y (32 4) {6 5)
Interest, tax and dividends 771) {65 9) (63 2) (62 2) (30 4)
Net capital income/(expenditure} 46 (15 3) 473 (26 4) 44
Acquisitions and disposals {251 4) 27 1427 2270) 96
Other {including discontinued operations) 67) (5 6) 27) 184 (34)
Change in net hquidity {170 9) 953 2516 (181 8) 631
Net cash/{borrowing) at 1 January 120 2 249 (226 7) {44 9) (108 Q)
Net (borrowing)/cash at 31 December (507) 120 2 249 (226 7) {44 9)
Group finanaal statistics
Earnings per share
Underlying earnings per share - continuing operations Pence 430 394 373 351 285
Underlying earmings per share — conttinuing and discontiued operations Pence 430 394 373 351 258
Basic earmings per share — continuing and discontinued operations Pence 320 369 305 290 267
Dividends
Proposed full year dwidend per share Pence 169 156 146 130 110
Underlying proposed dividend cover - continuing operations Times 25 25 256 27 26
Basic proposed dwidend cover — continuing and discontinued operations Times 19 24 21 22 24

(1} Prior year informatan was restated in 2010 following the adeption of International financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRICY 12 Service concession arrangerments on 1 January 2010
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